
 

 
AGENDA 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
5000 CLARK AVENUE 

LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA 
 

April 28, 2020 

 
Pursuant to Governor Newsom’s Executive Order No. N-29-20, members of the City Council of the City of 
Lakewood or staff may participate in this meeting via teleconference.  While maintaining appropriate social 
distancing, members of the public may participate in person at 5000 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, California.  Public 
comments and questions pertaining to any item on the agenda will be accepted via email at 
cityclerk@lakewoodcity.org up to 4:30 p.m. on the day of the meeting.  We ask that you please indicate the specific 
item on which you wish to be heard or whether your comments will be under oral communications. 

 
ADJOURNED MEETING: 5:00 p.m. 
APPEAL OF DECISION OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
COMMISSION REGARDING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 996 AND JOINT USE PARKING 
AGREEMENT NO. 2020-1, 6759 CARSON STREET, RESOLUTION NO. 2020-12 - Staff recommends 
City Council hold a public hearing, consider actions pertaining to CUP No. 996 and JUPA No. 2020-1 
and adopt proposed resolution. 
 

CLOSED SESSION PAN AMERICAN ROOM 
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS – Pursuant to Government Code §54957.6 
Agency Designated Representative:  City Manager, Office of the City Attorney and Liebert Cassidy 
Whitmore, Director of Finance and Administrative Services, Deputy City Manager, Human Resources 
Manager, Personnel Technician 
Employee Organization:  Lakewood City Employees’ Association 
 

CALL TO ORDER 7:30 p.m. 
 

INVOCATION:        
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:        
 

ROLL CALL: Mayor Todd Rogers 
 Vice Mayor Jeff Wood 
 Council Member Steve Croft 
 Council Member Diane DuBois 
 Council Member Ariel Pe 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS: 
Presentation by Captain David Sprengel, Lakewood Sheriff’s Station, Regarding Quarterly Public Safety 
Report 
 

ROUTINE ITEMS: 
All items listed within this section of the agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
without separate discussion.  Any Member of Council may request an item be removed for individual discussion or 
further explanation.  All items removed shall be considered immediately following action on the remaining items. 
 

RI-1 MEETING MINUTES - Staff recommends City Council approve Minutes of the Meeting held 
January 14, 2020 

 

RI-2 PERSONNEL TRANSACTIONS - Staff recommends City Council approve report of personnel 
transactions. 



City Council Agenda 
April 28, 2020 
Page 2 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you are a qualified individual with a disability and need an 
accommodation to participate in the City Council meeting, please contact the City Clerk’s Office, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, 

CA, at 562/866-9771, ext. 2200; or at cityclerk@lakewoodcity.org at least 48 hours in advance to ensure that reasonable 
arrangements can be made to provide accessibility to the meeting. 

 
Agenda items are on file in the Office of the City Clerk, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, and are available for public review 

during regular business hours.  Any supplemental material distributed after the posting of the agenda will be made available for 
public inspection during normal business hours in the City Clerk’s Office.  For your convenience, the agenda and the supporting 

documents are available in an alternate format by request and are also posted on the City’s website at www.lakewoodcity.org 

ROUTINE ITEMS: - Continued 
RI-3 REGISTERS OF DEMANDS - Staff recommends City Council approve registers of demands. 
 

RI-4 MONTHLY REPORT OF INVESTMENT TRANSACTIONS - MARCH 2020 - Staff recommends 
City Council receive and file the Monthly Report of Investment Transactions rendered for the 
month of March 2020. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
1.1 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) PROGRAM FISCAL YEAR 

2020-2024 FIVE-YEAR CONSOLIDATED PLAN, ACTION PLAN AND ANALYSIS OF 
IMPEDIMENTS TO FAIR HOUSING CHOICE – Staff recommends City conduct a public hearing 
for citizen input for the proposed Fiscal Year 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan, Fiscal Year 2020-2021 
Action Plan, and the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice; and following the public 
hearing, approve the Fiscal Year 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan, Fiscal Year 2020-2021 Action Plan, 
and the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice and authorize the City Manager to direct 
staff to submit to HUD the approved Plans along with the required CDBG certifications, no later 
than May 14, 2020. 

 

1.2 CORONAVIRUS AID, RELIEF AND ECONOMIC RECOVERY ACT (CARES ACT) 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT ACTION PLAN FISCAL YEAR 2019-2020 
SUBSTANTIAL AMENDMENT (CDBG-CV) AND AMENDED CITIZEN PARTICIPATION 
PLAN - Staff recommends City Council conduct a public hearing to receive comments on the 
proposed Action Plan Substantial Amendment and following the public hearing, approve the 
FY 2019-2020 Action Plan Substantial Amendment, and authorize the City Manager to direct staff 
to submit to HUD the approved Action Plan Substantial Amendment and Amended Citizen 
Participation Plan along with the required CDBG certifications 

 

LEGISLATION: 
2.1 RESOLUTION NO. 2020-13; APPROVING APPOINTMENTS TO CITY COMMISSIONS - Staff 

recommends City Council adopt proposed resolution. 
 

REPORTS: 
3.1 APPOINTMENTS TO GOVERNMENTAL ASSOCIATIONS, ORGANIZATIONS & 

COMMITTEES - Mayor recommends City Council approve appointments. 
 

3.2 QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT OF MAJOR FUNDS AS OF  MARCH 31, 2020 - Staff 
recommends City Council receive and file report. 

 

3.3 QUARTERLY SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS - MARCH 31, 2020 - Staff recommends City 
Council receive and file report. 

 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 



































































































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 RI-1 

 Routine Item 1 – City Council Minutes 
 
 will be available prior to the meeting. 



























 











 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 

2020-2024 CONSOLIDATED PLAN 

 

 
CDBG Grantee Number B-20-MC-06-0521 

DUNS Number: 076943638 

 

 

 

 

April 28, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 

5050 N. CLARK AVENUE 

LAKEWOOD, CA 90712 



 

 

 

City of Lakewood 
Consolidated Plan 2020-2024 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. ES-05 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  1 
 

II. THE PROCESS  4 
PR-05 Lead and Responsible  4 
PR-10 Consultation  5 
PR-15 Citizen Participation  11 

 

III. NEEDS ASSESSMENT  12 
NA-05 Overview  12 
NA-10 Housing Needs Assessment  13 
NA-15 Disproportionately Greater Need: Housing Problems  19 
NA-20 Disproportionately Greater Need: Severe Housing Problems  22 
NA-25 Disproportionately Greater Need: Housing Cost Burden  25 
NA-30 Disproportionately Greater Need: Discussion  27 
NA-35 Public Housing  32 
NA-40 Homeless Needs Assessment  36 
NA-45 Non-Homeless Needs Assessment  38 
NA-50 Non-Housing Community Development Needs  39 

 

IV. HOUSING MARKET ANALYSIS  42 
MA-05 Overview  42 
MA-10 Number of Housing Units  43 
MA-15 Cost of Housing  46 
MA-20 Condition of Housing  49 
MA-25 Public and Assisted Housing  52 
MA-30 Homeless Facilities and Services  54 
MA-35 Special Needs Facilities and Services  57 
MA-40 Barriers to Affordable Housing  60 
MA-45 Non-Housing Community Needs Assets  61 
MA-50 Needs and Market Analysis Discussion  69 

 

V. STRATEGIC PLAN  71 

SP-05 Overview  71 
SP-10 Geographic Priorities  72 
SP-25 Priority Needs  86 
SP-30 Influence of Market Conditions  90 
SP-35 Anticipated Resources  91 
SP-40 Institutional Delivery Structure  93 
SP-45 Goals Summary 97 



 

 

 

SP-50 Public Housing Accessibility and Involvement  100 
SP-55 Barriers to Affordable Housing  101 
SP-60 Homeless Strategy  103 
SP-65 Lead Based Paint Hazards  105 
SP-70 Anti-Poverty Strategy  106 
SP-80 Monitoring  107 

 

VI. ANNUAL ACTION PLAN   109 
AP-15 Expected Resources  109 
AP-20 Annual Goals and Objectives  111 
AP-35 Priority Needs  113 
AP-38 Influence of Market Conditions  115 
AP-50 Geographic Distribution  119 
AP-55 Affordable Housing  122 
AP-60 Public Housing  124 
AP-65 Homeless and Other Special Needs Activities  125 
AP-75 Barriers to Affordable Housing y  128 
AP-85 Other Actions  130 
AP-90 Program Specific Requirements  133 

 

VII. APPENDIX   134 
Assurances  135 
Application for Federal Assistance  136 
Certifications  137 
HUD Listing of Proposed Projects 138 
Citizen Participation Plan 139 
Public Notices  140 

  



 

 

 

 

List of Tables 

Table 1 Responsible Agencies  4 
Table 2 Agencies, Groups, Organizations who Participated  8 
Table 3 Other Local/Regional/Federal Planning Efforts  10 
Table 4 Citizen Participation Outreach  11 
Table 5 Housing Needs Assessment Demographics  13 
Table 6 Total Households  13 
Table 7 Housing Problems 1  14 
Table 8 Housing Problems 2  15 
Table 9 Cost Burden > 30%  15 
Table 10 Cost Burden > 50%  16 
Table 11 Over Crowding Information 1/2  16 
Table 12 Over Crowding Information 2/2  16 
Table 13 Disproportionately Greater Need 0-30% AMI  19 
Table 14 Disproportionately Greater Need 30-50% AMI  20 
Table 15 Disproportionately Greater Need 50-80% AMI  20 
Table 16 Disproportionately Greater Need 80-100% AMI  21 
Table 17 Sever Housing Problems 0-30% AMI   22 
Table 18 Sever Housing Problems 30-50% AMI  23 
Table 19 Sever Housing Problems 50-80% AMI  23 
Table 20 Sever Housing Problems 80-100% AMI  24 
Table 21 Greater Need: Housing Cost Burden AMI  25 
Table 22 Public Housing Type by Program Type  32 
Table 23 Characteristics of Public Housing Residents by Program Type  33 
Table 24 Race of Public Housing Residents by Program Type  34 
Table 25 Ethnicity of Public Housing Residents by Program Type  34 
Table 26 Homeless Needs Assessment  36 
Table 27 Nature and Extent of Homelessness  37 
Table 28 Residential Properties by Unit Number  43 
Table 29 Unit Size by Tenure  43 
Table 30 Cost of Housing  46 
Table 31 Rent Paid  46 
Table 32 Housing Affordability  46 
Table 33 Monthly Rent  47 
Table 34 Condition of Units  49 
Table 35 Year Unit Built  50 
Table 36 Risk of Lead Based Paint  50 
Table 37 Vacant Units  50 
Table 38 Total Number of Units by Program Type  52 
Table 39 Public Housing Condition  53 
Table 40 Facilities and Housing Targeted to Homeless Households  54 
Table 41 Business Activity  62 
Table 42 Labor Force  63 
Table 43 Occupations by Sector  63 
Table 44 Travel Time  63 
Table 45 Education Attainment by Employment Status  64 



 

 

 

Table 46 Education Attainment by Age  64 
Table 47 Median Earnings in the Past 12 Months  64 
Table 48 Geographic Priority Areas  72 
Table 49 Priority Needs Summary  86 
Table 50 Influence of Market Conditions  90 
Table 51 Anticipated Resources  91 
Table 52 Institutional Delivery Structure  93 
Table 53 Homeless Prevention Services Summary  94 
Table 54 Goals Summary  97 
Table 55 Strategic Plan Goals Description  98 
Table 56 Expected Resources  109 
Table 57 Action Plan Goals Summary  111 
Table 58 Action Plan Goals Description  112 
Table 59 Project Information  113 
Table 60 Project Summary Information  115 
Table 61 Geographic Distribution  119 
Table 62 One Year Goals for Affordable Housing by Support Requirement  122 
Table 63 One Year Goals for Affordable Housing by Support Type  122 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  1 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Executive Summary  
 

ES-05 Executive Summary - 24 CFR 91.200(c), 91.220(b) 
 

1. Introduction 
 
The 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan for the City of Lakewood satisfies the statutory Department of Housing 
and Urban Development (HUD) requirements for the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 
Program.  Under federal regulations and program guidelines established by HUD, the reporting 
requirements for this program must be combined into one consolidated submission.  The process reduces 
the burden of administering housing and community development programs and strengthens 
partnerships among all levels of government and the private sector to better enable the City to provide 
decent housing, establish and maintain a suitable living environment, and expand economic opportunities 
for all Americans, particularly those that are low and moderate-income.  
 
The Strategic Plan and Action Plan contained within the City of Lakewood 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan 
(Consolidated Plan) are provided to establish a specific course of action for Lakewood’s revitalization of 
community development.  To this end, residents and other members of the community, neighboring 
jurisdictions, Los Angeles County and other stakeholders play a vital role in meeting the needs and goals 
of the City and in shaping Lakewood’s future. 
 

2. Summary of the objectives and outcomes identified in the Plan Needs Assessment 
Overview 
 
The City of Lakewood has prepared a strategy for addressing the housing and community development 
needs described in the Consolidated Plan during the next five years. By law, the strategy must be designed 
to achieve the following, principally for low and moderate-income households: 

• Provide decent housing; 

• Promote a suitable living environment; and 

• Expand economic opportunities. 
 

The plan also addresses: 

• Elimination of slums and blight. 

• Elimination of conditions which are detrimental to health, safety, and public welfare. 

• Conservation and expansion of housing stock. 

• Expansion and improvement of the quantity and quality of community services. 

• Better utilization of land and other natural resources. 

• Reduction of the isolation of income groups within communities/geographical areas. 

• Alleviation of physically and economically distressed areas. 
 

For more details regarding the specific listed objectives and outcome identified in this Plan, please see 
Section III: Housing and Community Development Strategic Plan.  This section discusses the goals, policies, 
and quantified objectives of the community as listed in the City's Housing Element as well as other 
Lakewood Planning and policy documents. 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  2 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 
 

3. Evaluation of past performance 
 
Lakewood, in partnership with non-profit organizations continues to monitor and evaluate the 
performance of the City’s CDBG Programs to ensure regulatory compliance.  The following list identifies 
some of the accomplishments realized during FY 2015-2019 (five year period covered by the previous 
Consolidated Plan): 
 

• During the Fiscal Years 2015-2019 Five-Year Consolidated Plan a total of 47 Single-Family 
Rehabilitation Loans and 26 Fix-Up, Paint-Up Grants were processed to assist Lakewood’s low 
income residents improve their homes. 

• During Fiscal Years 2015-2019 over 1,200 residents were provided community services including 
congregate and delivered meals through Human Services Association and Meals on Wheels; 
counseling for abused and neglected children through Community Family Guidance; and 
Pathways Volunteer Hospice provided non-medical care and assistance to those facing end of life 
conditions. 

• During Fiscal Years 2015-2019 over 2,000 code enforcement cases were processed. 

• During Fiscal Years 2015-2019 Lakewood’s Fair Housing Consultant assisted over 1,200 persons 
experiencing fair housing issues. 

• Lakewood’s assistance to Continuum of Care during Fiscal Years 2015-2019 consisted of serving 
over 230 persons experiencing homelessness.  Services include case management, substance 
abuse counseling, mental health services, medical services, mainstream benefits, emergency 
shelter, and permanent housing. 

• The Burns Community Center improvements were completed during Fiscal Year 2015-2019.  The 
Burns Community Center received necessary upgrades to provide a safe and modernized ADA 
compliant building.  The improvements included the replacement of a non ADA compliant 
elevator with a compliant elevator, replacement of damaged brick pavers, expansion of the 
assembly room, expansion of the kitchen utilized by Meals on Wheels, upgrade restrooms to be 
ADA compliant, add exterior door at exterior stairwell, install an automatic sliding door at 
entrance, modify window system on second floor, remove built up grade against building, 
construct a retaining wall, and remove existing siding on building. 

 
The Lakewood Consolidated Plan embodies the City’s current Housing Element.  Much of the background 
data, housing issues, goals, objectives, policies and programs of the Consolidated Plan are consistent with 
the Housing Element, which was last updated on August 13, 2013.  The 2010 US Census and updated data 
from the 2011-2015 and 2013-2017 American Community Survey (ACS) were also used to accurately 
reflect current demographics and market and inventory conditions.  Based upon the Housing Element's 
goals and objectives, they are then carried forward into the Consolidated Plan as well as the Annual Action 
Plan for implementation. 
 
At the end of every fiscal year, the City submits its Consolidated Annual Performance Evaluation Report 
(CAPER) which provides a clear picture of the past year's performance based upon the set goals and 
objectives. Historically, the City has scored satisfactorily in meeting all of the required and proposed goals 
and projects. 
  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  3 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

4. Summary of citizen participation process and consultation process 
 
Citizen participation in the development, implementation and review of the Consolidated Plan is key to 
the CDBG process. The City has developed a detailed Citizen Participation Plan, which encourages and 
solicits the participation of its residents and emphasizes the involvement of low to moderate income 
persons, particularly where housing and community development funds are spent. 
 
The City provides citizens with advance notice of all related materials available for public review as soon 
as the notice is published. The citizen participation process includes a 30-day public review period of the 
Consolidated Plan to obtain citizen input on the projects or strategy proposed. In addition, citizens are 
invited to attend public hearings regarding the Consolidated Plan. Notices of all Consolidated Plan 
hearings are published in the local newspaper at least 14 days prior to the hearing date. Citizen comments 
received will be included in the final draft of the Consolidated Plan document. 
 
In accordance with the Lakewood Participation Plan, the following hearings were conducted for the 
development of the 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan: 
 

• Public Hearing #1: March 5, 2020 

• Public Hearing #2: April 28, 2020 

• 30-Day Public Review Period: March 5, 2015 – April 28, 2020 
 

5. Summary of public comments 
 
The City has not received any public comments at this time. 
 

6. Summary of comments or views not accepted and the reasons for not accepting them 
 
The City has not rejected any public comments or view presented. 
 

7. Summary 
 
See above comments. 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  4 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

The Process 
 

PR-05 Lead & Responsible Agencies 24 CFR 91.200(b) 
 

1. Describe agency/entity responsible for preparing the Consolidated Plan and those 
responsible for administration of each grant program and funding source 
 
The following are the agencies/entities responsible for preparing the Consolidated Plan and those 
responsible for administration of each grant program and funding source. 
 

Agency Role Name Department/Agency 
CDBG Administrator Lakewood Community Development 

Department 
Table 1 – Responsible Agencies 

 
Narrative 
 
The City of Lakewood, Community Development Department, is the lead agency responsible for 
overseeing the development of the Consolidated Plan and the significant impacts of the process by which 
the Plan has been developed, including but not limited to, the citizen participation process and the needs 
analysis. 
 
The Community Development Department is also responsible for the ongoing administration of CDBG and 
housing programs covered by the Consolidated Plan.  This includes public information, monitoring 
activities under the Action Plan, financial administration, annual performance reports and amendments 
to the Action Plan and Consolidated Plan. 
 
As the lead agency responsible for the Consolidated Plan, the Community Development Department 
monitors the progress of all housing community development objectives.  The Community Development 
Department coordinates with the Housing Authority of the County of Los Angeles, in the administration 
of various housing projects.  In addition, the Community Development Department coordinates with 
regional groups including the County of Los Angeles on various Community Development and housing 
services. 
 

Consolidated Plan Public Contact Information 
Abel Avalos 
Director of Community Development Department 
City of Lakewood, Ca 90712 
562-866-9771, extension 2301 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  5 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

PR-10 Consultation - 91.100, 91.200(b), 91.215(l)  

1. Introduction 

The Consolidated Plan was prepared by the Lakewood Community Development Department 
(Department). In preparing the Plan, input was sought from a variety of public agencies and non-profit 
and for-profit housing groups to determine the housing needs for the community. The Department 
facilitated consultation with, and participation of, public and private social and homeless services agencies 
as well as citizens concerned with these services. 

Provide a concise summary of the jurisdiction’s activities to enhance coordination between 
public and assisted housing providers and private and governmental health, mental health and 
service agencies (91.215(I)). 

The City is located within Service Planning Area (SPA) 7, a division within Los Angeles County designated 
by Los Angeles Homeless Service Authority (LAHSA) to target the specific needs of the homeless in the 
community.  City staff attends monthly SPA meetings to address homeless issues through the Continuum 
of Care (CoC) Model. The City, along with LAHSA conducts an annual homeless count.  In January 2020, an 
estimated 85 persons experiencing homelessness were counted within the City of Lakewood.  The official 
numbers have not yet been released by LAHSA. 

Services are provided to people experiencing homelessness in Lakewood by People Assisting the Homeless 
(PATH).  Services begin with outreach and continue up to one year after a person is permanently housed.  
An outreach worker (Lakewood Sheriff) and case manager provide services in Lakewood.  Activities in the 
outreach phase are focused on decreasing the barriers to housing and include: 

• Providing Basic Needs such as: clothing, hygiene products and showers and transportation. 

• Assistance obtaining documents necessary for housing i.e. social security card, picture 
identification, DD214, proof of income, disability verification etc. 

• Emergency and temporary housing via SPA 7 facilities and motel placements. 

• Liaison and referral to subsidy providers that include: Los Angeles Homeless Services Authority, 
Veteran’s Administration, Department of Mental Health and non-profit providers like PATH 
Ventures. 

• Access to medical and mental health, substance addiction treatment services, and primary care 
home establishment i.e. Department of Mental Health, Veterans Administration, and federally 
qualified health centers located in the SPA. 

• Benefit establishment assistance for General Relief, Social Security programs, Temporary 
Assistance to Needy Families, and Veteran’s Administration. 

• Referral to employment and education services i.e. Goodwill Industries and local centers of the 
Workforce Investment Board. 

• Housing location and re-location and rapid re-housing assistance. 

Once a person is permanently housed, retention services can continue up to year and include:  

• Household set up assistance 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  6 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

• Case management, including prevention assistance to maintain housing 

• Home visits 

• Linkage to mainstream support services 

The City of Lakewood addresses the service needs of residents by providing services, collaborating with 
other agencies and networking with those who deliver services in the community.  City staff coordinates 
a Lakewood Human Services Agency meeting inviting community service organizations to meet and 
exchange ideas and information.  Agencies that are invited to attend include Community Family Guidance 
Center; Homeless Outreach staff from the City of Long Beach Multi-Service Center; PATH; Pathways 
Volunteer Hospice; Su Casa Family Crisis and Support Center; Human Services Association; Long Beach 
Non-Profit Partnership; Retired Senior Volunteer Program (RSVP); Lakewood Meals on Wheels; and Wise 
and Healthy Aging Ombudsman. This round-table meeting provides the opportunity for service providers 
to give information on new programs and/or concerns. The meeting location rotates so that attendees 
have an opportunity to visit the location of other non-profit agencies in the community. 

Many households need affordable housing located near schools, day care centers, and recreation 
facilities. Many households find this a severe constraint, particularly for a single parent who is unable to 
work. As a result of not working, parents cannot provide for basic necessities for their children. The City 
coordinates with Su Casa Family Crisis and Support Center that provides a 24-hour hotline, emergency 
shelter, counseling, and assistance with restraining orders.  

The City of Lakewood has addressed the needs of the elderly through senior housing projects and referrals 
to Housing Authority of the County of Los Angeles (HACOLA).  Currently, federal housing assistance is 
provided through Section 8.  Eligible seniors pay no more than 30% of their income for rent with the 
remainder paid by HUD.  

Support services provided to the elderly in Lakewood include DASH Transportation, and Dial-A-Ride.  In 
addition, the Recreation and Community Services Department and the Weingart Senior Center provide a 
number of services such as nutrition programs, case management, and other services.  

The City of Lakewood coordinates with Pathways Volunteer Hospice to provide in-home volunteer care to 
isolated seniors.  Pathways joined forces with local congregations and agencies to develop a coalition 
designed to meet the needs of Lakewood’s aging population.  The goal is to identify older populations in 
Lakewood that can benefit from a Caregiver’s Program. Services include respite care, 
companionship/socialization, billing assistance, shopping errands, handyman services, transportation 
assistance, light housekeeping and meal preparation. 

Other agencies that the City coordinates with are Human Services Association, Meals on Wheels and 
Community Family Guidance.  Human Service Association serves congregate meals to seniors at Weingart 
Senior Center in Lakewood while Meals on Wheels delivers meals to residents at home.  Community 
Family Guidance is a non-profit health agency that provides counseling to children. 

The City offers the Single-Family Residential Rehabilitation Loan and Fix-Up, Paint-Up Grant Programs for 
extremely low and low income (0 to 80% Median Family Income (MFI)) families of owner occupied single-
family homes.  The loans are $18,000 for home improvements, are deferred payment and zero interest, 
the grants are $3,000 and pay for exterior painting and minor repairs.  Many of Lakewood’s senior citizens 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  7 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

benefit from this program. Additionally, the City provides landlord/tenant information and assistance 
through contract with Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. 

Describe coordination with the Continuum of Care and efforts to address the needs of 
homeless persons (particularly chronically homeless individuals and families, families with 
children, veterans, and unaccompanied youth) and persons at risk of homelessness 

The Continuum of Care system for Lakewood is a partnership of local government entities, community 
based organizations, health care providers, and the private sector.  LAHSA is the umbrella organization for 
the Continuum of Care System in Los Angeles County.  LAHSA is an independent unit of local government 
created in 1993 by the City and County of Los Angeles to address the problems of homelessness on a 
regional basis.  LAHSA’s mission is to support, create and sustain solutions to homelessness by providing 
leadership, advocacy, planning and management of program funding.  LAHSA works toward the 
development of a system that nurtures and strengthens the services available for homeless persons. 
Ultimately, the goal of LAHSA is to give homeless persons an opportunity to become self-sufficient 
members of the community.  

The Los Angeles Continuum of Care (LACoC) includes all areas of the County except for the cities of Long 
Beach, Glendale, and Pasadena. To ensure local control and planning, LAHSA has divided the County into 
eight geographic areas designated as Service Planning Areas (SPAs). Each Service Planning Area is 
expected to have a balance of homeless services. LAHSA helps coordinate efforts among agencies, 
businesses, community leaders, government agencies, and elected officials to determine priority needs 
and services from an individual, regional, and countywide basis.  

LAHSA’s 2017 Los Angeles CoC Housing Inventory Count includes a total of 79,563 county wide beds 
available within emergency shelters, transitional housing, safe havens, rapid re-housing, permanent 
supportive housing and other forms of permanent housing. SPA 7 has a total of 2,236 beds available. 

The City coordinates with Su Casa Family Crisis and Support Center, a private non-profit organization in 
the City which operates a CoC Program.  Su Casa provides both short-term emergency housing and 
transitional housing in two different locations within the City.  The City has secured the transitional shelter 
with affordable housing covenants, which run through December 2025. 

Burns Community Center staff will also provide information and referrals to social service agencies, 
emergency food, assistance for transportation and use of the telephone to approximately 15 homeless 
individuals and families when specific needs arise as part of the CoC Model.  

Describe consultation with the Continuum(s) of Care that serves the jurisdiction's area in 
determining how to allocate ESG funds, develop performance standards and evaluate 
outcomes, and develop funding, policies and procedures for the administration of HMIS 

Emergency Solutions Grants (ESG) are grants offered through HUD. The City does not receive ESG funds 
for the operation and administration of Homeless Management Information Systems (HMIS). 

  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  8 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

2. Describe Agencies, groups, organizations and others who participated in the process 
and describe the jurisdictions consultations with housing, social service agencies and other 
entities 

Table 2 – Agencies, groups, organizations who participated 

1 Agency/Group/Organization Los Angeles Homeless Services Authority 

Agency/Group/Organization Type Services-homeless 

What section of the Plan was addressed by 
Consultation? 

Homeless Needs - Chronically homeless 
Homeless Needs - Families with children 
Homelessness Needs - Veterans 
Homelessness Needs - Unaccompanied youth 
Homelessness Strategy 

Briefly describe how the 
Agency/Group/Organization was consulted. 
What are the anticipated outcomes of the 
consultation or areas for improved 
coordination? 

City of Lakewood staff attends monthly LAHSA 
meetings to discuss strategies to assist the 
homeless population.  The anticipated outcomes 
of the consultation are to devise a strategy to end 
homelessness. 

2 Agency/Group/Organization Community Family Guidance Center 

Agency/Group/Organization Type Services-Children 

What section of the Plan was addressed by 
Consultation? 

Non-Homeless Special Needs 

Briefly describe how the 
Agency/Group/Organization was consulted. 
What are the anticipated outcomes of the 
consultation or areas for improved 
coordination? 

Community Family Guidance Center was 
provided an application that requested extensive 
information regarding its operation. The 
anticipated outcome of the consultation is a total 
of 90 Lakewood residents will receive services by 
Community Family Guidance Center. 

3 Agency/Group/Organization Pathways Volunteer Hospice 

Agency/Group/Organization Type Services-Elderly Persons 
Services-Persons with Disabilities 

What section of the Plan was addressed by 

Consultation? 

Non-Homeless Special Needs 

 Briefly describe how the 
Agency/Group/Organization was consulted. 
What are the anticipated outcomes of the 
consultation or areas for improved 
coordination? 

Pathways Volunteer Hospice was provided an 
application that requested extensive information 
regarding its operation.  The anticipated outcome 
of the consultation is a total of 30 Lakewood 
residents will be served by Pathways Volunteer 
Hospice. 

4 

 

Agency/Group/Organization Human Services Association 

Agency/Group/Organization Type Services-Elderly Persons 
Services-Persons with Disabilities 

What section of the Plan was addressed by 

Consultation? 

Non-Homeless Special Needs 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  9 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 Briefly describe how the 
Agency/Group/Organization was consulted. 
What are the anticipated outcomes of the 
consultation or areas for improved 
coordination? 

Human Services Association was provided an 
application that requested extensive information 
regarding its operation.  The anticipated outcome 
of the consultation is a total of 75 Lakewood 
residents will be served by Human Services 
Association 

5 Agency/Group/Organization Lakewood Meals on Wheels 

Agency/Group/Organization Type Services-Elderly Persons 
Services-Persons with Disabilities 

What section of the Plan was addressed by 
Consultation? 

Non-Homeless Special Needs 

 Briefly describe how the 
Agency/Group/Organization was consulted. 
What are the anticipated outcomes of the 
consultation or areas for improved 
coordination? 

Meals on Wheels was provided an application 
that requested extensive information regarding 
its operation. The anticipated outcome of the 
consultation is a total of 110 Lakewood residents 
will be served by Meals on Wheels. 

6 Agency/Group/Organization People Assisting the Homeless (PATH) 

Agency/Group/Organization Type Services-homeless  

What section of the Plan was addressed by 
Consultation? 

Homeless Needs - Chronically homeless 
Homeless Needs - Families with children 
Homelessness Needs - Veterans 
Homelessness Needs - Unaccompanied youth 
Homelessness Strategy 

Briefly describe how the 
Agency/Group/Organization was consulted. 
What are the anticipated outcomes of the 
consultation or areas for improved 
coordination? 

City of Lakewood staff regularly attends PATH 
meetings to discuss strategies to assist the 
homeless population.  The anticipated outcomes 
of the consultation are to devise a strategy to end 
homelessness. 

7 Agency/Group/Organization SU CASA DOMESTIC VIOLENCE NETWORK 

Agency/Group/Organization Type Services - Housing 
Services-Children 
Services-Victims of Domestic Violence 
Services-homeless 
Services-Education 
Services-Employment 
Services - Victims 
Foundation 

What section of the Plan was addressed by 
Consultation? 

Homeless Needs - Families with children 

How was the Agency/Group/Organization 
consulted and what are the anticipated 
outcomes of the consultation or areas for 
improved coordination? 

Su Casa Domestic Violence Network assists the 
City with providing direct services to our residents 
in need of these specific services.  The City has 
secured a transitional shelter (24 persons) and 
affordable housing (16 persons) covenants 
through 2025. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  10 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Identify any Agency Types not consulted and provide rationale for not consulting 

Public Housing Agencies were not consulted since the City does not have any Public Housing agencies 

within its jurisdiction. 

Other local/regional/state/federal planning efforts considered when preparing the Plan 

Name of Plan Lead 
Organization 

How do the goals of your Strategic Plan overlap with the goals 
of each plan? 

Continuum of 

Care 

LAHSA The Continuum of Care works to alleviate the impact of 
homelessness in the community through the cooperation and 
collaboration of social service providers.  This effort aligns with 
the Strategic Plan’s goal to provide supportive services for 
homeless individuals and families. 

Table 3 – Other local / regional / federal planning efforts 

 

Describe cooperation and coordination with other public entities, including the State and any 
adjacent units of general local government, in the implementation of the Consolidated Plan 
(91.215(l)) 

The Lakewood Consolidated Plan embodies the City’s current Housing Element.  Much of the background 
data, housing issues, goals, objectives, policies and programs of the Consolidated Plan are consistent with 
the Housing Element, which was last updated on August 13, 2013.  The 2010 US Census and updated data 
from the 2008-2012 American Community Survey were also used to reflect current demographics and 
market and inventory conditions.  In addition, other widely used documents were also used in the 
development of the Consolidated Plan: 

• US Census Bureau, 2000 and 2010 Summary Files 1, 2, 3, 4  

• 2011-2015 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimate 

• US Department of Housing and Urban Development, CHAS Databook, 2010 Census 

• Lakewood General Plan  

• Lakewood Housing Element 2008-2014, August 2013 

• Lakewood Zoning Code 

• State of California Department of Finance, 2014 Population and Housing Estimates 

•  Lakewood Community Development Department, Southern California Association of 
Governments, Department of Housing and Urban Development, Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. 
County of Los Angeles Department of Health Services -- Child and Adolescent Health Program 
Gateway Cities Council of Governments Los Angeles County Department of Health Services 

Narrative (optional): 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  11 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

PR-15 Citizen Participation 

1. Summary of citizen participation process/Efforts made to broaden citizen participation 
Summarize citizen participation process and how it impacted goal-setting 

The City of Lakewood provides citizens with advance notice of all related materials available for public 
review as soon as the notice is published. The citizen participation plan includes a 30-day public review 
period of the Consolidated Plan to obtain citizen input on the projects or strategy proposed.  Citizens are 
invited to attend public hearings regarding the Consolidated Plan.  Notices of all hearings are published in 
the local newspaper, posted on the City’s website, in the City parks and the City Clerk’s office at least 14 
days prior to the hearing date.  The first public hearing is scheduled for March 5, 2020 with the Planning 
and Environment Commission.  The second public hearing is scheduled for April 28, 2020 with the 
Lakewood City Council.  The 30-day review period occurred between March 5 and April 28, 2020. 

Citizen Participation Outreach 

Sort 
Order 

Mode of 
Outreach 

Target of 
Outreach 

Summary of  
response/ 

attendance 

Summary of  
Comments 

received 

Summary of 
comments not 
accepted and 

reasons 

URL  
(If 

applic
able) 

1 Public 
Meeting 

Non-
targeted/broad 
community 

No public 
attendance. 

There were 
no public 
comments. 

There were no 
public 
comments. 

  

2 Public 
Hearing 

Non-
targeted/broad 
community 

No public 
attendance 

There were 
no public 
comments. 

There were no 
public 
comments. 

  

3 Newspaper 
Ad 

Non-
targeted/broad 
community 

No public 
attendance. 

There were 
no public 
comments. 

There were no 
public 
comments. 

  

Table 4 – Citizen Participation Outreach 

 

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  12 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Needs Assessment 

NA-05 Overview 

Needs Assessment Overview 

The section addresses the existing and projected housing needs of residents based on 2010 Census data, 
including updated census data from the 2011-2015 and 2013-2017 American Community Survey, and a 
housing market analysis, which inventories affordable housing in Lakewood and discusses barriers to the 
expansion of affordable housing. The section also includes discussion on the nature and extent of 
homelessness in Lakewood and the need for facilities and services for homeless persons and special needs 
groups. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  13 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-10 Housing Needs Assessment - 24 CFR 91.205 (a,b,c) 

Summary of Housing Needs 

The Housing Element is one of several methods the City uses to assess community opinions and concerns 
about the housing needs in Lakewood. Public participation plays an important role in the formulation of 
goals, policies, and programs promulgated by the Housing Element. Public participation includes public 
meetings with the Planning and Environment Commission, focus meetings with planners, developers, 
housing groups, and other stakeholders, and public hearing before the Lakewood City Council. Various 
segments of the community contribute insight and vision into the planning efforts and helped develop 
the goals and policies contained in the Housing Element.  

The Consolidated Plan is consistent with the Lakewood Housing Element, which was updated in August 
2013, and certified by the California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD). Like the 
Consolidated Plan, the Housing Element analyzes the City’s housing needs through a review of population 
and housing stock characteristics, and sets forth housing goals and policies for Lakewood to address these 
needs. In addition, the Housing Element evaluates the current and potential constraints in meeting those 
needs, including identifying the constraints that are due to the marketplace and those imposed by the 
government. 

The Housing Element is prepared in accordance with applicable State laws and Lakewood’s General Plan. 
It includes the community’s vision of its housing needs and objectives.  

Demographics Base Year:  2009 Most Recent Year:  2015 % Change 

Population 80,048 81,175 1% 

Households 24,912 26,085 5% 

Median Income $76,348.00 $79,193 4% 

Table 5 - Housing Needs Assessment Demographics 
Data Source: 2005-2009 ACS (Base Year), 2011-2015 ACS (Most Recent Year) 

 

Number of Households Table 

 0-30% 
HAMFI 

>30-50% 
HAMFI 

>50-80% 
HAMFI 

>80-100% 
HAMFI 

>100% 
HAMFI 

Total Households 2,250 3,075 4,400 2,920 13,440 

Small Family Households 585 1,265 2,100 1,575 8,275 

Large Family Households 195 425 465 420 1,730 

Household contains at least one 
person 62-74 years of age 599 720 1,165 595 2,085 

Household contains at least one 
person age 75 or older 620 645 710 250 1,005 

Households with one or more 
children 6 years old or younger 220 615 675 465 745 

Table 6 - Total Households Table 
Data 
Source: 

2011-2015 CHAS 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  14 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Housing Needs Summary Tables 

1. Housing Problems (Households with one of the listed needs) 

 Renter Owner 

0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

>80-
100% 
AMI 

Total 0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

>80-
100% 
AMI 

Total 

NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS 

Substandard 
Housing - 
Lacking 
complete 
plumbing or 
kitchen 
facilities 25 45 30 19 119 0 10 0 10 20 

Severely 
Overcrowded - 
With >1.51 
people per 
room (and 
complete 
kitchen and 
plumbing) 65 85 110 35 295 0 4 30 20 54 

Overcrowded - 
With 1.01-1.5 
people per 
room (and 
none of the 
above 
problems) 130 165 65 70 430 25 40 95 90 250 

Housing cost 
burden greater 
than 50% of 
income (and 
none of the 
above 
problems) 660 680 195 30 1,565 445 790 835 130 2,200 

Housing cost 
burden greater 
than 30% of 
income (and 
none of the 
above 
problems) 90 330 875 325 1,620 200 145 595 645 1,585 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  15 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 Renter Owner 
0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

>80-
100% 
AMI 

Total 0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

>80-
100% 
AMI 

Total 

Zero/negative 
Income (and 
none of the 
above 
problems) 70 0 0 0 70 115 0 0 0 115 

Table 7 – Housing Problems Table 
Data 
Source: 
 

2011-2015 CHAS 

2. Housing Problems 2 (Households with one or more Severe Housing Problems: Lacks kitchen 
or complete plumbing, severe overcrowding, severe cost burden) 

 Renter Owner 
0-

30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

>80-
100% 
AMI 

Total 0-
30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

>80-
100% 
AMI 

Total 

NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS 

Having 1 or more of four 
housing problems 880 975 395 160 2,410 470 850 960 250 2,530 

Having none of four 
housing problems 235 495 1,075 760 2,565 460 850 1,875 1,665 4,850 

Household has negative 
income, but none of the 
other housing problems 70 0 0 0 70 115 0 0 0 115 

Table 8 – Housing Problems 2 
Data 
Source: 
 

2011-2015 CHAS 

3. Cost Burden > 30% 

 Renter Owner 
0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-80% 
AMI 

Total 0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

Total 

NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS 

Small Related 15 290 565 870 25 50 75 150 

Large Related 0 80 135 215 0 40 95 135 

Elderly 85 100 115 300 165 60 125 350 

Other 0 15 185 200 10 40 45 95 

Total need by 
income 

100 485 1,000 1,585 200 190 340 730 

Table 9 – Cost Burden > 30% 
Data 
Source: 

2011-2015 CHAS 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  16 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

4. Cost Burden > 50% 

 Renter Owner 
0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

Total 0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

Total 

NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS 

Small Related 260 400 95 755 185 350 445 980 

Large Related 130 175 0 305 30 90 30 150 

Elderly 280 85 35 400 155 280 300 735 

Other 155 155 60 370 100 80 70 250 
Total need by 
income 

825 815 190 1,830 470 800 845 2,115 

Table 10 – Cost Burden > 50% 
Data 
Source: 
 

2011-2015 CHAS 

5. Crowding (More than one person per room) 

 Renter Owner 
0-

30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

>80-
100% 
AMI 

Total 0-
30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

>80-
100% 
AMI 

Total 

NUMBER OF HOUSEHOLDS 
Single family 
households 135 225 150 65 575 0 20 59 35 114 

Multiple, 
unrelated family 
households 60 24 19 34 137 25 29 70 80 204 

Other, non-family 
households 0 0 20 10 30 0 0 0 0 0 
Total need by 
income 

195 249 189 109 742 25 49 129 115 318 

Table 11 – Crowding Information – 1/2 
Data 
Source: 

2011-2015 CHAS 

 

 Renter Owner 
0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

Total 0-30% 
AMI 

>30-
50% 
AMI 

>50-
80% 
AMI 

Total 

Households 
with Children 
Present 

175 350 375 900 55 265 330 650 

Table 12 – Crowding Information – 2/2 
Data Source  2011 2015 CHAS 
Comments:    

 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  17 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Describe the number and type of single person households in need of housing assistance. 

According to 2011-2015 CHAS estimates, it is estimated that there are 4,719 single person households in 
the City of Lakewood.  Of this number, 3,020 are single senior households (persons 65 years or older).  
Nearly half (1,455) single seniors are reported to have a cost burden greater than 30%.   

Estimate the number and type of families in need of housing assistance who are disabled or 
victims of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault and stalking. 

Su Casa reported that during FY 18-19 there were 1,648 that they were unable to provide assistance to 
for a variety of reasons.  Of those calls, 1,425 were received from Los Angeles County, 206 were received 
from neighboring counties and out of state.  There were 17 callers from Lakewood that Su Casa was unable 

to assist. 

According to 2018 Point in Time Counts, the County of Los Angeles is home to 8,001 victims of domestic 
violence 1,438 are sheltered and 6,563 of the victims are unsheltered. 

Currently, there is no HUD supplied data that estimates the number and type of families in need of housing 
assistance who are disabled or victims of domestic violence, sexual assault and stalking.  However, 
according to 2015 American Community Survey, there are 7,782 persons or 9.6% of the population in 
Lakewood living with a disability.  When comparing this data to 2012-2016 CHAS data set describing 
individuals with hearing or vision impairment, ambulatory limitation, and cognitive limitation, the 
numbers of persons in the lower income levels are fairly consistent with the number of persons in the 
moderate to higher income levels.  Those persons with a disability in the lower income levels are more 
likely to need housing assistance than those with moderate and higher incomes. 

What are the most common housing problems? 

The most common housing problem within the City of Lakewood is cost burden, with 24% of all 
households paying more than 30% of their household income toward housing costs.  Of those cost 
burdened households, 54% (3,415) are renter households and 46% (2,845) are owner households. 

Overcrowding is the next most common problem, affecting 1,060 households in the City of Lakewood. 

Are any populations/household types more affected than others by these problems? 

Extremely low income renting households and low income owner households are most affected by cost 
burden, while Lakewood’s lower income renting population is most affected by overcrowding. 

  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  18 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Describe the characteristics and needs of Low-income individuals and families with children 
(especially extremely low-income) who are currently housed but are at imminent risk of either 
residing in shelters or becoming unsheltered 91.205(c)/91.305(c)). Also discuss the needs of 
formerly homeless families and individuals who are receiving rapid re-housing assistance and 
are nearing the termination of that assistance 

Extremely low and low income individuals, such as single seniors and extremely low income and low 
income families with children may encounter risk of becoming unsheltered because of the lack of 
affordable housing.  There are 2,335 single seniors that are extremely low to low income in Lakewood.  
Among these households, 1,255 have a cost burden greater than 30%.  Among those households, 550 are 
renters.  There are 5,025 small and large families in Lakewood that are extremely to low income 
households.  Among these households, 3,850 have a cost burden greater than 30% and among those 
households, 520 are renters.  With rent increases, possibility of job loss, or a catastrophic illness, many of 
Lakewood’s low income households are at risk of residing in shelter or becoming unsheltered, especially 
those who rent.  The City of Lakewood does not receive rapid re-housing assistance. 

If a jurisdiction provides estimates of the at-risk population(s), it should also include a 
description of the operational definition of the at-risk group and the methodology used to 
generate the estimates: 

The City of Lakewood does not provide estimates of the at-risk populations. 

Specify particular housing characteristics that have been linked with instability and an 
increased risk of homelessness 

Severe housing cost burden and low annual income are the greatest contributing factors for experiencing 
homelessness.  Those households paying more than 50% of their household income towards housing costs 
are more at risk of experiencing homelessness should an unfortunate event such as job loss or a medical 
emergency.   

Discussion 

The City of Lakewood recognizes that the need for homeless programs local and regionally are 
considerable, as evidenced by increases in the homeless population in Lakewood and Los Angeles County. 
The City of Lakewood will continue to coordinate with LAHSA in building a continuum of care system for 
the homeless in the southeast Los Angeles County region, and more particularly in SPA 7.  In addition, the 
City of Lakewood will continue its efforts to fund public services offered by the City and other nonprofit 
public service organizations to meet the needs of special needs populations as well as of the extremely 
low-income populations. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  19 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-15 Disproportionately Greater Need: Housing Problems – 91.205 (b)(2) 

Assess the need of any racial or ethnic group that has disproportionately greater need in comparison to 
the needs of that category of need as a whole. 

Introduction 

The City of Lakewood does not have a disproportionate greater need for members of a particular racial or 
ethnic group when it comes to Housing Problems. 

0%-30% of Area Median Income 
Housing Problems Has one or more 

of four housing 
problems 

Has none of the 
four housing 

problems 

Household has 
no/negative 

income, but none 
of the other 

housing problems 

Jurisdiction as a whole 1,640 430 185 

White 570 300 100 

Black / African American 190 0 10 

Asian 325 60 50 

American Indian, Alaska Native 15 10 0 

Pacific Islander 20 0 0 

Hispanic 505 50 24 

Table 13 - Disproportionally Greater Need 0 - 30% AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

*The four housing problems are:  
1. Lacks complete kitchen facilities, 2. Lacks complete plumbing facilities, 3. More than one person per 
room, 4.Cost Burden greater than 30%  
  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  20 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

30%-50% of Area Median Income 
Housing Problems Has one or more 

of four housing 
problems 

Has none of the 
four housing 

problems 

Household has 
no/negative 

income, but none 
of the other 

housing problems 

Jurisdiction as a whole 2,300 1,175 0 

White 765 600 0 

Black / African American 320 0 0 

Asian 450 19 0 

American Indian, Alaska Native 0 0 0 

Pacific Islander 10 0 0 

Hispanic 580 10 0 

Table 14 - Disproportionally Greater Need 30 - 50% AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

*The four housing problems are:  
1. Lacks complete kitchen facilities, 2. Lacks complete plumbing facilities, 3. More than one person per 
room, 4.Cost Burden greater than 30%  
 

50%-80% of Area Median Income 
Housing Problems Has one or more 

of four housing 
problems 

Has none of the 
four housing 

problems 

Household has 
no/negative 

income, but none 
of the other 

housing problems 

Jurisdiction as a whole 2,825 1,585 0 

White 1,075 890 0 

Black / African American 305 110 0 

Asian 390 165 0 

American Indian, Alaska Native 20 0 0 

Pacific Islander 75 0 0 

Hispanic 920 345 0 

Table 15 - Disproportionally Greater Need 50 - 80% AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

 
*The four housing problems are:  
1. Lacks complete kitchen facilities, 2. Lacks complete plumbing facilities, 3. More than one person per 

room, 4.Cost Burden greater than 30% 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  21 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

80%-100% of Area Median Income 
Housing Problems Has one or more 

of four housing 
problems 

Has none of the 
four housing 

problems 

Household has 
no/negative 

income, but none 
of the other 

housing problems 

Jurisdiction as a whole 1,385 1,535 0 

White 680 845 0 

Black / African American 45 74 0 

Asian 230 145 0 

American Indian, Alaska Native 0 0 0 

Pacific Islander 0 50 0 

Hispanic 275 385 0 

Table 16 - Disproportionally Greater Need 80 - 100% AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

 
*The four housing problems are:  
1. Lacks complete kitchen facilities, 2. Lacks complete plumbing facilities, 3. More than one person per 
room, 4.Cost Burden greater than 30% 
 
Discussion 

The City of Lakewood does not have a disproportionate greater need for members of a particular racial 
or ethnic group when it comes to Housing Problems. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  22 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-20 Disproportionately Greater Need: Severe Housing Problems – 91.205 

(b)(2) 

Assess the need of any racial or ethnic group that has disproportionately greater need in comparison to 
the needs of that category of need as a whole. 

Introduction 

According to HUD, disproportionate needs refers to any need for a certain race/ethnicity that is more than 
ten percentage points above the demonstrated need for the total households within the jurisdiction at a 
particular income level.  The tables and analysis below identify the share of households by race/ethnicity 
and income level experiencing one or more of the four housing problems outlined by HUD guidelines.   

0%-30% of Area Median Income 

Severe Housing Problems* Has one or more 
of four housing 

problems 

Has none of the 
four housing 

problems 

Household has 
no/negative 

income, but none 
of the other 

housing problems 

Jurisdiction as a whole 1,570 705 205 

White 510 380 110 

Black / African American 250 10 20 

Asian 325 100 75 

American Indian, Alaska Native 0 25 0 

Pacific Islander 15 0 0 

Hispanic 460 185 4 

Table 17 – Severe Housing Problems 0 - 30% AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

 
*The four severe housing problems are:  
1. Lacks complete kitchen facilities, 2. Lacks complete plumbing facilities, 3. More than 1.5 persons per 
room, 4.Cost Burden over 50%  
 
 
 
 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  23 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

30%-50% of Area Median Income 

Severe Housing Problems* Has one or more 
of four housing 

problems 

Has none of the 
four housing 

problems 

Household has 
no/negative 

income, but none 
of the other 

housing problems 

Jurisdiction as a whole 1,825 1,245 0 

White 600 765 0 

Black / African American 250 70 0 

Asian 365 90 0 

American Indian, Alaska Native 0 10 0 

Pacific Islander 20 0 0 

Hispanic 590 140 0 

Table 18 – Severe Housing Problems 30 - 50% AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

 
*The four severe housing problems are:  
1. Lacks complete kitchen facilities, 2. Lacks complete plumbing facilities, 3. More than 1.5 persons per 
room, 4.Cost Burden over 50%  
 

50%-80% of Area Median Income 

Severe Housing Problems* Has one or more 
of four housing 

problems 

Has none of the 
four housing 

problems 

Household has 
no/negative 

income, but none 
of the other 

housing problems 

Jurisdiction as a whole 1,355 3,040 0 

White 505 1,460 0 

Black / African American 85 285 0 

Asian 250 385 0 

American Indian, Alaska Native 0 20 0 

Pacific Islander 40 35 0 

Hispanic 510 785 0 

Table 19 – Severe Housing Problems 50 - 80% AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

 
*The four severe housing problems are:  
1. Lacks complete kitchen facilities, 2. Lacks complete plumbing facilities, 3. More than 1.5 persons per 
room, 4.Cost Burden over 50%  
 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  24 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

80%-100% of Area Median Income 

Severe Housing Problems* Has one or more 
of four housing 

problems 

Has none of the 
four housing 

problems 

Household has 
no/negative 

income, but none 
of the other 

housing problems 

Jurisdiction as a whole 410 2,510 0 

White 170 1,355 0 

Black / African American 15 105 0 

Asian 110 270 0 

American Indian, Alaska Native 0 0 0 

Pacific Islander 0 50 0 

Hispanic 115 645 0 

Table 20 – Severe Housing Problems 80 - 100% AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

 
*The four severe housing problems are:  
1. Lacks complete kitchen facilities, 2. Lacks complete plumbing facilities, 3. More than 1.5 persons per 
room, 4.Cost Burden over 50%  
 
 
Discussion 

The City of Lakewood does not have a disproportionate greater need for members of a particular racial or 
ethnic group when it comes to Severe Housing Problems. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  25 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-25 Disproportionately Greater Need: Housing Cost Burdens – 91.205 (b)(2) 

Assess the need of any racial or ethnic group that has disproportionately greater need in comparison to 

the needs of that category of need as a whole. 

Introduction:  

HUD’s definition of cost burdened is households that pay more than 30% of their annual income for 
housing expenses.  Cost burdened is measured based on the fraction of a household’s total gross income 
spent on housing costs.  For renters, housing costs include rent paid by the tenant plus utilities.  For 
owners, housing costs include mortgage payments, taxes, insurance, and utilities.  Lakewood used the 
2011-2015 CHAS tables which analyzes the levels of cost burdened as less than or equal to 30%, severely 
cost burdened where households are paying 30-50% for housing expenses and extremely cost burdened 
where households are paying more than 50% of their annual income for housing expenses. 

Housing Cost Burden 

Housing Cost Burden <=30% 30-50% >50% No / negative 
income (not 
computed) 

Jurisdiction as a whole 16,114 5,465 4,280 204 

White 8,640 2,170 1,660 100 

Black / African 

American 1,120 5250 510 20 

Asian 2,300 436 650 60 

American Indian, 

Alaska Native 40 35 0 0 

Pacific Islander 154 55 95 0 

Hispanic 3,505 1,680 1,325 24 

Table 21 – Greater Need: Housing Cost Burdens AMI 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

 

Discussion:  

According to the US 2015 Census Lakewood is comprised with the following populations: 

• White – 53.9% 

• Black or African American – 7.2% 

• Asian – 16.9% 

• American Indian and Alaska Native – 0.5% 

• Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander – 1.8% 

• Hispanic – 33.1% 

 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  26 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

According to 2011-2015 CHAS data, the City of Lakewood has 26,085 households.  As shown in Table 21, 
of those households, 16,114 have cost burden of 30% or less.  The following percentages consist of the 
populations that have a cost burden of 30% or less: 

• White – 53.3% 

• Black or African Americans - 9.9% 

• Asians - 13.9% 

• American Indian and Alaskan Natives - 0.6% 

• Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander - 0.9% 

• Hispanics - 21.6% 

As shown in Table 21, 5,465 households have cost burden of 30% - 50%.  The following percentages consist 
of the populations that have a cost burden of 30% - 50%:   

• White – 38.0% 

• Black or African Americans - 16.1% 

• Asians - 14.8% 

• American Indian and Alaskan Natives - 0.2% 

• Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander - 0.9% 

• Hispanics - 29.4% 

As shown in Table 21, 4,280 households have cost burden greater than 50%.  The following percentages 
consist of the populations that have a cost burden greater than 50%:   

• White – 39.0% 

• Black or African Americans - 11.8% 

• Asians - 15.3% 

• American Indian and Alaskan Natives - 0.0% 

• Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander – 2.2% 

• Hispanics - 31.3% 

As shown in Table 21, 204 households have negative or no income. The following percentages consist of 
the populations that have negative or no income: 

• White – 21.7% 

• Black or African Americans - 59.9% 

• Asians - 13.0% 

• American Indian and Alaskan Natives - 0.0% 

• Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander – 0.0% 

• Hispanics - 5.2% 

The percentages of those populations with a cost burden trend fairly consistently with the total 
populations with the exception of the African American or Black population.  A significantly higher 
population of African Americans have a cost burden or negative income that is disproportionate to the 
total African American population in Lakewood. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  27 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-30 Disproportionately Greater Need: Discussion – 91.205(b)(2) 

Are there any Income categories in which a racial or ethnic group has disproportionately 
greater need than the needs of that income category as a whole? 

The housing problem data revealed that housing problems were experienced by race and ethnic 
categories within specific income ranges of the County Average Median Income (AMI) at relatively 
similarly levels in Lakewood.  A racial or ethnic group can have a disproportionately greater need and still 
have a significantly fewer households experiencing a housing problem than households in other racial or 
ethnic groups.  The racial and ethnic groups that have disproportionately greater needs than the needs of 
the City’s population as a whole in specified income categories include:  

Housing Problems: Severe Housing Problems: 
0-30% AMI 0-30% AMI 
African American or Black Households African American or Black Households 
Asian Households Asian Households 
 
Housing Problems: Severe Housing Problems: 
30-50% AMI 30-50% AMI 
African American or Black Households African American or Black Households 
 

If they have needs not identified above, what are those needs? 

All needs are identified above. 

Are any of those racial or ethnic groups located in specific areas or neighborhoods in your 
community? 

For the purposes of the Consolidated Plan, the City defines an area of minority concentration as a census 
tract in which there exists a greater proportion of total households than the County average, while a high 
concentration is defined as a proportion of more than twice the County average.  Figures 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 
illustrate minority concentrations and high concentrations in the City of Lakewood.  The County averages 
for the racial groups are as follows: 

• African American:  9.0% 

• American Indian and Alaskan Native:  1.4% 

• Asian:  15.4% 

• Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander:  0.4% 

• Hispanic:  48.6%  

There are areas where African Americans with low and moderate incomes are concentrated and are 

high concentrated. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  28 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Concentrated Census Tracts include: 5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5551.04, 5700.01, 5700.02, 

5700.03, 5707.01, 5707.02, 5708.00, 5709.02, 5713.00, 5714.00 and 5715.03. 

High Concentrated Census Tracts include: 5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5700.01, 5700.03, 

5707.01, 5707.02, 5708.00, 5714.00 and 5715.03. 

Areas where Asians with low and moderate incomes are concentrated include the following census 

tracts: 5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5551.04, 5700.01, 5700.02, 5700.03, 5707.01, 5707.02, 

5708.00, 5709.01, 5709.02, 5714.00 and 5715.03. 

Areas where Asians with low and moderate incomes are high concentrated and include the following 

census tracts: 5550.01, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5551.04, 5700.01, 5700.03, 5707.01, 5707.2, 5709.01, 5714.00 

and 5715.03. 

Areas where Hispanics with low and moderate incomes are concentrated and include the following 

census tracts: 5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5551.04, 5700.01, 5700.02, 5700.03, 5707.01, 

5707.02, 5708.00, 5709.02, 5710.00, 5713.00, 5714.00, and 5714.00 

Areas where Hispanics with low and moderate incomes are high concentrated and include the following 

census tracts: 5551.02 and 5700.03 

As Figures 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 illustrate, most African American households are located in the eastern portion 
of the City near Cerritos and Hawaiian Gardens, as well as in the western portion of the City near 
Lakewood Center mall and the City of Long Beach.  No high concentrations of African American 
households exist in the City.  Hispanic households have high concentrations in several blocks located in 
the eastern portion of Lakewood near Cerritos and Hawaiian Gardens and various smaller areas of high 
concentration throughout the rest of the City.  Several blocks have a high concentration of Asian 
households.  These block groups are located in the eastern portion of the City, bordering Cerritos and 
Hawaiian Gardens, as well as two areas in the western portion of the City near Long Beach.  Concentrations 
of Asian households are also located in the northern portion of the City bordering Bellflower. 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  29 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  30 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  31 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  32 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-35 Public Housing – 91.205(b) 

Introduction 

There are no public housing units within the City of Lakewood. 

This section estimates the total number of public and assisted housing units in the City and 
assesses the potential for the loss of these units.  

 Totals in Use 

Program Type 

 Certificate Mod-
Rehab 

Public 
Housing 

Vouchers 
Total Project 

-based 
Tenant 
-based 

Special Purpose Voucher 

Veterans 
Affairs 

Supportive 
Housing 

Family 
Unification 

Program 

Disabled 
* 

# of 

units 

vouchers 

in use 0 253 2,883 21,087 47 20,550 268 163 59 

Table 22 - Public Housing by Program Type 
*includes Non-Elderly Disabled, Mainstream One-Year, Mainstream Five-year, and Nursing Home Transition  

 
Data Source: PIC (PIH Information Center) 

  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  33 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 Characteristics of Residents 

 
Program Type 

 Certificate Mod-
Rehab 

Public 
Housing 

Vouchers 
Total Project 

-based 
Tenant 
-based 

Special Purpose Voucher 
Veterans 

Affairs 
Supportive 

Housing 

Family 
Unification 

Program 

Average 

Annual 

Income 0 14,341 13,522 14,839 15,746 14,816 14,829 17,842 

Average 

length of stay 0 6 8 8 0 8 0 6 

Average 

Household 

size 0 3 2 2 2 2 1 4 

# Homeless at 

admission 0 0 0 184 0 42 142 0 

# of Elderly 

Program 

Participants 

(>62) 0 48 1,138 6,753 15 6,670 38 2 

# of Disabled 

Families 0 40 534 4,416 17 4,269 83 16 

# of Families 

requesting 

accessibility 

features 0 253 2,883 21,087 47 20,550 268 163 

# of HIV/AIDS 

program 

participants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

# of DV 

victims 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Table 23 – Characteristics of Public Housing Residents by Program Type  
Data Source: PIC (PIH Information Center) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  34 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 Race of Residents 

Program Type 
Race Certificate Mod-

Rehab 
Public 

Housing 
Vouchers 

Total Project 
-based 

Tenant 
-based 

Special Purpose Voucher 
Veterans 

Affairs 
Supportive 

Housing 

Family 
Unification 

Program 

Disabled 
* 

White 0 148 1,710 10,344 33 10,071 80 120 40 

Black/African 

American 0 60 1,035 8,432 12 8,188 179 38 15 

Asian 0 8 120 2,181 1 2,173 3 1 3 

American 

Indian/Alaska 

Native 0 0 11 76 1 67 6 2 0 

Pacific 

Islander 0 37 7 54 0 51 0 2 1 

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

*includes Non-Elderly Disabled, Mainstream One-Year, Mainstream Five-year, and Nursing Home Transition 

Table 24 – Race of Public Housing Residents by Program Type 
Data Source: PIC (PIH Information Center) 

Ethnicity of Residents 

Program Type 

Ethnicity Certificate Mod-
Rehab 

Public 
Housing 

Vouchers 
Total Project 

-based 
Tenant 
-based 

Special Purpose Voucher 

Veterans 
Affairs 

Supportive 
Housing 

Family 
Unification 

Program 

Disabled 
* 

Hispanic 0 124 1,121 7,293 11 7,122 40 105 15 

Not 

Hispanic 0 129 1,762 13,794 36 13,428 228 58 44 

*includes Non-Elderly Disabled, Mainstream One-Year, Mainstream Five-year, and Nursing Home Transition 
Table 25 – Ethnicity of Public Housing Residents by Program Type 

Data Source: PIC (PIH Information Center) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  35 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Section 504 Needs Assessment: Describe the needs of public housing tenants and applicants 

on the waiting list for accessible units: 

The City of Lakewood does not have any Public Housing units. 

Most immediate needs of residents of Public Housing and Housing Choice voucher holders 

The City of Lakewood does not have any Public Housing units. 

How do these needs compare to the housing needs of the population at large 

Not Applicable 

Discussion 

See Above 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  36 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-40 Homeless Needs Assessment – 91.205(c) 
 

Introduction: 
 
The 2019 Annual Homeless count conducted by LAHSA revealed that there are 135 homeless persons in 
Lakewood.  Of those experiencing homelessness, 39 were on the street, 5 were in tents, 14 were in 
makeshift shelters, 32 were in RVs or campers, 17 were in vans, and 28 were in cars. 
 
This section describes the nature and extent of homelessness in Lakewood as well as a summary of 
persons and families at risk of becoming homeless.  This section also includes an inventory of programs 
and facilities available to serve the homeless and those threatened by homelessness.  Service and facility 
gaps in the continuum of care are also identified. 

 
Homeless Needs Assessment  

Population Estimate the # of 
persons experiencing 

homelessness on a 
given night 

Estimate the 
# 

experiencing 
homelessness 

each year 

Estimate 
the # 

becoming 
homeless 
each year 

Estimate the 
# exiting 

homelessness 
each year 

Estimate the 
# of days 
persons 

experience 
homelessness 

 Sheltered Unsheltered     

Persons in 
Households with 
Adult(s) and 
Child(ren) 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Persons in 
Households with 
Only Children 0 2 2 2 1 365 

Persons in 
Households with 
Only Adults 0 85 130 20 10 350 

Chronically 
Homeless 
Individuals 0 30 30 15 0 390 

Chronically 
Homeless 
Families 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Veterans 0 4 7 7 3 150 

Unaccompanied 
Child 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Persons with HIV 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Table 26 - Homeless Needs Assessment  
Data Source LAHSA 
Comments:    

If data is not available for the categories "number of persons becoming and exiting 
homelessness each year," and "number of days that persons experience homelessness," 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  37 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

describe these categories for each homeless population type (including chronically homeless 
individuals and families, families with children, veterans and their families, and 
unaccompanied youth): 

Nature and Extent of Homelessness: (Optional) 

Race: Sheltered: Unsheltered (optional) 

White 0 41 

Black or African American 0 18 

Asian 0 1 

American Indian or Alaska 

Native 0 5 

Pacific Islander 0 2 

Ethnicity: Sheltered: Unsheltered (optional) 

Hispanic 0 70 

Not Hispanic 0 65 

Table 27 – Nature and Extent of Homelessness 
Data Source LAHSA 2019 Homeless Count and Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) LAHSA database. 
Comments: 
  

Estimate the number and type of families in need of housing assistance for families with 
children and the families of veterans. 
 
The estimated number of families in need of housing assistance for families with children is two while the 
number of veterans in need is four.  The largest population of persons experiencing homelessness are 
adults only. 
 

Describe the Nature and Extent of Homelessness by Racial and Ethnic Group. 
The majority of Lakewood’s homeless population in terms of race are white followed by African 
Americans.  There are more homeless Hispanic persons than there are non-Hispanic. 
 

Describe the Nature and Extent of Unsheltered and Sheltered Homelessness. 
The City of Lakewood does not have any homeless shelters to serve the homeless population in Lakewood.  
According to LAHSA, Lakewood is home to approximately 30 chronically homeless persons.  There are 
approximately 85 adult individuals experiencing homeless on any given night. 
 

Discussion: 
The City of Lakewood has an estimated 135 unsheltered homeless persons according to the 2019 
Homeless Count.  The homeless population in Lakewood are primarily single adults, the city is awaiting 
the final results of the 2020 Homeless Count. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  38 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-45 Non-Homeless Special Needs Assessment - 91.205 (b,d) 
 

Introduction:  
 
This section examines the housing needs of different categories of households that are disadvantaged in 
finding decent, affordable housing. These households include large families, single persons, the elderly, 
and the disabled (including persons with HIV). 

 
Describe the characteristics of special needs populations in your community: 
The characteristics of special needs populations in Lakewood include:  large households, single person 
households, female-headed households, elderly and frail elderly, persons with disabilities, and persons 
with drug/alcohol addictions. 
 

What are the housing and supportive service needs of these populations and how are these 

needs determined?    
 
Housing supportive services needs of the special needs populations include access to more affordable 
housing units.  Lakewood will continue to act to alleviate these problems in a variety of ways, including 
referrals Section 8 units and making density bonuses an option for multi-family developers in accordance 
with State Law. 
 

Discuss the size and characteristics of the population with HIV/AIDS and their families within 
the Eligible Metropolitan Statistical Area:  
 
According to Los Angeles County Public Health Department, at the end of 2015, over 61,000 persons were 
estimated to be living with HIV in Los Angeles County, of which approximately 8,943 were unaware of 
their HIV infection.  Among the 50,771 persons diagnosed and living with HIV in Los Angeles County, the 
majority were male (89%), Latino (42%) or White (32%) and over 40 years of age (74%).  Most reported 
being exposed to HIV through male-to-male sexual contact (78% MSM; 6% MSM/IDU) and an increasing 
percentage reported heterosexual contact (10%). 
 

Discussion: 
 
See discussion above. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  39 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

NA-50 Non-Housing Community Development Needs – 91.215 (f) 

Describe the jurisdiction’s need for Public Facilities: 

The City’s needs for public facilities include facilities to support Lakewood’s aging population, its sports 
programs, parks and green space, street lighting, and ADA improvements. 

How were these needs determined? 

Historically, the City of Lakewood has provided many recreational activities and social opportunities for 
its young, persons with special needs, and senior residents.  The success in Lakewood’s ability to provide 
program and services to a broad community is what determined the need for public Facilities.  In 1981 
the Weingart Foundation donated land and one half the construction costs to create the Weingart Senior 
Center.  Today, the Weingart Senior Center is a bustling center used by hundreds of seniors daily.  Human 
Services Association provides congregated meals for Lakewood’s senior population, tax preparation 
assistance services are offered at the Center and many exercise classes and leisure activities are enjoyed 
by Lakewood’s senior citizens. 

Lakewood is known for its dedication to the youth and as evidenced with Lakewood Youth Sports (LYS) is 
free of charge to all residents and a small fee of $20 to non-residents.  LYS places emphasis on participation 
and sportsmanship.  Benefits from this program include physical fitness, teamwork, life skills, character 
formation, self-discipline, self-respect, pride, camaraderie, time management, commitment and fair play.  
Because of this program and others like it, Lakewood was recognized in 2010 as a Playful City USA by 
KaBOOM!.  KaBOOM! is a non-profit group dedicated to ensuring that all children get a childhood filled 
with balanced active play they need to thrive. 

The City of Lakewood has worked to serve the needs of the developmentally and physically disabled since 
1981. This has been accomplished through the Adaptive Recreation and Special Olympics programs 
operated out of Bloomfield Park.  The main objective of these programs is to provide equal recreation and 
leisure opportunities for people of all ages with special needs. 

Other attributes that Lakewood is known for is its beautiful tree-lined street and lush parks.  Lakewood 
has been awarded Tree City USA for 35 years by the Arbor Day Foundation. 

Lakewood is proud of the services, youth programs, programs for persons with special needs, and serene 
parks and neighborhoods that the community as a whole has created.  It is a priority of the City to maintain 
these assets that provide a quality of life for the community. 

Describe the jurisdiction’s need for Public Improvements: 

The City of Lakewood has several public facilities that are in need of repair, modernization and 
improvements as most facilities were constructed more than 30 years ago.  Currently the City is focusing 
on improving the Weingart Senior Center.  The improvements include removing the existing barriers to 
the disabled, replacing the flooring, converting assembly space to private offices for social services, 
enclosing the billiards room, and remodeling the lobby. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  40 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 

How were these needs determined? 

The Lakewood CDBG Committee meets once a month to review federally-funded projects and where the 
need is greatest.  The last improvement project for the Weingart Senior Center was in 2007 and consisted 
of roof replacement and repair and replacing some skylights.  The Center is outdated, both in design and 
with ADA requirements.  More office space is needed to function properly and the floors have become a 
trip hazard.  

Describe the jurisdiction’s need for Public Services: 

Community Family Guidance Center provides counseling services for emotionally disturbed children.  
Through this program, an estimated 24 children who are emotionally disturbed will receive counseling 
annually. 

Meals on Wheels provides in-home meal delivery to low income, senior, and disabled persons.  Under this 
program, the City will serve an estimated 100 low income and special needs individuals. 

Pathways Volunteer Hospice provides in-home non-medical services to terminally ill persons.  Through 
this program, the City will serve 20 low and moderate income households annually with in-home services 
for terminally ill persons. 

Human Services Association support senior citizen congregate meals at the Weingart Senior Center and 
home delivered meals to Lakewood residents.  Through this program, the City will provide congregate and 
home delivered meals to 75 seniors annually. 

Fair Housing program provides funds for a fair housing counseling program and landlord tenant services 
for residents and property owners.  The Fair Housing Consultant functions as a central source for fair 
housing information and education; investigate and conciliate housing discrimination complaints; make 
referrals to appropriate sources for the formal resolution of complaints when information conciliation 
efforts fail; distribute information on landlord tenant rights and assist low and moderate income families 
in maintaining suitable housing. 

The need for these services in Lakewood is ongoing. 

How were these needs determined? 

The Lakewood CDBG Committee meets once a month to review public service needs.  The committee will 
continue to meet to determine the needs of the community and distribution of federal allocated funds. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  41 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  42 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Housing Market Analysis 

MA-05 Overview 

Housing Market Analysis Overview: 

The City of Lakewood is a highly urbanized community that is virtually built out.  There is less than eight 
acres of land available for residential development which creates a challenge to meet the housing needs 
of Lakewood residents who are in the low, very low and extremely low income category as defined by 
HUD.   

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  43 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-10 Number of Housing Units – 91.210(a)&(b)(2) 

Introduction 

The housing needs of the Lakewood’s low, very low or extremely low income category are not being met.  
During 1990s, housing construction in the Southern California region did not keep pace with population 
growth and Lakewood’s pace of housing construction was even slower than in the county as a whole.  In 
recent years, development of new housing stock has been minimal due to the lack of available land to 
develop. 

All residential properties by number of units 

Property Type Number % 

1-unit detached structure 22,265 81% 

1-unit, attached structure 765 3% 

2-4 units 600 2% 

5-9 units 1,620 6% 

10 or more units 2,130 8% 

Mobile Home, boat, RV, van, etc 88 1% 
Total 27,468 100% 

Table 28– Residential Properties by Unit Number 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 

Unit Size by Tenure 

 Owners Renters 

Number % Number % 

No bedroom 85 0% 440 6% 

1 bedroom 105 1% 1,535 20% 

2 or 3 bedrooms 2,810 15% 2,685 35% 

4 or more bedrooms 15,310 84% 3,110 40% 
Total 18,310 100% 7,770 101% 

Table 29 – Unit Size by Tenure 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 

Describe the number and targeting (income level/type of family served) of units assisted with 
federal, state, and local programs. 

A significant number of households in the City, 9,730, or nearly 37% of all households in Lakewood remain 
in the low, very low or extremely low-income category, indicating a continued need for housing that is 
affordable and accessible to people of limited economic means.  The need is greatest with small household 
and elderly, non-family households.  These household are targeted for assistance of federal, state and 
local programs. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  44 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

In 2015 there were 2,250 extremely low income households in Lakewood.  Of those households 1,595 
(70.9%) had a housing cost burden where at least 30% of their income paid for rent or mortgage.  There 
were 3,075 very low income households and of those households 2,285 (74.3%) had a housing cost burden 
where at least 30% of their income paid for rent or mortgage.  There were 4,405 low income households 
and of those households 2,265 (51.4%) had a housing cost burden where at least 30% of their income paid 
for rent or mortgage. 

Affordability needs of female-headed households can be addressed through rent subsidies, affordable 
childcare, and family housing in proximity to commercial uses, recreational facilities and public transit. 
The City of Lakewood encourages the use of these programs and services particularly among female-
headed households with children.   

The City of Lakewood has attempted to address the needs of the elderly through a variety of projects and 
services, including a number of senior public housing projects. Currently, federal housing assistance is 
provided through Section 8 and other federal housing assisted senior citizens projects. Eligible seniors pay 
no more than 30% of their income for rent with the remainder paid by HUD through a housing assistance 
payment. Currently, the waiting list is closed.  

The following 3 senior housing establishments are located within the City: 
§ Candlewood Apartments, 81- One Bedroom Units  
§ Whispering Fountains, 201 Units  
§ Seasons Senior Apartments, 85 Units 

In compliance with State Law, the City has adopted an ordinance allowing for the construction Accessory 
Dwelling Units (ADUs) and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units (JADUs).  There are currently 13 units that have 
been constructed. 

The City of Lakewood is currently contracted with the Housing Authority of the County of Los Angeles for 
the administration of its Section 8 program. This program provides rental assistance voucher to low and 
very low (0 to 50% MFI) income disabled persons. 

The City offers many services to assist persons with disabilities, including the Meals on Wheels Program, 
which provides meals to the disabled and homebound residents. The City’s DASH Transportation Program 
and Long Beach Transit Dial-A-Ride also provide free transportation to people with disabilities. In addition, 
the City offers a Single Family Rehabilitation Loan Program and the Fix-Up Paint-Up Program to help 
improve deteriorated housing conditions. The City of Lakewood coordinates with Pathways Volunteer 
Hospice to provide in-home services to seniors with disabilities. 

Provide an assessment of units expected to be lost from the affordable housing inventory for 
any reason, such as expiration of Section 8 contracts. 

Lakewood does not anticipate a loss of affordable housing inventory as Lakewood’s contract with Los 
Angeles County Housing Authority is current, and it is anticipated that the contract will be renewed.  
Additionally, the City expects in increase its affordable housing inventory by 40 units within the Five-Year 
Consolidated Plan term as the City is in possession of nine parcels slated for the development of affordable 
housing. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  45 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Does the availability of housing units meet the needs of the population? 

According to CHAS 2011-2015, there are 695 vacant for rent housing units in Lakewood.  Only 20 of the 
695 units are reserved for households to pay 30% or less of their income.  Of those vacant units, 420 lack 
complete plumbing or kitchen facilities.  Additionally, 10,690 (40.9%) of the households in Lakewood are 
units with one or more housing problems; 9,750 (37.3%) have overpayment issues, and 1,600 (6.1%) 
households have overcrowded conditions. The housing assistance needs of renters are much greater than 
owners, despite the 70% to 30% ratio of homeowners to renters in Lakewood.  The biggest impact in 
Lakewood is housing cost burden to the extremely to low income households, particularly for renters 
(44%) of all renter occupied households and owners (17%) of all owner occupied households. 

According to the SCAG Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA), in 2012, 9,814 households or 
approximately 40% of Lakewood’s total households overpaid for housing. More than two-thirds (70.1%) 
of the overpaying households were owners.  According to the Housing Element, nearly 66% of all 
extremely low-income owner households are paying more than 30% of their total income on housing. 
However, 71.8% of renter households are paying more than 30% of their total income on housing. 

Describe the need for specific types of housing: 

Housing need is defined as the gap between the type of housing required by the City’s existing and 
projected residents and the type of housing available.  Housing needs for Lakewood are based on Census 
data, surveys, and information and community input.  Based on this information, areas of local housing 
needs in Lakewood include: 

• Housing preservation and improvement to the existing affordable housing supply and nature of 
Lakewood’s residential neighborhoods. 

• Development of new housing on sites suitable for residential use to expand the supply and choice 
of units for all household incomes. 

• Housing assistance to low and moderate income households and households with special needs. 

• Equal housing opportunity 

• Affordable housing 

The housing assistance need of low and moderate-income households in the City is based on information 
provided by CHAS 2011-2015 data.  Households with housing problems are defined by HUD and include: 

• Occupying units with physical defects (lacking complete kitchen or bathroom) 

• Living in overcrowded conditions (more than one person per room); and 

• Experiencing a housing cost burden, including utilities, exceeding 30% of gross income. 

Discussion 

See discussion above 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  46 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-15 Housing Market Analysis: Cost of Housing - 91.210(a) 

Introduction 

Although the cost of housing in Lakewood is below the county average, the cost of housing in Lakewood 
is a problem for moderate, low and extremely low income Lakewood residents. 

Housing costs are directly related to the quality of life in a given community. If housing costs are high in 
comparison to the resident’s income, a community will experience higher levels of overcrowding and 
overpayment. 

Cost of Housing 

 Base Year:  2009 Most Recent Year:  2015 % Change 

Median Home Value 525,000 424,200 (19%) 

Median Contract Rent 1,214 1,403 16% 

Table 30 – Cost of Housing 
Data Source: 2005-2009 ACS (Base Year), 2011-2015 ACS (Most Recent Year) 

Current data from SCAG City of Lakewood Local Profiles report shows that the median home value for 
Lakewood in 2018 was $575,000. 
 

Rent Paid Number % 

Less than $500 542 7.0% 

$500-999 859 11.1% 

$1,000-1,499 3,150 40.5% 

$1,500-1,999 1,995 25.7% 

$2,000 or more 1,225 15.8% 
Total 7,771 100.0% 

Rent Paid Number % 
Table 31 - Rent Paid 

Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 

Housing Affordability 

% Units affordable to Households 
earning  

Renter Owner 

30% HAMFI 330 No Data 

50% HAMFI 620 205 

80% HAMFI 3,050 595 

100% HAMFI No Data 1,515 
Total 4,000 2,315 

Table 32 – Housing Affordability 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  47 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Monthly Rent  

Monthly Rent ($) Efficiency (no 
bedroom) 

1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom 

Fair Market Rent $1,158 $1,384 $1,791 $2,401 $2,642 

High HOME Rent $1,158 $1,253 $1,506 $1,730 $1,911 

Low HOME Rent $913 $979 $1,175 $1,375 $1,515 
Table 33 – Monthly Rent 

Data Source: HUD FMR and HOME Rents 

 

Is there sufficient housing for households at all income levels? 

The City of Lakewood’s population has remained fairly stable over the last decade, teetering at 
approximately 80,000.  The fair market rent for an efficiency unit is $1,158 a month.  An extremely low 
income family of four could only afford a rent of $235 before the family must spend more than one-third 
of their income to pay their rent.  Very low income families can only afford to pay $653 a month before 
the family spends more than one-third of their income on housing.  Lower income families could only 
spend $1,670.  Median income families can afford $1,681 in monthly rent.  Moderate income families can 
afford a two-bedroom unit without spending more than one-third of their income.  Although affordable 
housing may be available for medium and moderate income families, this does not take into consideration 
the likelihood that overcrowding would be an issue for the majority of those families.  This discrepancy 
between income and cost of housing demonstrates that there is insufficient housing for extremely low 
income families, very low income families, lower income families, median income families and moderate 
income families. 

How is affordability of housing likely to change considering changes to home values and/or 
rents? 

The City of Lakewood is a highly urbanized community that is virtually built-out.  There is less than eight 
acres of vacant land available for residential development citywide, and therefore, most of the 
opportunities for affordable housing growth lie in the recycling of existing residential land to higher 
densities in the M-F-R zone.  Because there is a deficiency of land to develop, the premiums for land tend 
to rise.  Affordability of housing is expected to become more and more difficult as the population increases 
and less land is available to develop for residential uses. 

How do HOME rents / Fair Market Rent compare to Area Median Rent? How might this impact 
your strategy to produce or preserve affordable housing? 

Table 33 illustrates the 2018 HUD fair market rents for rental housing, as well as the allowable high and 
low HOME rents.  Their rents are the upper limits of rents that can be charged by property owners with 
units assisted by HUD rental housing programs.  Rapidly increasing rents in the City’s market have widened 
the gap between HUD FMRs and market rents, creating problems for low-income households seeking 
units that will accept their HUD voucher for rent assistance. 

According to Rent Café, average rents in Lakewood are $1,825.  The median family income is $61,015 in 
the County of Los Angeles.  Using HUD’s definition, affordable housing for a household earning up to 80% 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  48 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

of the AMI, would be an apartment renting for about $1,220 which is well below the average rent in the 
City of Lakewood. 

The City of Lakewood, in compliance with the State mandated law, requiring Cities to permit the 
construction of Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU’s) by right, which increases the number of affordable 
housing units in the City.  During FY 18-19, eight ADU’s were constructed. 

Additionally, the City is in possession of nine lots that are reserved for the construction of up to 40 
affordable housing units.  The City anticipates construction of the sites within the following two years.  

Discussion 

Lakewood’s strategy to produce or preserve affordable housing will not be impacted as Lakewood’s rents 
are lower than the County Median.  Additionally, Lakewood is committed to providing affordable housing 
by maintaining its contract with the Los Angeles County Housing Authority.  The City intends to construct 
40 affordable housing units within the next two years providing additional units for low- income families. 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  49 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-20 Housing Market Analysis: Condition of Housing – 91.210(a) 

Introduction 

Although the majority of Lakewood’s housing stock is in good condition, the City is expecting a large 
percentage of the housing to require maintenance within the next ten years due to the age of the housing 
stock. 

Accurate assessment of housing conditions can provide the basis for developing appropriate programs to 
maintain the quality of living in Lakewood. Housing, like any other tangible asset, is susceptible to 
deterioration over time. Declining housing conditions can lower property values and discourage 
reinvestment as well as increase crime and promote slum and blight. 

Common repairs needed include new roofs, wall plaster and stucco.  Homes thirty years or over with 
deferred maintenance require more substantial repairs, such as new siding, plumbing or multiple repairs 
to the roof, walls, etc. 

Describe the jurisdiction's definition for "substandard condition" and "substandard condition 
but suitable for rehabilitation: 

Definitions 

The California Health and Safety Code define a substandard condition as being an endangerment to the 
occupants for the building or the public.  The City of Lakewood considers a substandard condition suitable 
for rehabilitation when the estimated cost of rehabilitation does not exceed the estimated cost of new 
construction.  This includes units having structural hazards, faulty weather protection, fire, health and 
safety hazards, or lacking complete kitchen or plumbing facilities.  Standard condition is defined as 
complying with the California Health and Safety Code. 

Condition of Units 

Condition of Units Owner-Occupied Renter-Occupied 

Number % Number % 

With one selected Condition 5,955 33% 3,860 50% 

With two selected Conditions 235 1% 620 8% 

With three selected Conditions 0 0% 20 0% 

With four selected Conditions 0 0% 0 0% 

No selected Conditions 12,120 66% 3,270 42% 
Total 18,310 100% 7,770 100% 

Table 34 - Condition of Units 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS  

 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  50 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Year Unit Built 

Year Unit Built Owner-Occupied Renter-Occupied 
Number % Number % 

2000 or later 104 1% 125 2% 

1980-1999 705 4% 1,105 14% 

1940-1979 15,085 82% 5,805 75% 

Before 1939 2,415 13% 735 9% 
Total 18,309 100% 7,770 100% 

Table 35 – Year Unit Built 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS 

 

Risk of Lead-Based Paint Hazard 
Risk of Lead-Based Paint Hazard Owner-Occupied Renter-Occupied 

Number % Number % 

Total Number of Units Built Before 1980 17,500 96% 6,540 84% 

Housing Units built before 1980 with children present 495 3% 140 2% 

Table 36 – Risk of Lead-Based Paint 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS (Total Units) 2011-2015 CHAS (Units with Children present) 

 

Vacant Units 

 Suitable for 
Rehabilitation 

Not Suitable for 
Rehabilitation 

Total 

Vacant Units 765 0 765 

Abandoned Vacant Units    

REO Properties    
Abandoned REO Properties    

Table 37 - Vacant Units 
Data Source: 2011-2015 CHAS Data on vacant units or suitability for rehabilitation is not collected by the City of Lakewood  

 

Need for Owner and Rental Rehabilitation 

The majority of the City’s housing stock is in good condition.  However, homes built more than 30 years 
ago are likely to require renovation and maintenance.  According to information available from the U.S. 
Census and County Assessor, more than two-thirds (84.3%) of the existing housing stock in Lakewood was 
built prior to 1970.  Age of the current housing stock in Lakewood strongly suggest there will be an 
increased need for structural improvements to Lakewood’s residential structures during the next decade.  
In general, older homes require greater maintenance which results in higher costs.  This leads to deferred 
maintenance that further deteriorates the physical conditions of the homes in the City.  In addition, older 
deteriorated structures often violate building code standards and lack safety features such as fire 
suppression, home security devices and seismic safety retrofits. 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  51 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 

Only 15.7% of Lakewood’s housing stock was built after 1970.  These homes should meet most of the 
building code standards. 

Lakewood will continue to offer Residential Rehabilitation loans and grants to qualified homeowners in 
the City. Additionally, the City will continue code enforcement activities that target deteriorated and/or 
deteriorating areas and properties.  The City’s Community Conservation Representatives responded to 
1,288 Service Request during 2018 reporting violations of the municipal code that includes property 
maintenance, structural violations, and other unsafe conditions. 

Estimated Number of Housing Units Occupied by Low or Moderate Income Families with LBP 
Hazards 

According to the Los Angeles County Health Department, approximately 2,602 low and moderate income 
households in the City of Lakewood may occupy units with lead-based paint.  Of these units, properties 
most at risk include deteriorated units with leaky roofs and plumbing and rehabilitated units where there 
was not a thorough cleanup with high-phosphate wash after the improvements were completed. 

Discussion 

Based on a sampling of cases, the Childhood Lead Poisoning Program (CLPPP) has identified paint as the 
most commonly associated source of lead based poisoning.  The majority of homes that contain this 
exposure or paint were built prior 1978.  It is estimated that 77% of all residential structures built prior to 
1978 contain lead-based paint and that older structures have the highest percentage.  In order to estimate 
the number of extremely low and low income households occupying lead-based paint units, the number 
of households occupying pre-1979 units is combined with an estimated lead-based paint factor.  The lead-
based paint factor is highest for pre-1940 units, at 90%, and decreases with newer units. 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  52 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-25 Public and Assisted Housing – 91.210(b) 

Introduction 

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles.  

Totals Number of Units 

Program Type 

 Certificate Mod-
Rehab 

Public 
Housing 

Vouchers 
Total Project 

-based 
Tenant -
based 

 

Special Purpose Voucher 

Veterans 
Affairs 

Supportive 
Housing 

Family 
Unification 

Program 

Disabled 
* 

# of units 

vouchers 

available 0 261 2,962 21,798 1 21,797 1,264 1,357 558 

# of accessible 

units                   

*includes Non-Elderly Disabled, Mainstream One-Year, Mainstream Five-year, and Nursing Home Transition 

Table 38 – Total Number of Units by Program Type 
Data 
Source: 

PIC (PIH Information Center) 

 

Describe the supply of public housing developments:  

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 

participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles. 

Describe the number and physical condition of public housing units in the jurisdiction, including 
those that are participating in an approved Public Housing Agency Plan: 

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 

participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles. 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  53 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Public Housing Condition 

Public Housing Development Average Inspection Score 

0 N/A 

Table 39 - Public Housing Condition 

 

Describe the restoration and revitalization needs of public housing units in the jurisdiction: 

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles.  

Describe the public housing agency's strategy for improving the living environment of low- and 
moderate-income families residing in public housing: 

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles.  

Discussion: 

None 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  54 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-30 Homeless Facilities and Services – 91.210(c) 

Introduction 

The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development's Continuum of Care model recognizes 
that all homeless persons are not at the same level of stability and they address a variety of needs.  
Recognized components of the Continuum of Care include: Prevention, Outreach & Assessment, 
Emergency Shelter, Transitional Housing, Permanent Housing and Permanent Supportive Housing, and 
Supportive Services. 

It is the goal of the City of Lakewood to coordinate services and facilities available for the homeless as a 
continuum of care.  A continuum of care begins with a point of entry in which the needs of a homeless 
individual or family are assessed.  Once a needs assessment is completed, the person/family may be 
referred to permanent housing or transitional housing where supportive services are provided to prepare 
them for independent living. 

This section describes the nature and extent of homelessness in Lakewood as well as a summary of 
persons and families at risk of becoming homeless. This section also includes an inventory of programs 
and facilities available to serve the homeless and those threatened by homelessness. Service and facility 
gaps in the continuum of care are also identified. 

Facilities and Housing Targeted to Homeless Households 

 Emergency Shelter Beds Transitional 
Housing Beds 

Permanent Supportive 
Housing Beds 

Year Round 
Beds 

(Current & 
New) 

Voucher / 
Seasonal / 
Overflow 

Beds 

Current & 
New 

Current & 
New 

Under 
Development 

Households with 

Adult(s) and Child(ren) 3,035 0 2,463 0 0 

Households with Only 

Adults 2,425 0 4,263 0 0 

Chronically Homeless 

Households 45 0 0 5,239 0 

Veterans 102 0 34 0 0 

Unaccompanied Youth 53 0 34 0 0 

Table 40 - Facilities and Housing Targeted to Homeless Households 
Data Source 
Comments: HIC 

 

 

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  55 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Describe mainstream services, such as health, mental health, and employment services to the 
extent those services are use to complement services targeted to homeless persons 

The City is located within Service Planning Area (SPA) 7, a division within Los Angeles County designated 
by LAHSA to target the specific needs of the homeless in the community. City staff attends regular monthly 
SPA meetings to address homeless issues through the Continuum of Care (CoC) Model. The City along with 
LAHSA conducts an annual homeless count; this year, FY 2019-2020, approximately 135 persons 
experiencing homelessness were counted within the City of Lakewood.  The official numbers have not yet 
been released by LAHSA. 

Services are provided to people experiencing homelessness in Lakewood by PATH.  Services begin with 
outreach and continue up to one year after a person is permanently housed.  An outreach worker 
(Lakewood Sheriff) and case manager provide services in Lakewood.  Activities in the outreach phase are 
focused on decreasing the barriers to housing and include: 

• Providing Basic Needs such as: clothing, hygiene products and showers and transportation. 

• Assistance obtaining documents necessary for housing i.e. social security card, picture 
identification, DD214, proof of income, disability verification etc. 

• Emergency and temporary housing via SPA 7 facilities and motel placements. 

• Liaison and referral to subsidy providers that include: Los Angeles Homeless Services Authority, 
Veteran’s Administration, Department of Mental Health and non-profit providers like PATH 
Ventures. 

• Access to medical and mental health, substance addiction treatment services, and primary care 
home establishment i.e. Department of Mental Health, Veterans Administration, and federally 
qualified health centers located in the SPA. 

• Benefit establishment assistance for General Relief, Social Security programs, Temporary 
Assistance to Needy Families, and Veteran’s Administration. 

• Referral to employment and education services i.e. Goodwill Industries and local centers of the 
Workforce Investment Board. 

• Housing location and re-location and rapid re-housing assistance. 

Once a person is permanently housed, retention services can continue up to year and include:  

• Household set up assistance 

• Case management, including prevention assistance to maintain housing 

• Home visits 

• Linkage to mainstream support services. 

• Direct services including assistance with Activities of Daily Living such as budgeting, nutrition, 
cooking and housekeeping, establishing service with utilities and telecommunications providers 
and support during the initial phase of housing and the adjustment that come with being 
housed are provided. 

List and describe services and facilities that meet the needs of homeless persons, particularly 
chronically homeless individuals and families, families with children, veterans and their 
families, and unaccompanied youth. If the services and facilities are listed on screen SP-40 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  56 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Institutional Delivery Structure or screen MA-35 Special Needs Facilities and Services, describe 
how these facilities and services specifically address the needs of these populations. 

As specified on screen SP-40, the City partners with PATH and LAHSA to link homeless persons to services 

listed above. 

The Burns Community Center is the headquarters for homeless assistance in the City estimates that the 
Center assists approximately 25-30 homeless persons a year. City staff is prepared and trained to 
adequately respond to the needs of the homeless. At the Burns Community Center, the homeless receive 
assistance, information, and referral to address their immediate needs, including shelter, food, health 
services, transportation, and employment. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  57 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-35 Special Needs Facilities and Services – 91.210(d) 

Introduction 

Certain segments of Lakewood’s population have special housing needs.  Those segments are in need of 
various forms of specialized housing assistance that is not needed by the typical Lakewood household. 
These groups may include households with physically, mentally and/or developmentally disabled persons, 
elderly individuals, homeless persons, large families, and female-headed households. 

Including the elderly, frail elderly, persons with disabilities (mental, physical, developmental), 
persons with alcohol or other drug addictions, persons with HIV/AIDS and their families, public 
housing residents and any other categories the jurisdiction may specify, and describe their 
supportive housing needs 

Physically Disabled 

Disabled persons need housing assistance, including features such as wider doorways, access ramps in 
place of stairs, and elevators for units with multiple stories.  

Mentally and Developmentally Disabled 

In addition, to some of the more common disabilities that are commonly associated as mental and physical 
disabilities, Lakewood residents with developmental disabilities also need to be considered. According to 
Section 4512 of the California Welfare and Institutions Code, a developmental disability “originates before 
an individual attains age 18 years, continues, or can be expected to continue, indefinitely, and constitutes 
a substantial disability for that individual, which includes mental retardation, cerebral palsy, epilepsy and 
autism.”  This term shall also include disabling conditions found to be closely related to mental 
retardation, but shall not include other handicapping conditions that are solely physical in nature.  

Elderly and Frail Elderly 

The U.S. Census and other programs and regulations define persons 65 years of age and older as elderly.  
Lakewood’s elderly population has special housing needs associated with affordability, maintenance and 
upkeep of their homes, and physical access.  According to the 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-
year estimates an estimated 13 percent of the City’s population of 81,106 was 65 or older, or 10,542 
persons.  This proportion was essentially the same in 2000 (11.9%) and 2015 (11%).  Lakewood’s 
population of people whose income was below the poverty line remained the same.  According to the 
2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-year estimates, seven percent of Lakewood’s seniors fell below 
the poverty line, compared to about six and one half percent in 2015. 

Large Families 

Large families are defined as five or more persons in a household.  Large households are usually included 
as a special needs group because they require larger dwelling units than the market normally provides, 
but larger homes typically are higher-cost units.  In addition, trends in new housing construction indicate 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  58 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

a movement towards smaller units; thus, large families have difficulty finding larger units at affordable 
prices, which result in families living in overcrowded conditions. 

Difficulties in securing housing large enough to accommodate all members of a household are heightened 
for renters because rental units are typically smaller than single-family units.  According Census Data, the 
average household size of owner-occupied units was 3.2 persons, and rent-occupied units housed an 
average of 3.3 persons in Lakewood. 

The increase of households spending more than 30% of their gross income towards rents, and the small 
amount of housing stock with four or more bedrooms (13.5% of total housing stock), the ability for large 
families to find affordable housing has become increasingly difficult. 

Female Headed Households 

According to the 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-year estimates, there were 4,112 female-
headed households living in the City of Lakewood. This represents 15.8 percent of Lakewood’s total 
households.  Approximately 6.2 percent of the households headed by a female had children under 18 
years of age, and approximately 11 percent of these female-headed families were living below poverty.  
All family households, especially those headed by females, typically need affordable units located near 
schools, day care centers, and recreation facilities and services.  Many households find this a severe 
constraint, particularly for the single parent who is unable to work.  As a result of not working, the parent 
cannot provide for basic necessities such as food and housing for their children. 

Describe programs for ensuring that persons returning from mental and physical health 
institutions receive appropriate supportive housing 

Small Family Homes 
 
Small Family Homes provide 24-hour care in the licensee’s family residence for six or fewer children 
who are mentally disabled, developmentally disabled, or physically handicapped, and who require 
special care and supervision as a result of such disabilities. 
 
Group Homes 
 
Group Homes are facilities of any capacity and provide 24-hour non-medical care and supervision to 
children in a structured environment. Group Homes provide social, psychological, and behavioral 
programs for troubled youth. 
 
Adult Residential Facility 
 
Adult Residential Facilities (ARF) are facilities of any capacity that provide 24-hour non-medical care 
for adults ages 18 through 59, who are unable to provide for their own daily needs. Adults may be 
physically handicapped, developmentally disabled, and/or mentally disabled. 

 
Residential Care Facilities for the Elderly 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  59 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Residential Care Facilities for the Elderly (RCFE) provide care, supervision and assistance with 
activities of daily living, such as bathing and grooming. They may also provide incidental medical 
services under special care plans. 
 
The facilities provide services to persons 60 years of age and over and persons under 60 with 
compatible needs. RCFEs may also be known as assisted living facilities, retirement homes, and board 
and care homes. The facilities can range in size from fewer than six beds to over 100 beds. The 
residents in these facilities require varying levels of personal care and protective supervision. 
Because of the wide range of services offered by RCFEs, consumers should look closely at the 
programs of each facility to see if the services will meet their needs. 
 
Social Rehabilitation Facility 
 
A Social Rehabilitation Facility is any facility that provides 24-hours-a-day non-medical care and 
supervision in a group setting to adults recovering from mental illnesses who temporarily need 
assistance, guidance, or counseling. 
 

Specify the activities that the jurisdiction plans to undertake during the next year to address 
the housing and supportive services needs identified in accordance with 91.215(e) with respect 
to persons who are not homeless but have other special needs. Link to one-year goals. 
91.315(e) 

The City will continue with the Meals on Wheels, DASH Transportation, and Dial-A-Ride supportive 
services.  The City will also continue with the Single-Family Residential Rehabilitation Loan and Grant 
programs that assist owner occupied single-family homes with deteriorating structures.  Coordination 
with Pathways Volunteer Hospices that provides in-home long-term volunteer care and support to 
isolated seniors will continue.  The contract with the County of Los Angeles for the administration of its 
Section 8 program will continue while the City continues to financially support Fair Housing services, 
Community Family Guidance Center and the Human Services Association.  The City will also continue to 
fund one full-time Sheriff Deputy to assist the continuum of care with homeless outreach. 

For entitlement/consortia grantees: Specify the activities that the jurisdiction plans to 
undertake during the next year to address the housing and supportive services needs identified 
in accordance with 91.215(e) with respect to persons who are not homeless but have other 
special needs. Link to one-year goals. (91.220(2)) 

The City of Lakewood is not part of a consortia. 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  60 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-40 Barriers to Affordable Housing – 91.210(e) 

Negative Effects of Public Policies on Affordable Housing and Residential Investment 

Governmental constraints are defined as government decisions or actions that have the unintended 
potential to impede the market’s ability to satisfy demand for affordable housing.  Categories of 
governmental constraints may include appropriately zoned land, zoning ordinances, and the availability 
of infrastructure.  Each of these is listed below: 

• Land Use Controls 

• Development Standards 

• Building Codes, Permits, and Processing Procedures 

• Development Fees and Exactions 

• Constraints Due to Limitations of Public Facilities, Services, and/or Infrastructure 

• Constraints on Housing for Persons with Disabilities 

• Other Governmental Constraint 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  61 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-45 Non-Housing Community Development Assets – 91.215 (f) 

Introduction 

SCAG estimated the City’s 2003 employment total at 16,700 which increased to 17,000 jobs in 2005 and 
then down to 15,700 in 2008.  Due in part by the economic downturn following the “housing bubble,” the 
City’s employment total is projected to be 16,800 by 2020 and in 2035 it is projected to be 17,800.  This is 
a projected increase of 6.6 percent between 2003 and 2035.  During the same period, the Gateway Cities 
Subregion is projected to increase by 38% and countywide by 10.8 percent. 

Economic Development Market Analysis 

The U.S. Census estimated the 2017 labor force for the City of Lakewood at 51,930.  The labor force by 
definition includes the working population and those wishing to work.  There were an estimated 3,125 
persons unemployed in Lakewood, the resulting unemployment rate was 3.9%.  This rate was lower than 
the 5.6% witnessed during 2015 and more than the unemployment rates from 1980 and 1990.  The 
increase in employment is due to the steady rebound from the recession in 2012.  Employment and the 
labor force have increased dramatically since 1960.  The City labor force grew from 23,900 to an estimated 
45,800 in 2007, an increase of more than 21,900 persons or 91.6%.  This increase is due primarily to:  (a) 
population increase; (b) the entrance of numerous women into the labor force; and (c) the demographic 
shift in age distribution from young to working age residents. Each of these three factors will continue to 
cause increases in the labor force, although at lower rates than in the last few decades. 

Unemployment in Lakewood has historically been lower than the region and the nation.  According to the 
U.S. Census 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Lakewood’s 2017 unemployment 
rate reached 3.9% compared to 4.3% for the County, 4.2% for the State and 3.6% for the nation.  The 
stability of the population and labor force is an important factor in keeping the local unemployment rate 
low. 

Table 41 below shows the number of employees for occupations of Lakewood residents based on ACS 
Survey 2011-2015.  Table 43 shows the largest segment of the residents is in sales and office occupations 
(10,825), followed by management business and financial occupations (9,515), the number of people in 
service occupations fell sharply to 3,650 residents. 

The state of the economy and its effect on employment and job growth plays a significant role in housing 
demand, housing costs, and vacancy rates.  During the post housing bubble recession, the median home 
price of homes dropped in Lakewood, and the vacancy rate increased.  As the economy recovered 
employment increased which will improve the City’s jobs/housing balance.  The 2019 Local Profiles noted 
that in 2016 the number of jobs in Lakewood was 20,938 while there were 27,552 housing units.  This 
indicates that Lakewood is a jobs-poor and housing-rich city.  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  62 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Economic Development Market Analysis 

Business Activity 

Business by Sector Number of 
Workers 

Number of 
Jobs 

Share of 
Workers 

% 

Share of 
Jobs 

% 

Jobs less 
workers 

% 
Agriculture, Mining, Oil & Gas Extraction 425 7 1 0 -1 

Arts, Entertainment, Accommodations 4,402 4,406 13 27 13 

Construction 1,577 366 5 2 -3 

Education and Health Care Services 5,620 3,280 17 20 3 

Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate 1,889 574 6 3 -2 

Information 841 244 3 1 -1 

Manufacturing 3,592 472 11 3 -8 

Other Services 1,133 554 3 3 0 

Professional, Scientific, Management 

Services 2,939 616 9 4 -5 

Public Administration 0 0 0 0 0 

Retail Trade 3,850 5,490 12 33 22 

Transportation and Warehousing 2,027 43 6 0 -6 

Wholesale Trade 2,309 114 7 1 -6 

Total 30,604 16,166 -- -- -- 

Table 41 - Business Activity 
Data 
Source: 

2011-2015 ACS (Workers), 2015 Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics (Jobs) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  63 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Labor Force 

Total Population in the Civilian Labor Force 42,870 

Civilian Employed Population 16 years and 

over 39,680 

Unemployment Rate 7.46 

Unemployment Rate for Ages 16-24 20.09 

Unemployment Rate for Ages 25-65 4.85 

Table 42 - Labor Force 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 

Occupations by Sector Number of People  

Management, business and financial 9,515 

Farming, fisheries and forestry occupations 1,860 

Service 3,650 

Sales and office 10,825 

Construction, extraction, maintenance and 

repair 3,045 

Production, transportation and material 

moving 2,330 

Table 43 – Occupations by Sector 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 

Travel Time 

Travel Time Number Percentage 

< 30 Minutes 20,300 54% 

30-59 Minutes 13,535 36% 

60 or More Minutes 3,650 10% 
Total 37,485 100% 

Table 44 - Travel Time 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  64 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Education: 

Educational Attainment by Employment Status (Population 16 and Older) 

Educational Attainment In Labor Force  

Civilian Employed Unemployed Not in Labor 
Force 

Less than high school graduate 2,960 250 1,500 

High school graduate (includes 

equivalency) 6,495 680 2,205 

Some college or Associate's degree 13,370 840 3,190 

Bachelor's degree or higher 10,995 400 1,955 

Table 45 - Educational Attainment by Employment Status 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 

Educational Attainment by Age 

 Age 

18–24 
yrs 

25–34 yrs 35–44 yrs 45–65 
yrs 

65+ yrs 

Less than 9th grade 55 330 600 1,090 1,045 

9th to 12th grade, no diploma 790 485 585 1,620 850 

High school graduate, GED, or 

alternative 2,540 1,880 2,420 5,075 2,915 

Some college, no degree 3,415 2,835 2,960 6,820 2,180 

Associate's degree 420 740 1,530 2,535 805 

Bachelor's degree 650 2,745 2,655 4,320 1,025 

Graduate or professional degree 10 730 1,115 1,810 705 

Table 46 - Educational Attainment by Age 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 

Educational Attainment – Median Earnings in the Past 12 Months 

Educational Attainment Median Earnings in the Past 12 Months 

Less than high school graduate 25,533 

High school graduate (includes equivalency) 36,160 

Some college or Associate's degree 46,032 

Bachelor's degree 59,053 

Graduate or professional degree 68,140 

Table 47 – Median Earnings in the Past 12 Months 
Data Source: 2011-2015 ACS 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  65 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Based on the Business Activity table above, what are the major employment sectors within 
your jurisdiction? 

According to the Business Activity table above, the major employment sector in Lakewood are education 
and health care services with 5,620 workers within those sectors.  Lakewood has 4,402 workers within 
the arts, entertainment and accommodation sector and 3,850 within the retail trade sector. 

Describe the workforce and infrastructure needs of the business community: 

In 2015, there were 42,870 members of the workforce in Lakewood.  According to SCAG 2017 Profile of 
Lakewood to more than half (57%) of the workforce of Lakewood has a commute time that is less than 30 
minutes in 2016, indicating that there are a number places of employment that are in close proximity to 
Lakewood residents.  Approximately one-third (35%) had a commute time of 30-59 minutes.  Only 9% of 
the workforce had a commute time of more than hour.  Although the majority of the workforce enjoyed 
a relatively short commute, there were still a large population, (18,863) who spent more than 30 minutes 
commuting to work. 

A comparatively small percentage of Lakewood’s land is devoted to commercial and industrial uses which 
lends to a dependence on other communities for employment.  It is in the interest of the economic health 
of Lakewood to maintain the existing stock of non-residential uses.  As employment figures indicate, the 
City is housing-rich and jobs-poor. 

Describe any major changes that may have an economic impact, such as planned local or 
regional public or private sector investments or initiatives that have affected or may affect job 
and business growth opportunities during the planning period. Describe any needs for 
workforce development, business support or infrastructure these changes may create. 

The shift of the nation’s economy to a service economy is clearly reflected in the City of Lakewood.  
According to the 2015 ACS estimates, Lakewood is predominantly a “public services” community, as 
evidenced by the high percentage (18.4%) of its residents working in the educational, health, and social 
services industry.  This is a significant shift from the employment trends of the 1980’s, which showed the 
highest portion of the labor force in the manufacturing sector.  Even within the last five years (2010-2015), 
the manufacturing industry declined from being 14.1% to 11.7% of the total labor force population.  The 
reduction is due primarily to a combination of three key issues: (1) less dependence on Boeing Company’s 
operations in Long Beach; (2) more labor sector options in the City of Lakewood over the last 34 years; 
and (3) the entrance of numerous women into the labor force.  In 2015, an estimated 50.1% of the City’s 
female population was in the labor force, as compared to the County’s 45.8% and the State’s 45.9%. 

How do the skills and education of the current workforce correspond to employment 
opportunities in the jurisdiction? 

As indicated in Table 45, Educational Attainment by Employment Status, the majority of the workforce 
(13,370) have some college or an Associate’s degree.  There are 10,995 residents with a Bachelor’s or 
Graduate degree.  According to ACS, the largest segment of the residents is in sales and office (10,825) 
the second largest is management and professional occupations (9,515). 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  66 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

The skills and education of the current workforce corresponds with Lakewood’s employment 
opportunities as the majority of the population has some college or an associate’s degree and a majority 
of the population is in the sales and office sector, a career type that does not necessarily require a college 
degree.  The second largest population of the workforce has a bachelors or graduate degree and the 
second largest population in Lakewood is in management and professional career which typically does 
require a college degree. 

Describe any current workforce training initiatives, including those supported by Workforce 
Investment Boards, community colleges and other organizations. Describe how these efforts 
will support the jurisdiction's Consolidated Plan. 

Southeast Los Angeles County Workforce Investment Board (SELACO WIB) and the Greater Lakewood 
Chamber of Commerce are two organizations affiliated with the City of Lakewood that provide workforce 
training initiatives for residents of Lakewood.  SELACO WIB’s mission is two-fold.  As a workforce 
development agency, they support a pool of quality job seekers in addition to promoting the growth of 
local businesses. SELACO WIB has a menu of specialized programs that support the needs of our job 
seekers and local employers. They are recognized by both the U.S. Department of Labor and the State of 
California as a national model for community-based workforce and employment development.  SELACO 
WIB receives funding in the form of grants that allow them to develop new and innovative programs 
designed to meet the employment needs of the community. 

SELACO WIB provides the tools and support to assist the community in job search.  The Career Center in 
Cerritos and the Career Center at the Norwalk EDD office offer a wide variety of no cost workshops, 
programs and assistance to those who are laid off, unemployed or underemployed. 

SELACO WIB Career Centers offer a comprehensive array of resources and information available on 
everything from occupation and career exploration, current labor market information, financial aid 
information to how to conduct an effective job search campaign. SELACO WIB clients have immediate 
access to computers for Internet job search, to create resumes, covers letters, or other business and job 
application correspondence. Job seekers also have immediate access to current job openings via the 
Internet, California Employment Development Department’s (EDD) CalJOBS Website, local newspapers 
and periodicals and a roomful of job listings. 

Job seekers may also access partner services such as Employment Development Department, Veteran 
Services, 55+ Employment Services, Disability Services, and more. 

Additional assistance is available if clients are not finding success in their job search efforts.  Clients have 
access to trained professionals called Career Development Specialists (CDS). CDSs can help in the following 
areas: 

• Make appropriate and practical career decisions. 
• Provide up-to-date labor market information. 
• Provide information about educational and vocational training programs. 
• Provide information on facilities and financial aid assistance. 
• Help develop practical action plans to achieve career goals. 
• Provide testing services to determine career interests, aptitudes, etc. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  67 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 
The SELACO WIB, along with training partners, provide assistance to employers by making sure that 
employers receives the most current, comprehensive and cost-effective education and training available.  
SELACO WIB’s services include: 

• Staffing and recruitment 

• On-the-Job Training 

• Layoff and outplacement assistance 

• Employee training and professional development      

The Greater Lakewood Chamber of Commerce supports several councils for employment.  The Chamber’s 
focus is Women in Business Council, Homebased Business Council, and a Veteran’s Home Based business 
council.  The Homebased business councils provide training for start up businesses.  These efforts support 
the Consolidated Plan by facilitating networking through meetings, referrals and leads, workshops, job 
training, and assistance. 

Does your jurisdiction participate in a Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy 

(CEDS)? 

Yes. 

If so, what economic development initiatives are you undertaking that may be coordinated 
with the Consolidated Plan? If not, describe other local/regional plans or initiatives that impact 
economic growth. 

The City of Lakewood is a member of Gateway Cities Council of Governments (COG).  COG has 
implemented Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) in 2015.  CEDS is a strategy 
designed to foster job creation and diversify the economic base of the Gateway Cities Region.  The 
following principles guided the development the development of the Gateway Cities Region’s vision and 
goals: 

1. Seek regional collaboration to address chronic and complex problems that transcend municipal 
boundaries 
a. Develop synergies by increasing coordination and reducing duplication of resources 
b. Pursue innovative public-private partnerships 
c. Leverage public funds 

2. Target investments in hard and soft infrastructure to reduce disparities in transportation 
(highways/public transit), education, health care, etc. 

3. Enhance focus on education, technical/soft skills training, career pathways for youth and retrain 
dislocated adult workers 

4. Invest in the information and communication technology across industry sectors 
5. Capitalize on industry sectors that exhibit regional specialization such as manufacturing, 

transportation and logistics, wholesale trade, and emerging sector such as health care 
6. Streamline processes to retain and attract new businesses 
7. Promote entrepreneurship and innovation by facilitation access to capital 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  68 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Discussion 

As mentioned above, SELACO WIB and the Greater Lakewood Chamber of Commerce are two 
organizations affiliated with the City of Lakewood that provide workforce training initiatives for residents 
of Lakewood.  SELACO WIB’s mission is two-fold.  As a workforce development agency, they support a 
pool of quality job seekers in addition to promoting the growth of local businesses. SELACO WIB has a 
menu of specialized programs that support the needs of our job seekers and local employers. They are 
recognized by both the U.S. Department of Labor and the State of California as a national model for 
community-based workforce and employment development.  SELACO WIB receives funding in the form 
of grants that allow them to develop new and innovative programs designed to meet the employment 
needs of the community. 

The Greater Lakewood Chamber of Commerce supports several councils for employment.  The Chamber’s 
focus is Women in Business Council, Homebased Business Council, and a Veteran’s Home Based business 
council.  The Homebased business councils provide training for start-up businesses.  These efforts support 
the Consolidated Plan by facilitating networking through meetings, referrals and leads, workshops, job 
training, and assistance. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  69 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

MA-50 Needs and Market Analysis Discussion  

Are there areas where households with multiple housing problems are concentrated? (include 
a definition of "concentration") 

Low and moderate income high concentration is defined as census block group with more than 51% low 
and moderate income population.  Lakewood is an exception CDBG grantee.  The percentage of low and 
moderate income concentration is defined as a census block group with more than 43.5% low and 
moderate income population. 

According to 2011-2015 ACS, areas where there are concentrated households with multiple problems 
include the following census tracts: 

5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5551.04, 5700.01, 5700.03, 5708.00, 5714.00, and 5715.03 

Are there any areas in the jurisdiction where racial or ethnic minorities or low-income families 
are concentrated? (include a definition of "concentration") 

For the purposes of the Consolidated Plan, the City defines an area of minority concentration as a census 
tract in which there exists a greater proportion of total households than the County average, while a high 
concentration is defined as a proportion of more than twice the County average. The County averages for 
the racial groups are as follows: 

• African American:       8.3% 

• Asian:                       13.5% 

• Hispanic:                   47.7% 

There are areas where African Americans with low and moderate incomes are concentrated and area 
where there are high concentrations. 

Concentrated Census Tracts include: 

5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5551.04, 5700.01, 5700.02, 5700.03, 5707.01, 5707.02, 5708.00, 
5709.02, 5713.00, 5714.00 and 5715.03. 

High Concentrated Census Tracts include: 

5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5700.01, 5700.03, 5707.01, 5707.02, 5714.00 and 5715.03. 

Areas where Asians with low and moderate incomes are concentrated and include the following census 
tracts: 

5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5551.04, 5700.01, 5700.02, 5700.03, 5707.01, 5707.2, 5708.00, 
5709.01, 5709.02, 5714.00 and 5715.03. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  70 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Areas where Asians with low and moderate incomes are high concentrated and include the following 
census tracts: 

5550.01, 5551.02, 5551.03, 5551.04, 5700.01, 5700.03, 5707.01, 5707.2, 5709.01, 5714.00 and 5715.03. 

Areas where Hispanics with low and moderate incomes are concentrated and include the following census 
tracts: 

5550.01, 5550.02, 5551.02, 5700.01, 5700.02, 5700.03, 5707.01, 5707.02, 5708.00, 5709.02, 5710.00, 
5713.00, 5714.00, and 5714.00 

Areas where Hispanics with low and moderate incomes are high concentrated and include the following 
census tracts: 

5551.02 and 5700.03 

What are the characteristics of the market in these areas/neighborhoods? 

The characteristics in many of these neighborhoods are multiple-family residential dwelling units and an 
aging population. 

Are there any community assets in these areas/neighborhoods? 

Community assets include City Parks, Community Centers, public schools, access to transit, and 
commercial centers. 

Are there other strategic opportunities in any of these areas? 

There are other strategic opportunities in these areas.  All areas have access to Long Beach Transit public 
transportation which provides transportation to community facilities.  Other forms of public 
transportation include Metropolitan Transportation Authority and Orange County Transportation 
Authority. 

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  71 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Strategic Plan 

SP-05 Overview 

Strategic Plan Overview 

The City of Lakewood has prepared a strategy for addressing the housing and community development 
needs described in the Consolidated Plan during the next five years.  By law, the strategy must be designed 
to achieve the following, principally for low and moderate-income households: 

• Provide decent housing; 

• Promote a suitable living environment; and 

• Expand economic opportunities.  

The plan must also address: 

• Elimination of slums and blight. 

• Elimination of conditions which are detrimental to health, safety, and public welfare. 

• Conservation and expansion of housing stock. 

• Expansion and improvement of the quantity and quality of community services. 

• Better utilization of land and other natural resources. 

• Reduction of the isolation of income groups within communities/ geographical areas. 

• Alleviation of physically and economically distressed areas. 

Lakewood’s Housing and Community Development Strategy includes the goals, policies, and quantified 
objectives of the community and the City’s Housing Element as well as other Lakewood planning and 
policy documents.  The goals and objectives established therein and in the Consolidated Plan provide a 
practical and workable framework in which the Planning and Environment Commission and the City 
Council may take action and affect the housing and neighborhood conditions of the community. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  72 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-10 Geographic Priorities – 91.215 (a)(1) 

Geographic Area 

Table 48 - Geographic Priority Areas 

1 Area Name: 5550.01 BG 1 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 44.5% 

Revital Type:  Other 
Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Cerritos to the North, Centralia Street to the 
South, San Gabriel River to the West, 605 Fwy to the 
East  

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family Residential, mobile home park, and a 
small commercial center 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Promote a suitable living environment 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area? 

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

2 Area Name: 5550.01 BG 2 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 44.68% 
Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Cerritos to the North, East and West and Del 
Amo Boulevard to the South. 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family Residential and medium-sized 
commercial center 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Promote a suitable living environment 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  73 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

3 Area Name: 5550.01 BG 3 
Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 51.04% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Cerritos to the North, Centralia Street to the 
South, 605 Fwy to the West, Roseton Avenue to the 
East. 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Mix of Single-Family and Multi-Family Residential 
properties, small commercial centers. 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Promote a suitable living environment 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

4 Area Name: 5550.01 BG 4 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 69.61% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 
Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

Del Amo Boulevard to the North, Centralia Street to 
the South, Roseton Avenue to the West, Pioneer 
Boulevard to the East 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Apartment buildings mixed with a few Single-Family 
homes, small commercial centers 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Four vacant sites slated for affordable housing 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  74 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

5 Area Name: 5550.02 BG 1 
Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 60.68% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

Centralia Street to the North, City of Hawaiian 
Gardens to the South, 605 Fwy to the West, Roseton 
Avenue to the East. 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Multi-Family units and small commercial centers 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

US Census data 

Identify the needs in this target area. Promote a suitable living environment 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

6 Area Name: 5550.02 BG 2 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 49.76% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 
Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

Centralia Street to the North, City of Long Beach to 
the South San Gabriel River to the West, 605 Fwy to 
the East. 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Mix of Single-Family, Multi-Family Residential 
properties, a trailer park and small commercial 
centers 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Promote a suitable living environment 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  75 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

7 Area Name: 5551.02 BG 1 
Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 61.39% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

Del Amo Boulevard to the North, City of Hawaiian 
Gardens to the South, Pioneer Boulevard to the West, 
Norwalk Boulevard to the East 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Apartment buildings mixed with a few Single-Family 
homes, small commercial centers 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area.  

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

8 Area Name: 5551.02 BG 2 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 77.06% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 
Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

209th Street to the North, City of Hawaiian Gardens to 
the South and East, Pioneer Boulevard to the West, 
Norwalk Boulevard to the West 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Apartment buildings mixed with a few Single-Family 
homes, small commercial centers 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Promote suitable living environment 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Park and facility improvements 

  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  76 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

9 Area Name: 5551.03 BG 2 
Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 51.53% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Cerritos to the North, Centralia Street to the 
South, Bloomfield Avenue to the West, City of Cypress 
to the East 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family homes small commercial center 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

10 Area Name: 5551.04 BG 1 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 46.59% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 
Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

Centralia Street to the North, City of Hawaiian 
Gardens to the West and South, City of Cypress to the 
East 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family homes, small commercial center 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  77 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

11 Area Name: 5700.01 BG 2 
Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 44.19% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

North of South Street  

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family homes mixed with a couple apartment 
buildings and a small commercial center 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

12 Area Name: 5700.01 BG 4 
Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 50.00% 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Bellflower to the North, Bellflower Boulevard 
to the West 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family homes small commercial centers 
adjacent to Bellflower Boulevard 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

Area Name: 5700.03 BG 1 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  78 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

13 Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 
% of Low/Mod: 43.05 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Bellflower to the North, South Street to the 
South, Clark Avenue to the East 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family homes.   

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

14 Area Name: 5700.03 BG 3 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 
% of Low/Mod: 47.06 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Bellflower to the North, South Street to the 
South, Lakewood Boulevard to the West 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family homes, small commercial center 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

15 Area Name: 5700.03 BG 4 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 
HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  79 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

% of Low/Mod: 52.33 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 
Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Long Beach to the West, Lakewood Boulevard 
to the East, South Street to the South 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single-Family homes mixed with multi-family units and 
small commercial centers 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

16 Area Name: 5708.00 BG 1 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 46.45 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 
Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

South Street to the North, Candlewood Street to the 
South, Bellflower Boulevard to the East and Pearce 
Avenue to the West 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single family homes and a small commercial center 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

17 Area Name: 5714.00 BG 3 

Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Target Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 71.5 
Revital Type:  Other 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  80 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

Generally Carson Street to the North, City of Long 
Beach to the South, East and West 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Housing includes apartment buildings, a caretakers 
unit for a self-storage facility; commercial 
characteristics include a large commercial center, 
industrial and manufacturing uses 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Expand economic opportunities 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Amend the Municipal Code to allow more uses 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

18 Area Name: 5715.03 BG 1 
Area Type: Local Target area 

Other Target Area Description: CDBG Exception Criteria Area 

HUD Approval Date: 4/1/2019 

% of Low/Mod: 49.75 

Revital Type:  Other 

Other Revital Description: Code Enforcement 

Identify the neighborhood boundaries 
for this target area. 

City of Long Beach to the North, West and South, 
Cherry Avenue to the East 

Include specific housing and 
commercial characteristics of this 
target area. 

Single family homes and a small industrial site 

How did your consultation and citizen 
participation process help you to 
identify this neighborhood as a target 
area? 

HUD identified CDBG entitlement area 

Identify the needs in this target area. Provide decent housing 

What are the opportunities for 
improvement in this target area?     

Home improvement programs 

Are there barriers to improvement in 
this target area? 

Funding 

 

General Allocation Priorities 

Describe the basis for allocating investments geographically within the jurisdiction (or within the EMSA 
for HOPWA) 

Lakewood’s Housing and Community Development Strategy includes general priorities for allocating funds 
geographically in the City; the rationale for assigning the priority; the quantifiable objective to meet the 
priority; the funding sources used to meet the objective; and the activities approved to meet the 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  81 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

objectives.  To prevent the concentration of low-income persons, the majority of the City’s programs are 
provided throughout the City and marketed to all neighborhood areas.  However, based on federal 
eligibility issues for low-income households, some areas of the City may experience greater CDBG 
investment than others. 

HUD defines a community’s priority need levels as follows:  

• High Priority:  Activities to address this need will be funded by the City during the five-year 
period. 

• Medium Priority:  If funds are available, activities to address this need may be funded during the 
five-year period.  Also, the City may take other actions to help this group locate other sources of 
funds. 

• Low Priority:  The City will not directly fund activities using funds to address this need during the 
five-year period, but other agencies’ applications for federal assistance might be supported and 
found to be consistent with this plan.  

• No Such Need:  The City finds there is no need or that this need is already substantially 
addressed.  The City will not support other entities applications for federal assistance for 
activities where no such need has been identified.   

The Lakewood Consolidated Plan Strategy is outlined and presented as follows: 

• Affordable Housing, Homeless, and Other Special Needs Strategy 

• Non-Housing Community Development Strategy Plan 

• Summary of Eligible Housing and Non-Housing Community Development Block Grant  Activities 

• Anti-Poverty Strategy 

• Reduction of Barriers to Affordable Housing 

• Institutional Structure and Intergovernmental Cooperation 

• Public Housing Improvements 

Activities 

• Anti-Poverty Strategy 

• Reduction of Barriers to Affordable Housing 

• Institutional Structure and Intergovernmental Cooperation 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  82 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  83 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

5551.02 Housing Characteristics 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  84 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  85 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  86 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-25 Priority Needs - 91.215(a)(2) 

Priority Needs 

Table 49 – Priority Needs Summary 

1 Priority Need 
Name 

Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Priority Level High 

Population Extremely Low, Very Low, and Low income households, Large Families, Families 
with Children and Senior Citizens 

Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

City Wide 

Associated 
Goals 

Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Description Preservation and rehabilitation of existing housing is essential to meeting the 
housing needs of the community.  The Needs Assessment section of this 
Consolidated Plan identified a considerable need for residential rehabilitation, 
property maintenance, and code enforcement, based on the age of the City’s 
housing stock.  Maintenance and improvement help preserve and protect homes 
while providing decent and suitable living environments.  When housing stock is 
maintained rather than replaced through neglect, construction efforts can be 
targeted at new housing projects that increase housing stock,. 

Basis for 
Relative 
Priority 

The City offers a Single-Family Rehabilitation Loan and Grant Program to low 
income residents.  These programs are designed to assist residents to age in place 
and maintain a suitable housing stock. 

2 Priority Need 
Name 

Housing Development 

Priority Level High 

Population Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and Moderate income households 

Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

Census Tract 5550.01 

Associated 
Goals 

Housing Development 

Description Development of new housing on sites suitable for residential use to expand the 
supply and choice of units for all household incomes. 

Basis for 
Relative 
Priority 

The City is in possession of nine Housing Successor Agency sites that can be 
developed with a total of 40 affordable housing units. 

3 Priority Need 
Name 

Housing Assistance 

Priority Level High 

Population Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and Moderate income households 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  87 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

City Wide 

Associated 
Goals 

Housing Assistance 

Description Assistance to extremely low to moderate income households with special needs. 

Basis for 
Relative 
Priority 

 

4 Priority Need 
Name 

Equal Housing Opportunity 

Priority Level High 

Population Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and Moderate income households,  Large 
Families, Families with Children and Elderly 

Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

City Wide 

Associated 
Goals 

Equal Housing Opportunity 

Description All housing in the City will be available equally to all persons without restrictions 
based on race, color, ethnicity, national origin, religion, sex, marital status, 
disability, or familial status. 

Basis for 

Relative 

Priority 

The demand for Fair Housing services in the City of Lakewood is high.  During FY 
2018-2019, Lakewood’s Fair Housing consultant served 356 individuals and 242 
households.  Services include discrimination, tenant landlord problems and 
predatory lending issues.  This service in a high priority for Lakewood residents. 

5 Priority Need 
Name 

Improve and Provide Community Facilities 

Priority Level High 

Population Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and Moderate Income households,  Large 
Families, Families with Children and Senior Citizens 

Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

City Wide 

Associated 
Goals 

Improve and Provide Community Facilities 

Description Make necessary infrastructure improvements to serve extremely low to 
moderate income persons and senior citizens. 

Basis for 

Relative 

Priority 

Lakewood’s community facilities are in need of modernization, ADA upgrades, 
maintenance and repairs due to their age. Lakewood’s community centers are a 
vital part of Lakewood’s community as evidenced by the many activities that take 
place in the facilities. 

6 Priority Need 
Name 

Provide Community Services 

Priority Level High 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  88 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Population Extremely Low, very low, low and moderate income households, large families, 
families with children, senior citizens, frail senior citizens, Persons with Mental 
Disabilities, Persons with Physical Disabilities, Persons with Developmental 
Disabilities, Persons with Alcohol or Other Addictions, Persons with HIV/AIDS and 
their Families, Victims of Domestic Violence, Non-housing Community 
Development 

Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

City Wide 

Associated 
Goals 

Provide Community Services 

Description Assist the community by providing services including counseling, meals, and 
hospice care as well as educating residents on services provided. 

Basis for 
Relative 
Priority 

The City of Lakewood has an aging population in need of services to assist them in 
remaining in their homes. 

7 Priority Need 
Name 

Assistance to the Continuum of Care 

Priority Level High 

Population Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and Moderate income households, Large Families, 
Families with Children and Senior Citizens 

Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

City Wide 

Associated 
Goals 

Provide Assistance to Continuum of Care 

Description Provide support services to homeless persons in need.  Support services include 
emergency food, referrals to qualified social service providers and transportation 
to their facilities, and use of the telephone when persons are calling for assistance.  

Basis for 
Relative 
Priority 

The number of homeless persons in Lakewood has increased to 135 and to over 
5,000 in SPA 7.   

8 Priority Need 
Name 

Economic Development 

Priority Level High 

Population Non-housing Community Development 

Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

City Wide 

Associated 
Goals 

Economic Development 

Description Promote economic revitalization and development opportunities.  

Basis for 
Relative 
Priority 

Through the State’s tax revenue take-away, approximately $3,000,000.00 
annually, the City is operating in the red and services provided to the community 
will be compromised if the City is unable to re-coup those losses. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  89 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

9 Priority Need 
Name 

Urgency Need 

 Priority Level High 

 Population Non-housing Community Development 

 Geographic 
Areas 
Affected 

City Wide 

 Associated 
Goals 

Disaster Relief 

 Description To prevent, prepare for, and respond to Federal, State or Locally declared 
emergencies, disasters or crisis. 

 Basis for 
Relative 
Priority 

Prompted by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (CARES Act), 
this priority allows the disbursement of CDBG funds during a Federal, State or 
Locally declared emergencies, disasters or crisis. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  90 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-30 Influence of Market Conditions – 91.215 (b) 

Influence of Market Conditions 

Affordable 
Housing Type 

Market Characteristics that will influence  
the use of funds available for housing type 

Tenant Based 
Rental Assistance 
(TBRA) 

Lakewood is comprised of 25,955 households.  Of those households, 9,205 
households or 35.4% are overpaying.  Of those households that are overpaying, 
40.6% (3,745) are renters.  Given the composition of Lakewood’s zoning, the 
majority of land is dedicated to single-family residential, the number of renters 
overpaying for housing is high.  Most families who are overpaying for housing 
are also overcrowded (more than 1 occupant per room).  Approximately 75% of 
Lakewood’s extremely-low income households experience overpaying and 
overcrowding. 

TBRA for Non-
Homeless Special 
Needs 

There are approximately 11,290 disabled residents in the City of Lakewood.  Age 
is a factor in the likelihood of having a disability.  Persons over the age of 65 have 
the highest percentage of disabilities (36.2%). 

New Unit 
Production 

Lakewood has a vacancy rate of approximately 3% which creates competition for 
housing and driving the cost of rents up.  Alleviating some of the cost burden for 
new unit construction provides housing for extremely low to moderate income 
families and helps alleviate competition by adding more units to the market. 

Rehabilitation Although the majority (54.1%) of Lakewood’s housing stock was built between 
1950 and 1959, the housing stock is in good condition.  Providing deferred, not 
interest loans and grants to Lakewood residents who qualify for this CDBG 
funded service has certainly attributed to quality of Lakewood’s housing stock.  
The Rehabilitation Loan pays for upgrades such as roofing, windows, plumbing, 
and electrical.  The Fix-Up Paint-Up grant pays for exterior painting and other 
minor exterior repair and maintenance. 

Acquisition, 
including 
preservation 

Under the former Redevelopment Agency, the City acquired lots throughout the 
City with the intention of combining lots that are adjacent to one another to 
create a larger lot and thereby increasing density to provide more affordable 
housing. 

Table 50 – Influence of Market Conditions 

 

 
 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  91 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-35 Anticipated Resources - 91.215(a)(4), 91.220(c)(1,2) 

Introduction  

Lakewood is faced with meeting challenging new state laws and increasing needs of the community while 
funding from state and federal resources fluctuates and / or decreases.   

Anticipated Resources 

Program Source 
of 

Funds 

Uses of Funds Expected Amount Available Year 1 Expected 
Amount 

Available 
Remainder 
of ConPlan  

$ 

Narrative 
Description Annual 

Allocation: 
$ 

Program 

Income: 
$ 

Prior Year 
Resources: 

$ 

Total: 
$ 

CDBG public – 

federal 

Admin and 
Planning,  
Rehab 
Delivery 
Costs, 
Public 
Improvements 
Public 
Services, 
Continuum of 
Care 492,866 30,000 232,946 755,812 0 

Program 
Income will 
be used to 
fund Public 
Facilities 
Improveme
nts 

Table 51 - Anticipated Resources 

 

Explain how federal funds will leverage those additional resources (private, state and local 
funds), including a description of how matching requirements will be satisfied 

Lakewood’s sole funding source is CDBG, therefore, leveraging additional resources and satisfying 
matching requirements is not applicable to Lakewood.  However, the City partners with a private waste 
disposal company to offer an annual Neighborhood Clean-Up Program that is operated through the City’s 
Code Enforcement program.  The program provides assistance to tenants and property owners in 
disposing of unsightly and unwanted debris in neighborhoods identified as needing assistance.  Each year 
a total of six clean-up events are scheduled and each event has three 40-yard roll-off bins or more 
available to the residents in the vicinity of the bin. Neighborhood residents are notified of the event date 
and community volunteer assistance is provided.  The private waste disposal company donates the bins 
for this yearly event saving the City $9,111.96 in rental fees. 

If appropriate, describe publically owned land or property located within the jurisdiction that 
may be used to address the needs identified in the plan 

The City of Lakewood operates many of the CDBG funded programs and non-CDBG funded programs from 
City property.  For example, Meals on Wheels, Project Shepard, and homeless services are operated out 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  92 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

of the Burns Community Center.  Human Services Association is operated out of Weingart Senior Center, 
LAHSA’s annual homeless count is operated out of the Mayfair Park Swim Pavilion and Fair Housing 
services are operated out of Lakewood City Hall. 

The Recreation and Community Services Department offer many programs to assist Lakewood’s youth.  
For example, After School Activity Zone is a free drop-in after school program for school-age children, 
teens and preteens and is held at city parks.  Activities include playground games, arts and crafts, 
homework help and organized sports leagues through the Lakewood Youth Sports Program. 

Discussion 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  93 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-40 Institutional Delivery Structure – 91.215(k) 

Explain the institutional structure through which the jurisdiction will carry out its consolidated plan 
including private industry, non-profit organizations, and public institutions. 

Responsible Entity Responsible Entity 
Type 

Role Geographic Area 
Served 

Community Family 
Guidance  

Non-Profit Non-homeless special 
needs 
public services 

Jurisdiction 

Lakewood Meals On 
Wheels  

Non-Profit Non-homeless special 
needs 
public services 

Jurisdiction 

Human Services 
Association 

Non-Profit Non-homeless special 
needs 
public services 

Jurisdiction 

Pathways Volunteer 
Hospice 

Non-Profit Non-homeless special 
needs 
public services 

Jurisdiction 

City of Lakewood Government Furthering Fair 
Housing 

Jurisdiction 

LAHSA Government CoC Regional 

PATH Non-Profit CoC Regional 

HACOLA Government Housing Authority Regional 

Table 52 - Institutional Delivery Structure 

Assess of Strengths and Gaps in the Institutional Delivery System 

The City benefits from strong non-profit organizations that provide excellent services to Lakewood’s low 
income residents and aging population.  Community Family Guidance provides counseling services to 
children.  Lakewood Meals on Wheels provides home delivered meals to Lakewood’s senior population.  
Human Services Association provides congregate meals to Lakewood’s senior population.  Pathways 
Volunteer Hospice provides non-medical services to for those facing end of life conditions.  The City 
consults with a Fair Housing consultant to provide fair housing services to its residents. 

The City partners with LAHSA and PATH (People Assisting the Homeless) to provide homeless services, 
shelter and ultimately housing for persons experiencing homelessness in Lakewood.  The gap in this 
institutional delivery system include available funding and land to provide shelter, services and affordable 
housing. 

To remedy these gaps, the City of Lakewood routinely inventories its existing dwelling units to evaluate 
the potential for residential growth.  Existing properties are analyzed by zone designation to determine 
the maximum number of units that could be constructed, despite the development standards for each 
respective zone.  Currently, all residential properties can accommodate affordable housing.  Properties in 
the M-F-R zone have the greatest potential for the development of new dwellings.  Such units may be the 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  94 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

result of building on vacant land or by recycling underutilized M-F-R parcels.  An example of this is the 
development of four vacant sites that are slated for the development 40 affordable housing units. 

Availability of services targeted to homeless persons and persons with HIV and mainstream 
services 

Homelessness Prevention 
Services 

Available in the 
Community 

Targeted to 
Homeless 

Targeted to People 
with HIV 

Homelessness Prevention Services 

Counseling/Advocacy  X  

Legal Assistance    

Mortgage Assistance    

Rental Assistance    

Utilities Assistance X   

Street Outreach Services 

Law Enforcement X X  

Mobile Clinics    

Other Street Outreach Services X X  

Supportive Services 

Alcohol & Drug Abuse  X X 

Child Care X   

Education    

Employment and Employment 

Training  X X 

Healthcare  X X 

HIV/AIDS  X X 

Life Skills  X X 

Mental Health Counseling  X X 

Transportation X X X 

Other 

        

Table 53 - Homeless Prevention Services Summary 

 

Describe how the service delivery system including, but not limited to, the services listed above 
meet the needs of homeless persons (particularly chronically homeless individuals and 
families, families with children, veterans and their families, and unaccompanied youth) 

The City is located within Service Planning Area (SPA) 7, a division within Los Angeles County designated 
by LAHSA to target the specific needs of the homeless in the community. City staff attends regular monthly 
SPA meetings to address homeless issues through the Continuum of Care (CoC) Model. The City along with 
LAHSA conducts an annual homeless count; this year, FY 2019-2020, approximately 135 persons 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  95 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

experiencing homelessness were counted within the City of Lakewood.  The official numbers have not yet 
been released by LAHSA. 

Services are provided to people experiencing homelessness in Lakewood by PATH.  Services begin with 
outreach and continue up to one year after a person is permanently housed.  An outreach worker 
(Lakewood Sheriff) and case manager provide services in Lakewood.  Activities in the outreach phase are 
focused on decreasing the barriers to housing and include: 

• Basic Needs including: clothing, hygiene products and showers and transportation. 

• Assistance obtaining documents necessary for housing i.e. social security card, picture 
identification, DD214, proof of income, disability verification etc. 

• Emergency and temporary housing via motel voucher programs. 

• Liaison and referral to subsidy providers that include: Los Angeles Homeless Services Authority, 
Veteran’s Administration, Department of Mental Health and non-profit providers like PATH, the 
lead agency of the COG program. 

• Access to medical and mental health, substance addiction treatment services, and primary care 
home establishment, i.e. Department of Mental Health, Mental Health America-Housing 
Innovations Program, Veterans Administration, and local medical clinics. 

• Benefit establishment assistance for General Relief, Social Security programs, Temporary 
Assistance to Needy Families, and Veteran’s Administration. 

• Referral to employment and education services, i.e. Goodwill Industries and local centers of the 
Workforce Investment Board. 

• Housing location and re-location assistance. 

• Move in assistance. 

Once a person or family is housed, the focus is housing retention and is provided through case 
management services, coordination and referral. Services are available for up to six months. Activities are 
concentrated on lease adherence, maintenance of services, increased income, maintenance of income, 
community reintegration and family reunification (where appropriate).  These activities are carried out 
through: 

• Direct services that include assistance with Activities of Daily Living such as budgeting, nutrition, 
cooking and housekeeping. Establishing service with utilities and telecommunications providers. 
Support during the initial phase of housing and the adjustment that come with being housed. 

• Assistance with subsidy and lease compliance, i.e. annual reviews, inspections, income reporting. 

• Transportation assistance to include bus tokens and passes and obtaining a disabled bus pass if 
required. 

• Case Coordination with established providers to coordinate ongoing care and access to new 
services if needed. 

• Community Re-integration activities surrounding good neighbor policies, support groups in the 
area, age related services like senior centers, community class offerings and social events. 

  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  96 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Describe the strengths and gaps of the service delivery system for special needs population and 
persons experiencing homelessness, including, but not limited to, the services listed above 

The limited availability of land and public funding sources for affordable housing construction represent 
the major gaps in Lakewood’s housing delivery system.  Generally, affordable housing construction 
requires suitable land and some form of financial incentive and/or government subsidy.  To remedy these 
gaps, the City of Lakewood routinely inventories its existing dwelling units to evaluate the potential for 
residential growth. 

Provide a summary of the strategy for overcoming gaps in the institutional structure and 
service delivery system for carrying out a strategy to address priority needs 

The City will continue to work with developers and non-profit groups in the development of affordable 
housing projects and will continue to seek state and federal funds and other similar financial incentives, 
when available, to facilitate the construction of affordable housing projects. 

The City will engage in the following activities to enhance its coordination with other agencies:  

• The City will continue to coordinate with Los Angeles County and other social service providers to 
provide needed housing and community services for its residents. 

• The City will encourage the cooperation and participation of property owners, public agencies, 
and community organizations with the planning of programs or projects and in their 
implementation to promote community development and address the needs of Lakewood’s 
residents. 

• The City will encourage private sector investments in Lakewood. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  97 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-45 Goals Summary – 91.215(a)(4) 

Goals Summary Information  

Sort 
Order 

Goal Name Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Category Geographic 
Area 

Needs 
Addressed 

Funding Goal 
Outcome 
Indicator 

1 Housing 
Preservation 
and 
Improvement 

2020 2024 Non-
Homeless 
Special 
Needs 

City Wide Housing 
Preservation 
and 
Improvement 

CDBG, 
Housing 
Successor 
Agency 

1,580 Units 

2 Housing 
Development 

2020 2024 Affordable 
Housing 

5550.01 Housing 
Development 

Private 40 Units 

3 Housing 
Assistance 

2020 2024 Affordable 
Housing 

City Wide Housing 
Assistance 

HACOLA 100 
referrals to 
HACOLA 

4 Equal 
Housing 
Opportunity 

2020 2024 Non-
Homeless 
Special 
Needs 

City Wide Equal 
Housing 
Opportunity 

CDBG 1,250 
households 

5 Improve and 
Provide 
Community 
Facilities 

2020 2024 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

5707.01 Improve and 
Provide 
Community 
Facilities 

CDBG Improve 
and 
Provide 
Community 
Facilities 

6 Provide 
Community 
Services 

2020 2024 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

City Wide Provide 
Community 
Services 

CDBG 1,500 
Persons 

7 Provide 
Assistance to 
Continuum of 
Care 

2020 2024 Homeless City Wide Assistance to 
the 
Continuum of 
Care 

CDBG 
and 
General 
Fund 

250 

8 Economic 
Development 

2020 2024 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

City Wide Economic 
Development 

General 
Fund 

 

Table 54 – Goals Summary 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  98 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Goal Descriptions 

1 Goal Name Equal Housing Opportunity 
Goal Description The City will provide funding to the Fair Housing Consultants to administer a 

fair housing complaint intake, enforcement, education, and outreach 
program.  The intended outcome will be the provision of Decent Housing (DH) 
Availability/ Accessibility.  The quantifiable five-year goal is to assist 1,250 
households (250 persons annually). 

2 Goal Name Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Goal Description The City will provide funding to the Single-Family Residential Rehabilitation 
Loan and Fix-Up, Paint-Up Grant programs to assist Low/Moderate income 
persons.  The intended outcome will be the provision of a Suitable Living 
Environment (SLE) and Availability/Accessibility.  The quantifiable FY goal is to 
provide 10 Residential Rehabilitation Loans ($18,000/ea.) and 6 Grants 
($3,000/ea.).  The City will provide funds for Lakewood’s Code Enforcement 
program.  

3 Goal Name Housing Development 
Goal Description Development of up to 40 new affordable housing units on four sites, formerly 

Housing Successor Agency sites, suitable for residential use to expand the 
supply and choice of units for low income families. 

4 Goal Name Improve and Provide Community Facilities 

Goal Description Provides necessary costs associated with modernizing facilities, .including ADA 
upgrades, repairs and maintenance. 

5 Goal Name Provide Assistance to Continuum of Care 
Goal Description Attend regular monthly SPA meetings to address homeless issues through 

the Continuum of Care (CoC) Model.  Provide information and referral to 
social service agencies, emergency food, assistance for transportation and 
use of the telephone to homeless individuals and families at the Burns 
Community Center.  Conduct outreach, provide case management, link 
individuals and families to mainstream resources including: medical, mental 
health, employment, veteran’s benefits and income supports, and ultimately 
permanently house people and link with move in assistance programs 

6 Goal Name Housing Assistance 

Goal Description Assistance to low and moderate income households with special needs. 

7 Goal Name Provide Community Services 

 Goal Description The City will provide funding to four subrecipients to provide services to the 
residents of Lakewood.  Services include home delivered and congregate 
meals for senior citizens, counseling services to emotionally disturbed and 
abused children, and non-medical hospice services to individuals facing end 
of life illnesses. 

8 Goal Name Economic Development 

 Goal Description The City will concentrate efforts to develop economic opportunities in the 
City.   

Table 55 – Goals Description 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  99 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Estimate the number of extremely low-income, low-income, and moderate-income families to 
whom the jurisdiction will provide affordable housing as defined by HOME 91.315(b)(2) 

The City of Lakewood is home to three large developments offering a total of 327 affordable units reserved 
for seniors.  Additionally, the City has completed three smaller scale affordable housing projects offering 
5 units.  Lastly, the City is possession of nine parcels slated for the development of 40 affordable housing 
units. 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  100 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-50 Public Housing Accessibility and Involvement – 91.215(c) 

Need to Increase the Number of Accessible Units (if Required by a Section 504 Voluntary 
Compliance Agreement)  

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles. 

Activities to Increase Resident Involvements 

N/A 

Is the public housing agency designated as troubled under 24 CFR part 902? 

N/A 

Plan to remove the ‘troubled’ designation  

N/A 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  101 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-55 Barriers to affordable housing – 91.215(h) 

Barriers to Affordable Housing 

Governmental constraints are defined as government decisions or actions that have the unintended 
potential to impede the market’s ability to satisfy demand for affordable housing.  Categories of 
governmental constraints may include appropriately zoned land, zoning ordinances, and the availability 
of infrastructure.  Each of these is listed below: 

• Land Use Controls 

• Development Standards 

• Building Codes, Permits, and Processing Procedures 

• Development Fees and Exactions 

• Constraints Due to Limitations of Public Facilities, Services, and/or Infrastructure 

• Constraints on Housing for Persons with Disabilities 

• Other Governmental Constraint 

Strategy to Remove or Ameliorate the Barriers to Affordable Housing 

Since 1989, Lakewood has demonstrated a willingness to encourage housing development of all types. 
The City has approved several zone changes to allow the construction of housing including General 
Commercial (C-4) to Multiple Family Residential (M-F-R) to allow for the building of a 201-unit senior 
citizen apartment complex in 1989, Light Manufacturing (M-1) to Planned Development Single Family 
(PDSF), to allow for the building of 184 single family residences in 1994, Open Space (O-S) to MFR, to allow 
for the building of a 85-unit senior citizen apartment complex in 1996, C-4 to MFR, to allow for the 
conversion of a motel into apartments in 1999, Intermediate Commercial (C-3) to PDSF to all a 20 unit 
single-family residential project in 2003, C-4 to M-F-R in 2014 allowing an existing apartment complex to 
expand by adding 22 additional apartments, O-S to M-F-R to allow a three-unit condominium project in 
2015, and Code amendments to allow for development of a variety of housing types, including those that 
benefit low and moderate income people.  The City makes an effort to fast track projects and process 
permits in a timely manner.  The City intends to maintain its current posture of openness and willingness 
to consider new ideas and eliminate any regulatory barriers under its control in the provision of a variety 
of housing to meet the needs of all income groups. 

  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  102 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

During 2018, the City amended its zoning ordinance to allow the construction of ADUs in Single-Family 
Residential (R-1) zoned properties, as mandated by State Law.  The California Government Code provides 
that ADUs facilitate and expedite the construction of affordable housing; they provide housing for family 
members, students, the elderly, in-home health providers, the disabled, and others at below market prices 
within existing neighborhoods; they may add income and an increased sense of security to 
homeowners; they will provide additional rental housing stock; they offer lower cost housing to 
meet the needs of existing and future residents within existing neighborhoods, while respecting 
architectural character; and they are an essential component of California's housing supply.  The 
ordinance is consistent with current state law and establishes local control of the regulations related to 
ADUs. 
 
The City will continue to work cooperatively within existing legislatively mandated constraints to develop 
or encourage public policies that foster affordable housing development and assistance.   



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  103 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-60 Homelessness Strategy – 91.215(d) 

Reaching out to homeless persons (especially unsheltered persons) and assessing their 

individual needs 

The City of Lakewood participates in the Los Angeles Continuum of Care to address the needs of the 
homeless in a continuum of care model.  This model includes the following components:  outreach intake 
assessment, emergency shelter, transitional housing, permanent supportive housing, and employment 
support services. 

Addressing the emergency and transitional housing needs of homeless persons 

In February 2012, the City amended the Zoning Ordinance to permit emergency shelters by right in the 
M-2 zone.  This is to comply with State law (SB2) requiring that a zone be identified to permit emergency 
shelters by right. This was also identified as a program in the certified Housing Element. 

Helping homeless persons (especially chronically homeless individuals and families, families 
with children, veterans and their families, and unaccompanied youth) make the transition to 
permanent housing and independent living, including shortening the period of time that 
individuals and families experience homelessness, facilitating access for homeless individuals 
and families to affordable housing units, and preventing individuals and families who were 
recently homeless from becoming homeless again. 

The Gateway Cities Council of Governments COG program and the SPA 7 Coordinated Entry System 
provide services to those experiencing homelessness in Lakewood. Services are aimed at reducing 
homelessness through coordination with Lakewood’s human service providers, COG outreach, case 
management and linkages to permanent housing placement. 

Services begin with outreach and continue up to 6 months after a person is permanently housed.  
Activities in the outreach phase are focused on decreasing the barriers to housing and include: Housing 
location and re-location assistance, move in assistance, assistance with subsidy and lease compliance i.e. 
annual reviews, inspections, income reporting, and community Re-integration activities surrounding good 
neighbor policies, support groups in the area, age related services like senior centers, community class 
offerings and social events. 

Help low-income individuals and families avoid becoming homeless, especially extremely low-
income individuals and families who are likely to become homeless after being discharged from 
a publicly funded institution or system of care, or who are receiving assistance from public and 
private agencies that address housing, health, social services, employment, education or youth 
needs 

In Lakewood, some of the most “at risk” of homeless are the low income households that pay more than 
30 percent of their income on housing expenses.  Any disruption to their income, such as the loss of 
employment, a rent increase, or medical expenses, could impair their ability to pay for housing. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  104 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

The at-risk population also includes persons who are in danger of residing in shelters or being unsheltered.  
This is due primarily to the lack of permanent housing and the absence of an adequate support network, 
such as parental family or relatives in which whose homes they could temporarily reside.  These 
individuals, especially those being released from the penal, mental, or substance abuse facilities, and 
some foster homes require a variety of services including counseling, rental assistance and job training to 
help them make a positive transition into society. 

Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program was voluntarily transferred to the Housing Authority of the 
County of Los Angeles (HACoLA) as of July 1, 2011.  Residents on the program’s waiting list who are seeking 
Section 8 Housing Assistance are still given priority over non-residents, even though affordable housing 
within the city limits is difficult to find.  New potential participants who are not currently on the waiting 
list are referred to the HACoLA for further assistance. 

The Assistance Directory at the Burns Community Center enables staff to assist the low-income individuals 
and families, especially extremely low-income individuals and families, who are likely to become homeless 
or who are receiving assistance from public or private agencies to address housing, health, social services, 
employment, education or youth needs. 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  105 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-65 Lead based paint Hazards – 91.215(i) 

Actions to address LBP hazards and increase access to housing without LBP hazards 

To reduce lead-based paint hazard in Lakewood, the City will continue to disseminate information and 
monitor the lead-poisoning data provided by the County.  In addition, the City’s Residential Rehabilitation 
Program will provide funding to low and moderate-income households in making necessary 
improvements and correcting code violations.  Finally, the City will continue to attend HUD training on 
lead based paint reduction requirements and continue to evaluate City programs to address lead hazards. 

How are the actions listed above related to the extent of lead poisoning and hazards? 

The housing stock in Lakewood is relatively old—the majority (over 90%) of the housing stock was built 
before 1979.  Out of the 90%, there are an estimated 2,600 low and moderate income households that 
may be at risk for lead exposure. 

The Los Angeles County Department of Public Health, Child Lead Poisoning Prevention Program, receives 
funds for various educational and outreach activities regarding lead-based hazards and abatement.  The 
Community Development Department will coordinate with the County to ensure information and 
resources are available to the community.  

How are the actions listed above integrated into housing policies and procedures? 

Lakewood’s Community Conservation Program, Code Enforcement, and Residential Rehabilitation 
Program have literature available relative to lead-based paint hazard.  Part of the City’s strategy is to 
increase awareness of the dangers of lead-based paint and encourage the community to obtain screening.  
The City coordinates with the County Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program and County 
Environmental Health Inspectors for information, abatement, and follow-up. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  106 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-70 Anti-Poverty Strategy – 91.215(j) 

Jurisdiction Goals, Programs and Policies for reducing the number of Poverty-Level Families 

A fundamental way to reduce poverty is through job creation and enhancement.  There are a number of 
local, state and Federal programs that focus on job creation and retention.  The most notable is the State 
of California’s welfare reform plan, known as CalWORKS.  CalWORKS is designed to move welfare 
recipients from dependency to self-sufficiency through employment and to divert potential recipients 
from dependency.  Job related education and training are provided through the County of Los Angeles, 
Department of Public Social Services. 

The County’s Department of Public Social Services also administers various programs that provide cash 
aid and other benefits and services to individuals and families in need.  These programs are designed to 
alleviate hardship and promote family health, personal responsibility, and economic independence.  
According to the County, the majority of persons who seek these programs are primarily in need of 
medical assistance and in-home support services. 

How are the Jurisdiction poverty reducing goals, programs, and policies coordinated with this 

affordable housing plan 

The City’s Recreation and Community Services Department refers many persons to the County anti-
poverty programs described above.  The City will continue this endeavor during the five-year planning 
period. 

The City of Lakewood will also continue to work with the Los Angeles County Housing Authority to 
encourage full participation in the Family Self-Sufficiency Program (FSS).  The National Affordable Housing 
Act amended the US Housing Act of 1937 to add this program.  Under this Act, housing authorities that 
receive Section 8 vouchers during federal fiscal year 1993 and thereafter must operate a Family Self-
Sufficiency Program.  The program is intended to assist families in gaining financial self-sufficiency through 
participation in employment training programs.  The trainings help persons develop job skills, further their 
education, receive their high school diploma, and/or improve their literacy to enable them to become 
more employable. 

The City will continue to coordinate efforts with public and private organizations providing economic 
development and job training opportunities.  Some of these are summarized as follows: 

• Southeast Los Angeles County Workforce Investment Board 

• California Trade and Commerce Agency- Team California 

• California Employment Development Department 

• Los Angeles County Regional Occupation Program (ROP) 

In addition, as described in the housing priorities, the City will continue with efforts to preserve, 
rehabilitate, and expand affordable housing.  Maintaining and expanding affordable housing improves the 
quality of housing and neighborhood involvement, particularly for households in poverty.  Programs 
include the Residential Rehabilitation Program and Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  107 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

SP-80 Monitoring – 91.230 

Describe the standards and procedures that the jurisdiction will use to monitor activities 
carried out in furtherance of the plan and will use to ensure long-term compliance with 
requirements of the programs involved, including minority business outreach and the 
comprehensive planning requirements 

The Consolidated Plan provides the City with a number of benchmarks for measuring its progress toward 
the five-year goals. The Annual Action Plan is developed with this progress in mind, with quantifiable 
objectives and measurable outcomes for each of the proposed activities to adequately assess the City’s 
Housing and Community Development accomplishments. 

The City follows the monitoring requirements for the use of federal funds as established by HUD.  The 
Community Development Department tracks the City’s progress in implementing all of the strategies 
outlined in the Consolidated Plan.  The lead person responsible for the Consolidated Plan preparation and 
yearly reporting is the Housing Specialist, under the supervision of the Neighborhood Preservation 
Manager and Director of Community Development. 

Careful evaluation of the housing and public service delivery system can be the most effective tool in 
detecting gaps and making appropriate modifications.  The City notifies all sub-recipients that annual 
monitoring of their agency’s day-to-day operations will take place to ensure compliance with all CDBG 
rules and regulations.  The City also coordinates with the Fair Housing Consultant in the administration of 
the Fair Housing Program. 

The Department’s loan portfolio, including loan administration and servicing functions, is managed and 
tracked by the Community Development Department.  Loans are monitored for compliance and 
regulatory requirements such as affordability restrictions, occupancy and rent requirements, 
maintenance requirements, and loan repayments. 

In addition to this monitoring, the Community Development Department tracks housing unit production 
through a housing database, which identifies housing projects from concept to completion.  This database 
provides opportunity for staff to respond to City Council and public inquiries regarding the City’s progress 
toward its Regional Housing Needs Goals. 

In September 2003, HUD issued a notice to all entitlement grantees encouraging the development and 
use of a local performance measurement system.  This performance measurement system has two critical 
components - productivity and program impact.  Productivity reflects the level of efficiency (quantity, 
quality, and pace), and program impact reflects the desired outcomes in the community or in the lives of 
persons assisted. 

The City’s performance measurement system, as requested by HUD, is modeled from the City of Los 
Angeles’ Matrix of Goals versus Accomplishments by Priority.  The matrix collects an array of data, 
including priority, activity, funding source and amount spent, strategy, goals, and annual and long-term 
accomplishments.  In addition, a performance indicator for each activity is defined.  These performance 
indicators help the City identify if goals are being met and/or if outcomes are being produced.  Generally, 
the performance indicators relate to people, housing units, public facilities, and jobs. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  108 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

The required tracking matrix will be attached to the City’s Consolidated Annual Performance Evaluation 
Report (CAPER).  The matrix is expected to yield the following outcomes over a five-year period: 

• Improved quality of life for CDBG program participants and low and moderate income persons 

• Maintained current property values 

• Increased percentage of housing units that are standard 

• Increased business sales volume 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  109 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Expected Resources  

AP-15 Expected Resources – 91.220(c)(1,2) 

Introduction 

A variety of local, state and Federal programs are available to cities to help them achieve their housing 
and community development goals.  Many of these programs are competitive and contingent on the 
demographics or low income status of the community.  The low concentration of low income persons in 
Lakewood often limits the City’s opportunity to apply for programs.  The following chart summarizes these 
programs. 

Anticipated Resources 

Program Source 
of 

Funds 

Uses of Funds Expected Amount Available Year 1 Expected 
Amount 
Available 

Remainder 
of ConPlan  

$ 

Narrative 
Description Annual 

Allocation: 
$ 

Program 
Income: 

$ 

Prior Year 
Resources: 

$ 

Total: 
$ 

CDBG public 

- 

federal 

Admin and 
Planning,  
Rehab Delivery 
Costs, 
Public 
Improvements, 
Public 
Services, 
Continuum of 
Care 492,866 30,000 232,946 755,812 0 

Program 
Income will be 
used to fund 
Weingart 
Senior Center 
Improvements 

Table 56 - Expected Resources – Priority Table 

 
Explain how federal funds will leverage those additional resources (private, state and local 
funds), including a description of how matching requirements will be satisfied 

While the City does not leverage additional funds, the City partners with a private waste disposal company 
to offer an annual Neighborhood Clean-Up Program that is operated through the City’s Code Enforcement 
program.  The program provides assistance to tenants and property owners in disposing of unsightly and 
unwanted debris in neighborhoods identified as needing assistance.  Each year a total of six clean-up 
events are scheduled and each event has three 40-yard roll-off bins or more available to the residents in 
the vicinity of the bin. Neighborhood residents are notified of the event date and community volunteer 
assistance is provided.  The private waste disposal company donates the bins for this yearly event saving 
the City $9,111.96 in rental fees. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  110 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

If appropriate, describe publically owned land or property located within the jurisdiction that 
may be used to address the needs identified in the plan 

Lakewood’s City facilities that are used to address the needs identified in the plan includes the Weingart 
Senior Center and Burns Community Center.  Both facilities serve Lakewood’s senior population.  The 
Weingart Senior Center hosts a wide variety of services for Lakewood’s 50 plus population.  Services 
include educational and social engagement programs, fitness programs, special events, passive 
recreational programs, case management referrals, food assistance programs such as the congregate 
meals provided by Human Services Association, tax assistance and volunteer opportunities.  Burns 
Community Center provides many services, including Meals on Wheels, senior exercise programs, 
Continuum of Care, and Mothers At Work, a day care operation.  Other facilities include the Mayfair Park 
Swim Pavilion where LAHSA’s annual homeless count is operated from and Lakewood’s Fair Housing 
services are operated from Lakewood City Hall.  

The Recreation and Community Services Department offer many programs to assist Lakewood’s youth.  
For example, After School Activity Zone is a free drop-in after school program for school-age children, 
teens and preteens and is held at city parks.  Activities include playground games, arts and crafts, 
homework help and organized sports leagues through the Lakewood Youth Sports Program. 

Discussion 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  111 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Annual Goals and Objectives 

 

AP-20 Annual Goals and Objectives 

Goals Summary Information  

Sort 
Order 

Goal Name Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Category Geographic 
Area 

Needs 
Addressed 

Funding Goal Outcome 
Indicator 

1 Equal 
Housing 
Opportunity 

2020 2021 Non-
Homeless 
Special 
Needs 

City Wide Equal 
Housing 
Opportunity 

CDBG 250 
households 

2 Housing 
Preservation 
and 
Improvement 

2020 2021 Non-
Homeless 
Special 
Needs 

City Wide Housing 
Preservation 
and 
Improvement 

CDBG, 
Housing 
Successor 
Agency, 
General 
Fund  

350 Units 

3 Housing 
Development 

2020 2021 Affordable 
Housing 

5550.01 Housing 
Development 

Private, 
Housing 
Successor 
Agent 

40 Units 

4 Improve and 
Provide 
Community 
Facilities 

2020 2021 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

5707.01 Improve and 
Provide 
Community 
Facilities 

CDBG Improve 
Weingart 
Senior 
Center 

5 Provide 
Assistance to 
Continuum 
of Care 

2020 2021 Homeless City Wide Assistance to 
the 
Continuum 
of Care 

CDBG, 
General 
Fund 

58 Persons  

6 Housing 
Assistance 

2020 2021 Affordable 
Housing 

City Wide Housing 
Assistance 

HACOLA 100  
Referrals  
to  
HACOLA 

7 Provide 
Community 
Services 

2020 2021 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

City Wide Provide 
Community 
Services 

CDBG 300 Persons 

8 Economic 
Development 

2020 2021 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

City Wide Economic 
Development 

General 
Fund 

Economic 
Development 

Table 57 – Goals Summary 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  112 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Goal Descriptions 

1 Goal Name Equal Housing Opportunity 

Goal Description The City will provide funding to the Fair Housing Consultants to administer a 
fair housing complaint intake, enforcement, education, and outreach 
program.  The intended outcome will be the provision of Decent Housing 
(DH) Availability/ Accessibility.  The quantifiable five-year goal is to assist 
1250 households (250 persons annually). 

2 Goal Name Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Goal Description The City will provide funding to the Single-Family Residential Rehabilitation 
Loan and Fix-Up, Paint-Up Grant programs to assist Low/Moderate income 
persons.  The intended outcome will be the provision of a Suitable Living 
Environment (SLE) and Availability/Accessibility.  The quantifiable FY goal is 
to provide 10 Residential Rehabilitation Loans ($18,000/ea.) and 6 Grants 
($3,000/ea.).  The City will provide funds for Lakewood’s Code Enforcement 
program.  

3 Goal Name Housing Development 

Goal Description Development of up to 40 new affordable housing units on four sites, formerly 
Housing Successor Agency sites, suitable for residential use to expand the 
supply and choice of units for low income families. 

4 Goal Name Improve and Provide Community Facilities 
Goal Description The Weingart Senior Center Improvement Project provides for necessary 

costs associated with complying ADA improvements, enclosing the billiards 
room, replacing the flooring, converting assembly space to private offices for 
social services and remodeling the lobby. 

5 Goal Name Provide Assistance to Continuum of Care 

Goal Description Attend regular monthly SPA meetings to address homeless issues through 
the Continuum of Care (CoC) Model.  Provide information and referral to 
social service agencies, emergency food, assistance for transportation and 
use of the telephone to 15 homeless individuals and families at the Burns 
Community Center.  Conduct outreach, provide case management, link 
individuals and families to mainstream resources including: medical, mental 
health, employment, veteran’s benefits and income supports, and 
ultimately permanently house 6 people and link with move in assistance 
programs 

6 Goal Name Housing Assistance 

Goal Description Assistance to low and moderate income households with special needs. 

7 Goal Name Provide Community Services 

 Goal Description The City will provide funding to four subrecipients to provide services to the 
residents of Lakewood.  Services include home delivered and congregate 
meals for senior citizens, counseling services to emotionally disturbed and 
abused children, and non-medical hospice services to individuals facing end 
of life illnesses. 

8 Goal Name Economic Development 

 Goal Description The City will concentrate efforts to develop economic opportunities. 
Table 58 – Goals Description 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  113 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Projects  

AP-35 Projects – 91.220(d) 

Introduction  

Included in this Action Plan is a Listing of Proposed Projects identifying activities that will be undertaken 
during the FY 2020-2021 using CDBG funds.  Anticipated accomplishments for each activity are also listed.  
All activities are expected to start and/or be completed during FY 2020-2021.  Each activity identified in 
the following table includes a description of the FY 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan priority and local Action 
Plan objectives that will be addressed during the FY 2020-2021. 
 
Projects 

# Project Name 

1 Code Enforcement 

2 Fair Housing Program 

3 Weingart Senior Center Improvements 

4 Community Family Guidance 

5 Meals on Wheels 

6 Pathways Volunteer Hospice 

7 Human Services Association 

8 Rehabilitation Delivery Costs 

9 Program Administration 

Table 59 – Project Information 

 
Describe the reasons for allocation priorities and any obstacles to addressing underserved 
needs 
According to the five year 2011-2015 American Community Survey, the City has about 37% of its 
households earning low and moderate incomes.  Additionally, according to a 2019 Survey conducted by 
Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG), approximately 13% of Lakewood’s population 
consists of persons 65 years and older.  Programs such as those offered by Human Services Association 
which provide congregate meals and delivered meals to low income seniors helps low income seniors stay 
in their homes.   
 
Lakewood is also prioritizing completing improvements for the Weingart Senior Center.  This center 
provides service to over 4,000 seniors monthly.  Services include educational and social engagement 
programs, fitness programs, special events, passive recreational programs, case management referrals, 
food assistance programs such as the congregate meals provided by Human Services Association, tax 
assistance and volunteer opportunities.  The biggest obstacle to addressing the underserved needs is lack 
of funding. 

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  114 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  115 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

AP-38 Project Summary 

Project Summary Information 

Table 60 – Project Summary Information 

1 Project Name Code Enforcement 

Target Area  City Wide 

Goals Supported Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Needs Addressed Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Funding CDBG and General Fund 

Description Under this program, the City will continue to enforce existing building 
codes with Community Conservation Officers working in conjunction 
with the Crime, Public Nuisance, and Property Abatement Team 
serving CDBG-eligible areas. 

Target Date 6/30/2021 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

Approximately 500 households will be served during FY 2020-2021.  Of 
those households approximately 250 household will be low to moderate 
income households located within CDBG Eligible Areas. 

Location Description CDBG Eligible Areas- Census Tract 5550.01, BG 1, 2, 3 and 4; Census Tract 
5550.02 BG 1 and 2; Census Tract 5551.02 BG 1 and 2; Census Tract 
5551.03, BG 2; Census Tract 5551.04, BG 1; 5700.01, BG 2 and 4; Census 
Tract 5700.03, BG 1, 3 and 4; Census Tract 5708.00, BG 1; Census Tract 
5714.00, BG 3; Census Tract 5715.03, BG 1. 

Planned Activities Enforce building and zoning codes 
2 Project Name Fair Housing Program 

Target Area City Wide 

Goals Supported Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Needs Addressed Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Funding CDBG 

Description Provide funds for a fair housing counseling program and landlord tenant 
services for residents and property owners.  The Fair Housing Consultant 
will function as a central source for fair housing information and 
education; investigate and conciliate housing discrimination complaints; 
make referrals to appropriate sources for the formal resolution of 
complaints when information conciliation efforts fail; distribute 
information on landlord tenant rights and assist low and moderate 
income families in maintaining suitable housing. 

Target Date 6/30/21 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

The City will actively implement the Fair Housing Programs, including 
conducting education, counseling, and special projects.  A total of 250 
low to moderate income households shall be assisted annually. 

Location Description Citywide 

Planned Activities Administer a Fair Housing Program 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  116 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

3 Project Name Weingart Senior Center Improvements 

Target Area Citywide  

Goals Supported Improve and Provide Community Facilities 
Needs Addressed Improve and Provide Community Facilities 

Funding CDBG 

Description Bring facility into compliance with current ADA standards 

Target Date 6/30/21 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

Approximately 2,000 unduplicated low-moderate income seniors 
households will benefit from the proposed improvements. 

Location Description 5220 Oliva Avenue 

Planned Activities Conduct improvements to bring facility into ADA compliance 

4 Project Name Community Family Guidance 

Target Area Citywide 

Goals Supported Community Services 

Needs Addressed Provide Community Services 
Funding CDBG 

Description This program provides counseling services for emotionally disturbed 
children. 

Target Date 6/30/21 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

Through this program, an estimated 90 children from low to moderate 
income households, who are emotionally disturbed will receive 
counseling annually. 

Location Description Citywide 

Planned Activities Counsel emotionally disturbed children 

5 Project Name Meals on Wheels 

Target Area Citywide 

Goals Supported Community Services 

Needs Addressed Provide Community Services 
Funding CDBG 

Description This program provides in-home meal delivery to low income, senior, and 
disabled persons. 

Target Date 6/30/21 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

Under this program, the City will serve an estimated 135 low income and 
special needs individuals. 

Location Description Citywide 

Planned Activities Prepare and deliver meals to senior citizens 

6 Project Name Pathways Volunteer Hospice 

Target Area Citywide 

Goals Supported Provide Community Services 
Needs Addressed Provide Community Services 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  117 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Funding CDBG 

Description This program provides in-home non-medical services to terminally ill 
persons. 

Target Date 6/30/21 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

Through this program, the City will serve 30 low and moderate income 
households annually with in-home services for terminally ill persons.   

Location Description Citywide 

Planned Activities Provide non-medical services to terminally ill persons 
7 Project Name Human Services Association 

Target Area Citywide 

Goals Supported Provide Community Services 

Needs Addressed Provide Community Services 

Funding CDBG 

Description This activity will support senior citizen congregate meals at the Weingart 
Senior Center and home delivered meals to Lakewood residents. 

Target Date 6/30/21 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

Through this program, the City will provide congregate and home 
delivered meals to 75 seniors annually. 

Location Description Weingart Senior Center 5220 Oliva Avenue 

Planned Activities Serve meals to senior citizens 
8 Project Name Rehabilitation Delivery Costs 

Target Area Citywide 

Goals Supported Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Needs Addressed Housing Preservation and Improvement 

Funding CDBG 

Description This program provides funds for the payment of reasonable 
administrative costs and carrying charges such as rehabilitation 
counseling, work specifications, loan processing, site inspections, 
reporting, processing loan paybacks and all administrative work related 
to loan and grant processing. 

Target Date 6/30/21 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

16 low income families will benefit from the proposed activities 

Location Description Citywide 

Planned Activities Process 10 Single-Family Rehabilitation Loans and 6 Fix-Up, Paint-Up 
Grants and process approximately 11 loan paybacks 

9 Project Name Program Administration 

Target Area Citywide 
Goals Supported Provide Community Services 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  118 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Needs Addressed Provide Community Services 

Funding CDBG 

Description This program ensures the effective use of limited CDBG funds, for the 
community’s priorities and federal regulations.  Activities include the 
preparation of the Consolidated Plan, Action Plan, and Annual 
Performance Report, and continuous outreach to address the changing 
needs of the community.  Staff is trained on CDBG requirements and 
future program development. 

Target Date 6/30/21 

Estimate the number 
and type of families 
that will benefit from 
the proposed activities 

N/A 

Location Description Citywide 

Planned Activities Effectively manage CDBG funds 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  119 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 AP-50 Geographic Distribution – 91.220(f) 

Description of the geographic areas of the entitlement (including areas of low-income and 
minority concentration) where assistance will be directed  
 
The City’s housing programs are marketed and available throughout the City which assists in the reduction 
of concentration of low income persons. The program is not directed to any one geographical area but 
rather to extremely low to low income (0 to 80% of the County MFI) persons and households. The City 
wants to promote a balanced and integrated community and is committed to providing assistance 
throughout the City. 
 
The only exception to this policy is that some activities (Code Enforcement, Public Facilities and Street 
Improvements) are limited to special CDBG Target Areas, which are known as area benefit activities.  An 
area benefit activity is an activity that meets the identified needs of low income persons residing in an 
area where at least 51 percent of the residents (or less if the exception criteria are applicable) are low 
income persons. An area where at least 43.05 percent of the residents are low to moderate income 
persons is considered an area where the exception criteria are applied.  The benefits of the activity are 
available to everyone in that area despite their income. A map of these Target Areas is included in the 
Action Plan.  The City has traditionally used 80 percent or more of its CDBG resources to benefit these 
special areas and/or to operate programs available exclusively to low and moderate income people 
(whereas HUD regulations only require a minimum 70 percent low and moderate benefit for CDBG 
activities).  To continue to achieve this high ratio of low and moderate benefit for its CDBG resources, and 
because of the compelling need to assist these target areas, the City will continue to target CDBG 
resources to these special geographic areas. The allocation of funds is evenly distributed to the targeted 
Census Tracts. 
 
The geographic areas of entitlement include 18 Block Groups within 10 Census Tracts where the majority 
of land is dedicated to residential uses and are populated with low-income families. There are a total of 
6,069 parcels of land within those 18 Block Groups. Of those 6,069 parcels, 4,754 parcels are zoned Single-
Family Residential, 1,087 parcels are zoned Multiple-Family Residential, two parcels are located in the 
Mobile Home Park zone, and the remaining 226 parcels are zoned for open space, agricultural, commercial 
uses, and manufacturing uses. 

Geographic Distribution 
Target Area Percentage of Funds 

5550.01 10 

5550.02 10 

5551.02 10 

5551.03 10 

5551.04 10 

5700.01 10 

5700.03 10 

5708.00 10 

5714.00 10 

5715.03 10 

Table 61 - Geographic Distribution 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  120 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  121 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Rationale for the priorities for allocating investments geographically  

Lakewood’s Housing and Community Development Strategy includes general priorities for allocating funds 
geographically in the City; the rationale for assigning the priority; the quantifiable objective to meet the 
priority; the funding sources used to meet the objective; and the activities approved to meet the 
objectives.  To prevent the concentration of low-income persons, the majority of the City’s programs are 
provided throughout the City and marketed to all neighborhood areas.  However, based on federal 
eligibility issues for low-income households, some areas of the City may experience greater CDBG 
investment than others. 

HUD defines a community’s priority need levels as follows:  

• High Priority: Activities to address this need will be funded by the City during the five-year period. 

• Medium Priority:  If funds are available, activities to address this need may be funded during the 
five-year period.  Also, the City may take other actions to help this group locate other sources of 
funds. 

• Low Priority: The City will not directly fund activities using funds to address this need during the 
five-year period, but other agencies’ applications for federal assistance might be supported and 
found to be consistent with this plan. 

• No Such Need: The City finds there is no need or that this need is already substantially addressed. 
The City will not support other entities applications for federal assistance for activities where no 
such need has been identified. 

The Lakewood Consolidated Plan Strategy is outlined and presented as follows: 

• Affordable Housing, Homeless, and Other Special Needs Strategy 

• Non-Housing Community Development Strategy Plan 

• Summary of Eligible Housing and Non-Housing Community Development Block Grant 

Activities 

• Anti-Poverty Strategy 

• Reduction of Barriers to Affordable Housing 

  Institutional Structure and Intergovernmental Cooperation 

Discussion 

See above discussion 

 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  122 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Affordable Housing  

AP-55 Affordable Housing – 91.220(g) 

Introduction 

Lakewood’s one-year goals for the number of households to be supported are quantified as those 
homeless assisted by Burns Center staff, LAHSA, the Department of the Los Angeles County Sheriff, and 
PATH, and the number of affordable housing units that are located in the City.  There are three senior 
developments, a three-unit Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) development and two 
Redevelopment Agency properties each with one affordable unit for a total of five affordable units.  The 
senior housing developments include Candlewood Apartments, an 81 one-bedroom unit development, 
Whispering Fountains, a 201 unit development and Seasons Senior Apartments, an 85 unit 
development.  The special needs to be supported are quantified as Adult Residential Facilities, Residential 
Care Facilities for the Elderly, Group Homes, and Small Family Homes. 
 
The City amended its zoning ordinance in 2018 to allow the construction of Accessory Dwelling Units 
(ADU) on Single-Family Residentially (R-1) zoned properties as mandated by the State of California.   
 
During FY 18-19 the City approved the construction of eight ADUs within the City of Lakewood.  It is 
anticipated that during FY 19-20, the City will approve the construction of ten ADUs. 

 
The one-year goals for the number of households supported through Rental Assistance are quantified 
through Section 8 Rental Assistance which is operated by HACOLA.  The number of households supported 
through the rehabilitation of existing units is derived from the number of loans and grants the City 
processes each year. 

One Year Goals for the Number of Households to be Supported 
Homeless 58  

Non-Homeless 5  

Special-Needs 4  

Total 67  
Table 62 - One Year Goals for Affordable Housing by Support Requirement 

 

One Year Goals for the Number of Households Supported Through 

Rental Assistance 0  

The Production of New Units 10  

Rehab of Existing Units 16  

Acquisition of Existing Units 0  
Total 26  

Table 63 - One Year Goals for Affordable Housing by Support Type 

 

Discussion 

As shown in Table 62, the City proposes to assist 58 homeless persons.  This number is derived from the 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  123 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

number of homeless persons (43) PATH proposes to assist in Lakewood during FY 20-21 plus the proposed 
number of homeless persons (15) to be assisted at Burns Community Center during FY 20-21.  The City 
anticipates approving the construction of ten ADUs which contributes to the City’s low-income housing 
inventory.  Lakewood has one Neighborhood Stabilization Property (NSP) and two Redevelopment Agency 
properties that are developed with a total of five units and are occupied by extremely low to moderate-
income families.  Table 62 also shows that there are four special-needs households being supported.  This 
number is derived from the number of units Su Casa offers as transitional housing for to up to 16 residents.  
Su Casa provides transitional housing for up to one year in an apartment complex, which facilitates 
residents’ ability to adapt to independent living and break the cycle of abuse. The City has provided 
funding for Su Casa operations in the past.  The City has secured the transitional shelter with affordable 
housing covenants, which will run through December 2025. 

There are three affordable senior housing developments located in the City offering a combined total of 
367 affordable units.  The City has secured a covenant on each development to maintain as affordable 
senior housing.  

Although Lakewood does not directly provide affordable housing, the City is in possession of nine vacant 
properties remaining from the Housing Successor Agency that are reserved to be developed with 
affordable housing using private funding.  The City is currently drafting a Request for Development 
Proposals for those sites which could yield up to 40 affordable housing units. 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  124 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

AP-60 Public Housing – 91.220(h) 

Introduction 

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles. 

Actions planned during the next year to address the needs to public housing 

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles. 

Actions to encourage public housing residents to become more involved in management and 
participate in homeownership 

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles. 

If the PHA is designated as troubled, describe the manner in which financial assistance will be 
provided or other assistance  

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles. 

Discussion 

The City of Lakewood does not have public housing units located within city limits.  The City continues its 
participation of the Section Housing Voucher Program through the County of Los Angeles. 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  125 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

AP-65 Homeless and Other Special Needs Activities – 91.220(i) 

Introduction 

The City assists the homeless at the Burns Community Center and partners with PATH, Gateway Cities 
Council of Governments, HACOLA and LAHSA. 

Describe the jurisdictions one-year goals and actions for reducing and ending homelessness 
including 

Reaching out to homeless persons (especially unsheltered persons) and assessing their 
individual needs 

The City of Lakewood contracts with the Los Angeles County Sheriff Department.  A sheriff’s deputy 
routinely performs outreach to persons experiencing homeless to connect the homeless to services.  
Services are provided to people experiencing homelessness in Lakewood by LAHSA and PATH. 

Addressing the emergency shelter and transitional housing needs of homeless persons 

Su Casa Family Crisis and Support Center is a private non-profit organization that provides both short term 
emergency housing and transitional housing in two separate locations in the city. 

The short-term emergency housing location allows a maximum stay of 30 days providing supportive 
services to battered women and their children.  At this facility, Su Casa has 20 beds and a shelter capacity 
of 22 to 24 persons.  Their support services include food, shower facilities, laundry facilities, mail drop 
(the site is used as a mailing address), clothing, childcare, transportation, and intensive individual and 
group counseling for children. 

At the second location, Su Casa provides transitional housing for up to one year in an apartment complex, 
which facilitates residents’ ability to adapt to independent living and break the cycle of abuse.  The 
maximum capacity at this facility is 16 persons and the residents are provided counseling, assistance in 
seeking jobs, schooling, and assistance with the location of permanent housing.  Those persons who are 
employed while residing in the shelter are charged a small percentage of their income, which is saved in 
an escrow account and used for the costs associated with securing permanent housing. 

Admittance to the program is strictly on a referral basis.  The City has provided funding for Su Casa 
operations in the past.  Also the City has secured the transitional shelter with affordable housing 
covenants, which run through December 2025. 

In February 2012, the City amended the Zoning Ordinance to permit emergency shelters by right in the 
M-2 zone.  This is to comply with State law (SB2) requiring that a zone be identified to permit emergency 
shelters by right.  This was also identified as a program in the certified Housing Element. 

In 2017, LAHSA released the Los Angeles Continuum of Care Housing Inventory Count.  The Count shows 
that there are 6,505 emergency shelters within Los Angeles County offering 9,933 beds.  There are 5,147 
transitional housing units offering 6,665 transitional housing beds.  SPA 7 offers 512 emergency shelters 
with 959 beds and 443 transitional housing units with 582 beds.  The City will continue its work with 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  126 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

community non-profit groups and community based organizations interested in providing transitional 
housing services to the homeless.  

Another form of transitional housing in the City is Adult Residential Facilities, Residential Care Facilities 
for the Elderly, Group Homes and Small Family Homes and is described as follows:   

• There are a total of 16 Adult Residential Facilities located in the City of Lakewood.  The facilities 
provide 24 hour non-medical care to individuals who may be physically, mentally or 
developmentally disabled.  Each home can house up to six adults aged 18-59. 

• There are a total of 10 Residential Care Facilities for the Elderly located in the City of Lakewood. 
Each of these facilities house up to six persons aged 60 or older.  These facilities were accepted 
as transitional housing by the State Department of Housing and Community Development during 
the FY 2013-2021 Housing Element update. 

• There is one Small Family Home located in the City of Lakewood that provides 24-hour care for 
families with less than six children who are in need of assistance because of a physical, mental or 
developmental disability. 

In addition to assisting in providing emergency shelter and transitional housing, the City will continue to 
provide support services such as job training and counseling.  The County of Los Angeles also offers an 
array of work training programs, housing placement assistance, and other support resources. 

Helping homeless persons (especially chronically homeless individuals and families, families 
with children, veterans and their families, and unaccompanied youth) make the transition to 
permanent housing and independent living, including shortening the period of time that 
individuals and families experience homelessness, facilitating access for homeless individuals 
and families to affordable housing units, and preventing individuals and families who were 
recently homeless from becoming homeless again 

The City contracts with the Los Angeles County Sheriff Department.  A sheriff’s deputy takes the lead in 
providing outreach to over 250 homeless persons annually in the City of Lakewood connecting them to 
PATH and LAHSA for services.  Many homeless persons reject the services offered while many accept the 
support services provided.  

Helping low-income individuals and families avoid becoming homeless, especially extremely 
low-income individuals and families and those who are: being discharged from publicly funded 
institutions and systems of care (such as health care facilities, mental health facilities, foster 
care and other youth facilities, and corrections programs and institutions); or, receiving 
assistance from public or private agencies that address housing, health, social services, 
employment, education, or youth needs 

The City will continue its work with community non-profit groups and community based organizations 
interested in assisting individuals and families avoid becoming homeless by providing rapid-rehousing, 
emergency shelter and transitional housing, the City will continue to provide support services such as job 
training and counseling.  The County of Los Angeles also offers an array of work training programs, housing 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  127 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

placement assistance, and other support resources. 

Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program was voluntarily transferred back to the Housing Authority of 
the County of Los Angeles (HACOLA) as of July 1, 2011.  Residents on the program’s waiting list who are 
seeking Section 8 Housing Assistance are still given priority over non-residents, even though affordable 
housing within the city limits is difficult to find.  New potential participants who are not currently on the 
waiting list are referred to the HACOLA for further assistance.  

The Assistance Directory at the Burns Community Center enables staff to assist the low-income individuals 
and families, especially extremely low-income individuals and families, who are likely to become homeless 
or who are receiving assistance from public or private agencies to address housing, health, social services, 
employment, education or youth needs. 

Discussion 

See discussion above 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  128 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

AP-75 Barriers to affordable housing – 91.220(j) 

Introduction:  

The City is committed to addressing the negative effects of public policies over which it has control.  In 
order to promote integration and prevent low income concentrations, the City has designed its affordable 
housing programs to be available Citywide.  This priority also serves to make sure that the City does not 
have any policies, rules, or regulations that would lead to minority or racial concentrations. 

Actions it planned to remove or ameliorate the negative effects of public policies that serve as 
barriers to affordable housing such as land use controls, tax policies affecting land, zoning 
ordinances, building codes, fees and charges, growth limitations, and policies affecting the 
return on residential investment 

Since 1989, Lakewood has demonstrated a willingness to encourage housing development of all types.  It 
has approved several zone changes to allow the construction of housing including General Commercial 
(C-4) to Multiple Family Residential (M-F-R) to allow for the building of a 201-unit senior citizen apartment 
complex in 1989, Light Manufacturing (M-1) to Planned Development Single Family (PDSF), to allow for 
the building of 184 single family residences in 1994, Open Space (O-S) to MFR, to allow for the building of 
a 85-unit senior citizen apartment complex in 1996, C-4 to MFR, to allow for the conversion a motel into 
apartments in 1999, Intermediate Commercial (C-3) to PDSF to all a 20 unit single-family residential 
project in 2003, C-4 to M-F-R in 2014 allowing an existing apartment complex to expand by adding 22 
additional apartments, O-S to M-F-R to allow a three-unit condominium project in 2015, and Code 
amendments to allow for development of a variety of housing types, including those that benefit low and 
moderate income people.  The City makes an effort to fast track projects and process permits in a timely 
manner.  The City intends to maintain its current posture of openness and willingness to consider new 
ideas and eliminate any regulatory barriers under its control in the provision of a variety of housing to 
meet the needs of all income groups. 

During 2018, the City amended its zoning ordinance to allow the construction of ADUs in Single-Family 
Residential (R-1) zoned properties, as mandated by State Law.  The California Government Code provides 
that ADUs facilitate and expedite the construction of affordable housing; they provide housing for family 
members, students, the elderly, in-home health providers, the disabled, and others at below market prices 
within existing neighborhoods; they may add income and an increased sense of security to 
homeowners; they will provide additional rental housing stock; they offer lower cost housing to 
meet the needs of existing and future residents within existing neighborhoods, while respecting 
architectural character; and they are an essential component of California's housing supply.  The 
ordinance is consistent with current state law and establishes local control of the regulations related to 
ADUs. 
 
  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  129 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

During the next year, the City will continue to work cooperatively within existing legislatively mandated 
constraints to develop or encourage public policies that foster affordable housing development and 
assistance. 

Discussion:  

See discussion above 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  130 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

AP-85 Other Actions – 91.220(k) 

Introduction:  

The City continues to address obstacles to meeting underserved needs, to foster and maintain affordable 
housing, to reduce lead-based paint hazards, to reduce the number of poverty-level families, to develop 
institutional structure, enhance coordination between public and private housing and social service 
agencies.  These efforts are discussed in more detail below: 

Actions planned to address obstacles to meeting underserved needs 

Like most communities, a major obstacle to meeting the needs of the community is funding.  Over the 
years, community partnerships with county, state, and federal agencies have been integral to meeting the 
needs of the underserved community.  During the FY 2020-2024 program year, the City intends to 
aggressively continue these relationships as well as foster new ones to ensure that the needs of the 
community are adequately fulfilled. 

The City promotes its housing and community service programs in the areas with the highest 
concentration of low and moderate income households to address the continuing needs of the 
underserved population.  The City will use the Chamber of Commerce, local newspaper, City newsletter, 
and community events to promote these services.  The City will continue to provide the services listed 
below for low and moderate income Renter Households and Owner-occupied Households. 

Actions planned to foster and maintain affordable housing 

As articulated in the Consolidated Plan, the City will implement Coordination with Los Angeles County 
Housing Authority and will collaborate with the Los Angeles County Community Development Department 
for the following actions to foster and maintain affordable housing: 

• Mortgage assistance programs 

• Coordination with neighborhood networks to elaborate on the needs of the community 

• Code enforcement 

• Home Improvement Programs 

• Infrastructure improvements 

• Provision of Fair Housing Services 

Actions planned to reduce lead-based paint hazards 

To reduce lead-based paint hazards in Lakewood, the City will continue to disseminate information and 
monitor the lead-poisoning data provided by the County.  In addition, the City’s Residential Rehabilitation 
Program will provide funding to low and moderate-income households in making necessary 
improvements and correcting code violations.  Finally, the City will continue to attend HUD training on 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  131 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

lead based paint reduction requirements and continue to evaluate City programs to address lead hazards. 

Actions planned to reduce the number of poverty-level families 

A fundamental way to reduce poverty is through job creation and enhancement.  There are a number of 
local, state and Federal programs that focus on job creation and retention.  The most notable is the State 
of California’s welfare reform plan, known as CalWORKS.  CalWORKS is designed to move welfare 
recipients from dependency to self-sufficiency through employment and to divert potential recipients 
from dependency.  Job related education and training are provided through the County of Los Angeles, 
Department of Public Social Services. 

The County’s Department of Public Social Services also administers various programs that provide cash 
aid and other benefits and services to individuals and families in need.  These programs are designed to 
alleviate hardship and promote family health, personal responsibility, and economic independence. 
According to the County, the majority of persons who seek these programs are primarily in need of 
medical assistance and in-home support services. 

Actions planned to develop institutional structure  

The institutions involved in carrying out the aforesaid Priority actions include the Lakewood Community 
Development Department, the Housing Authority of the County of Los Angeles, and private sector owners 
of rental property.  The City, for its part, will promote and encourage fair housing, housing assistance and 
single-family home rehabilitation through: 

• Continued utilization of the services of a Fair Housing Contractor or organization to promote, 
educate and enforce fair housing in the community. 

• Continued use of the Los Angeles County Housing Authority to refer residents who are 
interested in receiving affordable housing assistance. 

• Continued use of CDBG funds to assist low income homeowners in rehabilitating their homes 
and in eliminating substandard conditions.  The City will continue to encourage the Single Family 
Residential Rehabilitation Loan Program by advertising in local publications to attract qualified 
applicants. 

The programs mentioned herein are not in need of remedial actions.  Therefore, no remedial actions are 
planned at this time. 

Actions planned to enhance coordination between public and private housing and social 
service agencies 

The City’s housing programs, which will be administered over the next year, are limited by resources to 
housing rehabilitation and rental assistance (Section 8).  These two programs do not require a lot of 
coordination efforts. 

The Single Family Residential Rehabilitation Loan and Fix-Up Paint-Up Grant Program are funded with 
Housing Successor Agency Loan Payback funds.  The Section 8 Existing Housing Program is federally 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  132 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

funded and is administered entirely by Housing Authority of County of Los Angeles.  City staff continues 
to refer residents who are interested in affordable housing to contact HACOLA. 

No other special coordination efforts will be required during the next Federal Fiscal Year to administer 

these programs. 

Discussion:  

See discussion above 

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  133 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Program Specific Requirements 

AP-90 Program Specific Requirements – 91.220(l)(1,2,4) 

Introduction:  

The sole source of projected program income for the City of Lakewood is rehabilitation loan payback. The 
City has consistently received approximately $30,000 per year in loan payback and we anticipate this 
number to stay consistent. 

Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG)  
Reference 24 CFR 91.220(l)(1)  

 
Projects planned with all CDBG funds expected to be available during the year are identified in the 
Projects Table. The following identifies program income that is available for use that is included in 
projects to be carried out.  
 

 
1. The total amount of program income that will have been received before the start of the 

next program year and that has not yet been reprogrammed 0 

2. The amount of proceeds from section 108 loan guarantees that will be used during the year 

to address the priority needs and specific objectives identified in the grantee's strategic plan. N/A 

3. The amount of surplus funds from urban renewal settlements N/A 

4. The amount of any grant funds returned to the line of credit for which the planned use has 

not been included in a prior statement or plan N/A 

5. The amount of income from float-funded activities N/A 

Total Program Income: N/A 

 

Other CDBG Requirements  
 
1. The amount of urgent need activities 0 

HUD is committed to the activity of emergency preparedness and will spend approximately $120,000 of 
General Fund monies during FY 20-21 on the following emergency preparedness programs and functions:  
participate as a member in Area E of Los Angeles County of Emergency Planning Office, coordinate and 
integrate City forces into the resources available and on call through the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s 
Department (LASD) emergency operation program, the Los Angeles County Fire Department (LACoFD), 
American Red Cross (ARC), and other emergency organizations, maintain City staff awareness of 
emergency responsibilities through training programs, coordinate an ongoing citizen training program, 
coordinate a public information program, and assess local needs to develop courses of action in 
cooperation with LASD, LACoFD and ARC. 

 

  

 



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  134 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

 

Appendix - Alternate/Local Data Sources  

  



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  135 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

ASSURANCES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ASSURANCES - CONSTRUCTION PROGRAMS OMB Number: 4040-0009
Expiration Date: 02/ 28/ 2022

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 15 minutes per response, including time for reviewing
instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of
information. Send comments regarding the burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for
reducing this burden, to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project( 0348- 0042), Washington, DC 20503.

PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND
BUDGET. SEND IT TO THE ADDRESS PROVIDED BY THE SPONSORING AGENCY.

NOTE:  Certain of these assurances may not be applicable to your project or program. If you have questions, please contact the
Awarding Agency. Further, certain Federal assistance awarding agencies may require applicants to certify to additional
assurances. If such is the case, you will be notified.

As the duly authorized representative of the applicant:, I certify that the applicant:

1.   Has the legal authority to apply for Federal assistance,  8.   Will comply with the Intergovernmental Personnel Act
and the institutional, managerial and financial capability of 1970( 42 U. S. C.§§ 4728- 4763) relating to prescribed
including funds sufficient to pay the non- Federal share standards of merit systems for programs funded

of project costs) to ensure proper planning,    under one of the 19 statutes or regulations specified in

management and completion of project described in Appendix A of OPM' s Standards for a Merit System of
this application.  Personnel Administration( 5 C. F. R. 900, Subpart F).

2.   Will give the awarding agency, the Comptroller General 9.   Will comply with the Lead- Based Paint Poisoning
of the United States and, if appropriate, the State,     Prevention Act( 42 U. S. C.§§ 4801 et seq.) which
the right to examine all records, books, papers, or prohibits the use of lead- based paint in construction or
documents related to the assistance; and will establish rehabilitation of residence structures.

a proper accounting system in accordance with
generally accepted accounting standards or agency
directives.  

10.  Will comply with all Federal statutes relating to non-
discrimination. These include but are not limited to: ( a)
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964( P. L. 88- 352)

3.   Will not dispose of, modify the use of, or change the which prohibits discrimination on the basis of race,

terms of the real property title or other interest in the
color or national origin; ( b) Title IX of the Education

site and facilities without permission and instructions
Amendments of 1972, as amended ( 20 U. S. C.§§ 1681

from the awarding agency. Will record the Federal
1683, and 1685- 1686), which prohibits discrimination

awarding agency directives and will include a covenant
on the basis of sex; ( c) Section 504 of the

in the title of real property acquired in whole or in part
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended ( 29) U. S. C.

with Federal assistance funds to assure non-  794), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of

discrimination during the useful life of the project.      
handicaps;( d) the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as
amended ( 42 U. S. C.§§ 6101- 6107), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of age; ( e) the Drug Abuse
Office and Treatment Act of 1972( P. L. 92- 255), as

4.   Will comply with the requirements of the assistance amended relating to nondiscrimination on the basis of
awarding agency with regard to the drafting, review and drug abuse; ( f) the Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and
approval of construction plans and specifications.      Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment and Rehabilitation

Act of 1970( P. L. 91- 616), as amended, relating to
5.   Will provide and maintain competent and adequate nondiscrimination on the basis of alcohol abuse or

engineering supervision at the construction site to alcoholism;( g)§§ 523 and 527 of the Public Health

ensure that the complete work conforms with the Service Act of 1912( 42 U. S. C.§§ 290 dd- 3 and 290 ee

approved plans and specifications and will furnish 3), as amended, relating to confidentiality of alcohol
progressive reports and such other information as may be and drug abuse patient records; ( h) Title VIII of the
required by the assistance awarding agency or State. Civil Rights Act of 1968( 42 U. S. C. §§ 3601 et seq.), as

amended, relating to nondiscrimination in the sale,
rental or financing of housing;( i) any other

6.   Will initiate and complete the work within the applicable nondiscrimination provisions in the specific statue( s)

time frame after receipt of approval of the awarding agency.   under which application for Federal assistance is being
made; and Q) the requirements of any other

7.   Will establish safeguards to prohibit employees from
nondiscrimination statue( s) which may apply to the

using their positions for a purpose that constitutes or
application.

presents the appearance of personal or organizational
conflict of interest, or personal gain.

Previous Edition Usable Authorized for Local Reproduction Standard Form 424D( Rev. 7- 97)

Prescribed by OMB Circular A- 102



11.  Will comply, or has already complied, with the Federal actions to State( Clean Air) implementation
requirements of Titles II and III of the Uniform Relocation Plans under Section 176( c) of the Clean Air Act of
Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1955, as amended( 42 U. S. C. §§ 7401 et seq.); ( g)
1970( P. L. 91- 646) which provide for fair and equitable protection of underground sources of drinking water
treatment of persons displaced or whose property is under the Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as
acquired as a result of Federal and federally- assisted amended( P. L. 93- 523); and, ( h) protection of
programs. These requirements apply to all interests in real endangered species under the Endangered Species Act
property acquired for project purposes regardless of of 1973, as amended( P. L. 93- 205).
Federal participation in purchases.

16.  Will comply with the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of
12.  Will comply with the provisions of the Hatch Act( 5 U. S. C.§  1968( 16 U. S. C.§§ 1271 et seq.) related to protecting

1501- 1508 and 7324- 7328) which limit the political components or potential components of the national
activities of employees whose principal employment wild and scenic rivers system.
activities are funded in whole or in part with Federal funds.

17.  Will assist the awarding agency in assuring compliance
13.  Will comply, as applicable, with the provisions of the Davis-  with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation

Bacon Act( 40 U. S. C.§§ 276a to 276a- 7), the Copeland Act Act of 1966, as amended( 16 U. S. C.§ 470), EO 11593
40 U. S. C.§ 276c and 18 U. S. C.§ 874), and the Contract identification and protection of historic properties), and

Work Hours and Safety Standards Act( 40 U. S. C.§§ 327-    the Archaeological and Historic Preservation Act of
333) regarding labor standards for federally- assisted 1974( 16 U. S. C.§§ 469a- 1 et seq).
construction subagreements.

18.  Will cause to be performed the required financial and
14.  Will comply with flood insurance purchase requirements of compliance audits in accordance with the Single Audit

Section 102( a) of the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 Act Amendments of 1996 and OMB Circular No. A- 133,
P. L. 93- 234) which requires recipients in a special flood Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non- Profit

hazard area to participate in the program and to purchase Organizations."
flood insurance if the total cost of insurable construction
and acquisition is$ 10, 000 or more.

19.  Will comply with all applicable requirements of all other
Federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies

15.  Will comply with environmental standards which may be governing this program.
prescribed pursuant to the following: ( a) institution of
environmental quality control measures under the National

20.  Will comply with the requirements of Section 106 of
Environmental Policy Act of 1969( P. L. 91-     p y q g)

190) and Executive Order( EO) 11514; ( b) notification the Trafficking Victims Protection Act( TVPA) of 2000, as
of violating facilities pursuant to EO 11738; ( c) amended( 22 U. S. C. 7104) which prohibits grant award

protection of wetlands pursuant to EO 11990; ( d)     recipients or a sub- recipient from ( 1) Engaging in severe

evaluation of flood hazards in floodplains in accordance forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time

with EO 11988; ( e) assurance of project consistency that the award is in effect( 2) Procuring a commercial sex

with the approved State management program act during the period of time that the award is in effect or
developed under the Coastal Zone Management Act of 3) Using forced labor in the performance of the award or
1972( 16 U. S. C.§§ 1451 et seq.);( f) conformity of

subawards under the award.

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED CERTIFYING OFFICIAL TITLE

City Manager

APPLICANT ORGANIZATION DATE SUBMITTED

City of Lakewood 04/ 28/ 2020

SF- 424D( Rev. 7- 97) Back



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  136 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

APPLICATION FOR FEDERAL ASSISTANCE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



OMB Number: 4040- 0004

Expiration Date: 12/ 31/ 2019

Application for Federal Assistance SF- 424

1. Type of Submission: 2. Type of Application:     ' If Revision, select appropriate letter(s):

Preapplication X New

X Application Continuation Other( Specify):

Changed/ Corrected Application    Revision

4. Applicant Identifier:

05/ 14/ 2020 B- 20- MC- 06- 0521

5a. Federal Entity Identifier:  5b. Federal Award Identifier:

State Use Only:

6. Date Received by State:      7. State Application Identifier:

8. APPLICANT INFORMATION:

a. Legal Name:  City of Lakewood

b. Employer/ Taxpayer Identification Number( EIN/ TIN): c. Organizational DUNS:

95- 6005417 1 o769436380000

d. Address:

Streetl:   5050 Clark Avenue

Streetl:

City:      Lakewood

County/ Parish:

State:       CA: California

Province:

Country:   USA: UNITED STATES

Zip/ Postal Code:  90712- 2603

e. Organizational Unit:

Department Name: Division Name:

Community Development rousing

f. Name and contact information of person to be contacted on matters involving this application:

Prefix:       First Name:    Carolyn

Middle Name:

Last Name:   Lehouillier

Suffix:

Title:  Housing Specialist

Organizational Affiliation:

Telephone Number:  ( 562)  866- 9771, ext. 2320 Fax Number:  ( 562)  866- 0505

Email:  clehouillier@lakewoodcity. org



Application for Federal Assistance SF- 424

9. Type of Applicant 1: Select Applicant Type:

C: City or Township Government

Type of Applicant 2: Select Applicant Type:

Type of Applicant 3: Select Applicant Type:

Other( specify):

10. Name of Federal Agency:

U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

11. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number:

14- 218

CFDA Title:

Community Development Block Grant  ( CDBG)

12. Funding Opportunity Number:

14- 218

Title:

Community Development Block Grant  ( CDBG)

13. Competition Identification Number:

Title:

14. Areas Affected by Project( Cities, Counties, States, etc.):

Add Attachment Delete Attachment View Attachment

15. Descriptive Title of Applicant' s Project:

Isc
al Year 2020- 2024 five- year Consolidated Plan and FY 2020- 2021 one- year Action Plan for the

ty' s CDBG Program

Attach supporting documents as specified in agency instructions.

Add Attachments Delete Attachments View Attachments



Application for Federal Assistance SF- 424

16. Congressional Districts Of:

a. Applicant CA- 038 b. Program/ Project CA- 038

Attach an additional list of Program/ Project Congressional Districts if needed.

Add. Attachment Delete Attachment View Attachment

17. Proposed Project:

a. Start Date:  07/ 01/ 2020 b. End Date:  06/ 30/ 2021

18. Estimated Funding($):

a. Federal 492, 866. 00

b. Applicant

c. State

d. Local

e. Other

f. Program Income 30, 000. 00

g. TOTAL 522, 866. 00

19. Is Application Subject to Review By State Under Executive Order 12372 Process?

a. This application was made available to the State under the Executive Order 12372 Process for review on

b. Program is subject to E. O. 12372 but has not been selected by the State for review.

Q c. Program is not covered by E. O. 12372.

20. Is the Applicant Delinquent On Any Federal Debt? ( If" Yes," provide explanation in attachment.)

Yes X No

If" Yes", provide explanation and attach

Add: Attachment Delete Attachment I View Attachment
21.* By signing this application, I certify( 1) to the statements contained in the list of certifications** and( 2) that the statements
herein are true, complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge. I also provide the required assurances** and agree to
comply with any resulting terms if I accept an award. 1 am aware that any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or claims may
subject me to criminal, civil, or administrative penalties.( U. S. Code, Title 218, Section 1001)

Q **IAGREE

The list of certifications and assurances, or an internet site where you may obtain this list, is contained in the announcement or agency specific
instructions.

Authorized Representative:

Prefix: Mr.   First Name:   Thaddeus

Middle Name:

Last Name:  McCormack

Suffix:

Title:      
City Manager

Telephone Number:  ( 562)  866- 9771 Fax Number:  ( 562)  866- 0505

Email: tmccormack@lakewoodcity. org

Fignature
of Authorized Representative:   Date Signed:   04/ 28/ 2020



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  137 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

CERTIFICATIONS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



o

ePPt
EMroF

n CPMP Non-State Grantee

Certifications
a

BqM aEv`-

This certification does not apply..
This certification is applicable.

NON- STATE GOVERNMENT CERTIFICATIONS

In accordance with the applicable statutes and the regulations governing the consolidated plan

regulations, the jurisdiction certifies that:

Affirmatively Further Fair Housing-- The jurisdiction will affirmatively further fair housing, which means it will
conduct an analysis of impediments to fair housing choice within the jurisdiction, take appropriate actions to overcome
the effects of any impediments identified through that analysis, and maintain records reflecting that analysis and
actions in this regard.

Anti- displacement and Relocation Plan -- It will comply with the acquisition and relocation requirements of the
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended, and implementing
regulations at 49 CFR 24; and it has in effect and is following a residential anti- displacement and relocation assistance

plan required under section 104( d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended, in
connection with any activity assisted with funding under the CDBG or HOME programs.

Drug Free Workplace-- It will or will continue to provide a drug free workplace by:
1.   Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a

controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee' s workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees
for violation of such prohibition;

2.   Establishing an ongoing drug- free awareness program to inform employees about—
a.   The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;
b.   The grantee' s policy of maintaining a drug- free workplace;
C.   Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and
d.   The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations occurring in the workplace;

3.   Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be given a copy of the statement
required by paragraph 1;

4.   Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph 1 that, as a condition of employment under the grant, the
employee will—

a.   Abide by the terms of the statement; and
b.   Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug statute occurring in the workplace

no later than five calendar days after such conviction.

5.   Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under subparagraph 4( b) from an employee or
otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.  Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including
position title, to every grant officer or other designee on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the
Federal agency has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include the identification number( s)
of each affected grant;

6.   Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under subparagraph 4( b), with respect to any
employee who is so convicted—

a.   Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including termination, consistent with the
requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; or

b.   Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for
such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health, law enforcement, or other appropriate agency.

7.   Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug- free workplace through implementation of paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5
and 6.



Anti-Lobbying-- To the best of the jurisdiction' s knowledge and belief:

No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of it, to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal
grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal,
amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement;

If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, it will
complete and submit Standard Form- LLL," Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions; and

It will require that the language of paragraph 1 and 2 of this anti- lobbying certification be included in the award
documents for all subawards at all tiers( including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative
agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

Authority of Jurisdiction -- The consolidated plan is authorized under State and local law( as applicable) and the jurisdiction
possesses the legal authority to carry out the programs for which it is seeking funding, in accordance with applicable HUD
regulations.

Consistency with plan-- The housing activities to be undertaken with CDBG, HOME, ESG, and HOPWA funds are consistent
with the strategic plan.

Section 3 -- It will comply with section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, and implementing regulations at
24 CFR Part 135.

April 28, 2020

Signature/ Authorized Official Date

Thaddeus McCormack

Name

City Manager

Title

5050 North Clark Avenue

Address

Lakewood, CA 90712

City/State/ Zip

562- 866- 9771

Telephone Number



Fi This certification does not apply.
1Z TN's certification is.applicable.

Specific CDBG Certifications

The Entitlement Community certifies that:

Citizen Participation-- It is in full compliance and following a detailed citizen participation plan that satisfies the requirements
of 24 CFR 91. 105.

Community Development Plan-- Its consolidated housing and community development plan identifies community development
and housing needs and specifies both short- term and long- term community development objectives that provide decent housing,
expand economic opportunities primarily for persons of low and moderate income.( See CFR 24 570. 2 and CFR 24 part 570)

Following a Plan-- It is following a current consolidated plan( or Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy) that has been
approved by HUD.

Use of Funds-- It has complied with the following criteria:

Maximum Feasible Priority- With respect to activities expected to be assisted with CDBG funds, it certifies that it has
developed its Action Plan so as to give maximum feasible priority to activities which benefit low and moderate income families
or aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight. The Action Plan may also include activities which the grantee
certifies are designed to meet other community development needs having a particular urgency because existing conditions
pose a serious and immediate threat to the health or welfare of the community, and other financial resources are not available);

Overall Benefit- The aggregate use of CDBG funds including section 108 guaranteed loans during program year( s) 2015-
2016( a period specified by the grantee consisting of one program year), shall principally benefit persons of low- and moderate-
income in a manner that ensures that at least 70% of the amount is expended for activities that benefit such persons during the
designated period;

Special Assessments- It will not attempt to recover any capital costs of public improvements assisted with CDBG funds
including Section 108 loan guaranteed funds by assessing any amount against properties owned and occupied by persons of
low- and moderate- income, including any fee charged or assessment made as a condition of obtaining access to such public
improvements.

However, if CDBG funds are used to pay the proportion of a fee or assessment that relates to the capital costs of public
improvements( assisted in part with CDBG funds) financed from other revenue sources, an assessment or charge may be made
against the property with respect to the public improvements financed by a source other than CDBG funds.

The jurisdiction will not attempt to recover any capital costs of public improvements assisted with CDBG funds, including
Section 108, unless CDBG funds are used to pay the proportion of fee or assessment attributable to the capital costs of public
improvements financed from other revenue sources. In this case, an assessment or charge may be made against the property
with respect to the public improvements financed by a source other than CDBG funds. Also, in the case of properties owned
and occupied by moderate- income( not low income) families, an assessment or charge may be made against the property for
public improvements financed by a source other than CDBG funds if the jurisdiction certifies that it lacks CDBG funds to
cover the assessment.



Excessive Force-- It has adopted and is enforcing:

A policy prohibiting the use of excessive force by law enforcement agencies within its jurisdiction against any individuals
engaged in non- violent civil rights demonstrations; and

A policy of enforcing applicable State and local laws against physically barring entrance to or exit from a facility or
location which is the subject of such non- violent civil rights demonstrations within its jurisdiction;

Compliance With Anti- discrimination laws-- The grant will be conducted and administered in conformity with title VI of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964( 42 USC 2000d), the Fair Housing Act( 42 USC 3601- 3619), and implementing regulations.

Lead- Based Paint-- Its activities concerning lead- based paint will comply with the requirements of part 35, subparts A, B, J, K
and R, of title 24;

Compliance with Laws-- It will comply with applicable laws.

April 28, 2020

Signature/Authorized Official Date

Thaddeus McCormack

Name

City Manager

Title

5050 North Clark Avenue

Address

Lakewood, CA 90712

City/ State/ Zip

562- 866- 9771

Telephone Number



This doescercationnot apply."
e

This certification is applicable -

APPENDIX TO CERTIFICATIONS

Instructions Concerning Lobbying and Drug- Free Workplace Requirements

Lobbying Certification
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered
into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title
31, U. S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than$ 10, 000
and not more than$ 100, 000 for each such failure.

Drug- Free Workplace Certification

1.   By signing and/ or submitting this application or grant agreement, the grantee is providing the certification.
The certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant.

If it is later determined that the grantee knowingly rendered a false certification, or otherwise violates the requirements
of the Drug- Free Workplace Act, HUD, in addition to any other remedies available to the Federal Government, may take
action authorized under the Drug- Free Workplace Act.

Workplaces under grants, for grantees other than individuals, need not be identified on the certification. if known,
they may be identified in the grant application. If the grantee does not identify the workplaces at the time of application,
or upon award, if there is no application, the grantee must keep the identity of the workplace( s) on file in its office and
make the information available for Federal inspection. Failure to identify all known workplaces constitutes a violation
of the grantee' s drug- free workplace requirements.

Workplace identifications must include the actual address of buildings( or parts of buildings) or other sites where
work under the grant takes place. Categorical descriptions may be used( e. g., all vehicles of a mass transit authority or
State highway department while in operation, State employees in each local unemployment office, performers in concert
halls or radio stations).

If the workplace identified to the agency changes during the performance of the grant, the grantee shall inform the
agency of the change( s), if it previously identified the workplaces in question( see paragraph three).

2.   The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site( s) for the performance of work done in connection with the specific
grant: Place of Performance( Street address, city, county, state, zip code) Check if there are workplaces on file that are not
identified here. The certification with regard to the drug- free workplace is required by 24 CFR part 21.

Place Name Street City County State Zip

City of Lakewood 5050 N. Clark Ave.    Lakewood Los Angeles CA 90712

Definitions of terms in the Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment common rule and Drug- Free Workplace
common rule apply to this certification. Grantees' attention is called, in particular, to the following definitions from these
rules: " Controlled substance" means a controlled substance in Schedules I through V of the Controlled Substances Act

21 U. S. C. 812) and as further defined by regulation( 21 CFR 1308. 11 through 1308. 15); " Conviction" means a finding

of guilt( including a plea of nolo contendere) or imposition of sentence, or both, by any judicial body charged with the
responsibility to determine violations of the Federal or State criminal drug statutes; " Criminal drug statute" means a
Federal or non- Federal criminal statute involving the manufacture, distribution, dispensing, use, or possession of any
controlled substance; " Employee" means the employee of a grantee directly engaged in the performance of work under
a grant, including: All" direct charge" employees; all " indirect charge" employees unless their impact or involvement is
insignificant to the performance of the grant; and temporary personnel and consultants who are directly engaged in the
performance of work under the grant and who are on the grantee' s payroll. This definition does not include workers not
on the payroll of the grantee( e.g., volunteers, even if used to meet a matching requirement; consultants or independent
contractors not on the grantee' s payroll; or employees of subrecipients or subcontractors in covered workplaces).



Note that by signing these certifications, certain documents must be completed, in use, and on file for verification. These
documents include:

1.   Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing
2.   Citizen Participation Plan

3.   Anti- displacement and Relocation Plan

April 28, 2020

Signature/ Authorized Official Date

Thaddeus McCormack

Name

City Manager

Title

5050 North Clark Avenue

Address

Lakewood, CA 90712

City/ State/ Zip

562- 866- 9771

Telephone Number



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  138 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

HUD Listing of Proposed Projects 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Project WEINGART SENIOR CENTER IMPROVEMENTS

Activity 1

Description

The improvements include removing the existing barriers to the disabled, replacing the flooring, converting assembly
space to private offices for social services, enclosing the billiards room, and remodeling the lobby.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

5520 Oliva Avenue, Lakewood CA 90712

Objective Number Project ID

11 001 Funding Sources:
HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation CDBG 215, 124. 00

A 571c
ESG

Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective
HOME

Local Government LMC

Start Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)
HOPWA

07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020
Total Formula

Performance Indicator Annual Units Prior Year Funds

Public Facilities Assisted Housing

Local ID Units Upon Completion
PHA

Other Funding
Total 215, 124. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS Persons with Disabilities® Public Housing Needs



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need HOUSING PRESERVATION AND IMPROVEMENT

Project COMMUNITY CONSERVATION PROGRAM

Activity 2

Description Provide funds for a community conservation program ( code enforcement) in eligible low
and moderate income deteriorated and/or blighted neighborhoods.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/ Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

CDBG Eligible Areas- Census Tract 5550. 01, Block Groups 1, 2, 3 and 4; Census Tract 5550. 02 Block Groups 1

and 2; Census Tract 5551. 02 Block Groups 1 and 2; Census Tract 5551. 03, Block Group 2; Census Tract

5551. 04, Block Group 1; 5700. 01, Block Groups 2 and 4; Census Tract 5700. 03, Block Group 3 and 4; Census

Tract 5708. 00, Block Group 1; Census Tract 5714. 00, Block Group 3; Census Tract 5715. 03, Block Group 1.

Objective Number Project ID Funding Sources:
10 002 CDBG 38, 000. 00

HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation ESG

5 570. 202( c)       HOME
Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective

Local Government LMA
HOPWA

Start Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)
Total Formula

07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020
Prior Year Funds

Performance Indicator Annual Units Assisted Housing

Housing Units 250 Households PHA

Local ID Units Upon Completion Other Funding

1250 Total 38, 000. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS Persons with Disabilities® Public Housing Needs



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need PUBLIC SERVICES

Project FAIR HOUSING PROGRAM

Activity 3

Description Provide funds for a fair housing counseling program and landlord tenant services for
residents and property owners.  The Fair Housing Consultant will function as a central
source for fair housing information and education; investigate and conciliate housing
discrimination complaints; make referrals to appropriate sources for the formal resolution

of complaints when information conciliation efforts fail; distribute information on landlord

tenant rights and assist low and moderate income families in maintaining suitable housing.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/ Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

Community Wide

Objective Number Project ID Funding Sources:
01 003 CDBG 38, 695. 00

HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation ESG

570. 201 ( e)       HOME

Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective
HOPWA

Local Government 570. 208( a)( 1)    
Total Formula

Start Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)     
07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020

Prior Year Funds

Performance Indicator Annual Units Assisted Housing

People 250 Households PHA

Other FundingLocal ID Units Upon Completion g

1250 Total 38, 695. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS 0 Persons with Disabilities Public Housing Needs



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need PUBLIC SERVICES

Project MEALS ON WHEELS

Activity 4

Description Provide funds toward the operation of a public service program, which provides in home
meal delivery to low- income,  senior and disabled residents.  The City will serve an
estimated 110 low-income (unduplicated numbers) and special needs persons throughout
the fiscal year.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/ Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

Community Wide

Objective Number Project ID Funding Sources:
01 004 CDBG 10, 500. 00

HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation ESG

SA 570. 201 ( e)       HOME

Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective

Local Government LMC
HOPWA

Start Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/dd/ yyyy)
Total Formula

07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020
Prior Year Funds

Performance Indicator Annual Units Assisted Housing
People 110 Households PHA

Local ID Units Upon Completion Other Funding
Total 10, 500. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS Persons with Disabilities® Public Housing Needs



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need PUBLIC SERVICES

Project PATHWAYS VOLUNTEER HOSPICE

Activity 5

Description Provide funds for the operation of a public service program, which provides in-home non-
medical services to individuals and/ or families living with illness or loss. It is expected 30
households will receive services throughout the fiscal year.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/ Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

Community Wide

Objective Number Project ID Funding Sources:
01 005 CDBG 9, 000. 00

HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation ESG

OSA 570. 201( e) HOME

Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective
HOPWA

Local Government LMC

Start Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)
Total Formula

07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020
Prior Year Funds

Performance Indicator Annual Units Assisted Housing

People 30 PHA

Local ID Units Upon Completion Other Funding
Total 9, 000. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS® Persons with Disabilities® Public Housing Needs



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need PUBLIC SERVICES

Project COMMUNITY FAMILY GUIDANCE

Activity 6

Description Provide funds toward the operation of a public service program, which provides counseling
services for emotionally disturbed children. An estimated 90 unduplicated participants will
receive services throughout the fiscal year.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/ Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

Community Wide

Objective Number Project ID Funding Sources:
01 006 CDBG 9, 000. 00

HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation ESG

OSN570. 201( e) HOME

Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective

Non-profit LMC
HOPWA

Start Date( mm/dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)
Total Formula

07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020
Prior Year Funds

Performance Indicator Annual Units Assisted Housing
People 90 PHA

Local ID Units Upon Completion Other Funding
Total 9, 000. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS Persons with Disabilities® Public Housing Needs



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need PUBLIC SERVICES

Project HUMAN SERVICES ASSOCIATION ( HSA)

Activity 7

Description This activity will support senior citizen congregate meals at two Lakewood locations and
home delivered meals to Lakewood residents.  In addition, they have a variety of other
services seniors can tap in to.   These services include integrated Care Management,

Caregiver Support, as well as a Registry for Home Based Care.   It is expected that

approximately 75 unduplicated frail and isolated Lakewood seniors will receive meals.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/ Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

Community Wide

Objective Number Project ID Funding Sources:
01 007 CDBG 9, 000. 00

HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation ESG

OSA 570. 201( e) HOME

Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective

Subrecipient 570. 208( a)( 2)    
HOPWA

Start Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/ dd/yyyy)
Total Formula

07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020
Prior Year Funds

Performance Indicator Annual Units Assisted Housing

People 75 PHA

Other FundingLocal ID Units Upon Completion g

Total 9, 000. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS Persons with Disabilities® Public Housing Needs



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need HOUSING PRESERVATION AND IMPROVEMENT

Project REHABILITATION DELIVERY COSTS

Activity 8

Description Provide funds for the payment of administrative costs for carrying charges such as
rehabilitation counseling, work specifications, loan processing, inspections and processing
loan paybacks.  It is expected that approximately 11 loan paybacks will be processed and
10 loans and up to 6 grants funded will be approved.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/ Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

Community Wide

Objective Number Project ID Funding Sources:
10 008 CDBG 85, 410. 00

HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation ESG

14A 570. 202( b) HOME

Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective

Local Government 570. 208( a)( 2)    
HOPWA

Start Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/ dd/yyyy)       
Total Formula

07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020
Prior Year Funds

Performance Indicator Annual Units Assisted Housing

16 Housing Units PHA

Local ID Units Upon Completion Other Funding

80 Total 85, 410. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS Persons with Disabilities Public Housing Needs 0



U. S. Department of Housing OMB Approval No. 2506- 0117

and Urban Development

Table 3C

Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Jurisdiction' s Name CITY OF LAKEWOOD

Priority Need PLANNING AND ADMINISTRATION

Project PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION

Activity 9

Description This program ensures the effective use of limited CDBG funds, for the community' s
priorities and federal regulations.  Activities include the preparation of the Consolidated
Plan, Action Plan, and Annual Performance Report, and continuous outreach to address the

changing needs of the community.  Staff are trained on CDBG requirements and future

program development.

Objective Category:      ® Suitable Living Environment  Decent Housing     Economic Opportunity
Outcome Category:       ® Availability/ Accessibility       Affordability Sustainability

Location:

Community Wide

Objective Number Project ID Funding Sources:
3 009 CDBG 108, 137. 00

HUD Matrix Code CDBG Citation ESG

21 A 570. 206 HOME

Type of Recipient CDBG National Objective

Local Government 570. 208( a)( 1)    
HOPWA

Start Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)    Completion Date( mm/ dd/ yyyy)       
Total Formula

07/ 01/ 2019 06/ 30/ 2020
Prior Year Funds

Performance Indicator Annual Units Assisted Housing
PHA

Local ID Units Upon Completion Other Funding
Total 108, 13 7. 00

The primary purpose of the project is to help the Homeless Persons with HIV/ AIDS Persons with Disabilities Public Housing Needs



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  139 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Citizen Participation Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 



CITY OF LAKEWOOD

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN

For all Federally Funded Grant Programs)

A.       INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Section 104( a)( 3) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as
amended, the City adopted this Citizen Participation Plan in July 1978 ( revised October 1981,
June 1988, June 1995, May 2001, and May 2005.)   By doing so, the City acknowledges the

integral role of citizen participation in the process of planning and development and the
execution of the Community Development Block Grant Program ( CDBG) and all other Federally
funded grant programs.

The plan outlines basic tenets of the citizen participation process and regulations.  The citizen
participation regulations remain in effect throughout the implementation of the City' s
entitlement award from the federal government, or until the funds are completely exhausted.

The Lakewood' s Citizen Participation Plan is composed of the following parts:

A.  Lakewood Citizen Participation Plan ( Purpose)

B.  Definitions

C.  Role of Citizens

D.  Guidelines for Citizen Participation

1.  Consolidated Plan and Action Plan

2.  Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report ( CAPER)

3.  Public Hearings

4.  Information Access

5.  Non- English Speaking Residents

6.  Persons with Disabilities

7.  Program Amendments

8.  Technical Assistance

E.  Citizen Service Requests and Grievance Procedure

B.       LAKEWOOD CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN

The Citizen Participation Plan is designed to facilitate two- way communication between the City

and its residents on matters pertaining to the use of all Federal Grant funding from the US
Department of Housing and Urban Development  ( HUD).    Under this plan,  citizens are

encouraged to participate in application development, program implementation, assessment of

performance, submission of views and proposals, consideration of objections to applications,



complaints, technical assistance, public hearings, bilingual dissemination, when appropriate,

and program amendments. The Lakewood Citizen Participation Plan:

Provides greater visibility of the City of Lakewood Community Development

Department' s improvement programs;

Encourages citizen involvement in neighborhood improvement activities;

Ensures equitable representation of all segments of the population; and

Describes the process to enlist citizen participation in the development of the City' s

Five- year Consolidated Plan,  the Annual Action Plan,  the Consolidated Annual

Performance and Evaluation Report ( CAPER), and any Substantial Amendments to the
Consolidated Plan or Action Plan.

DEFINITIONS

Five- Year Consolidated Plan: This document is submitted to HUD every five years and serves as
the 5- year planning document of the City and application for funding for CDBG, HOME, and
other federally funded programs.   The Consolidated Plan consists of the following primary

components: a needs assessment and an analysis which identifies priorities and a strategy

which establishes goals and objectives for addressing priority needs and time frames for
achievements.

One- Year Action Plan:   This document is submitted to HUD every year and updates the
Consolidated Plan and allocates one year' s CDBG funding,  including any program income
generated from CDBG.  The Action Plan is developed to identify the actions that will be taken

and projects that will be funded to meet the strategy' s goals and objectives.

Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report ( CAPER):  This document reports on

the progress made in carrying out the Consolidated Plan and Action Plan.

Public Hearing:  A public hearing is a public meeting that has been publicly noticed in a local
newspaper of general circulation,  or noticed in a fashion which otherwise follows local

procedures for formal noticing of public hearings.   Public hearings are required prior to the

adoption of the Consolidated Plan, Action Plan, and Substantial Amendments to either plan.

Urgency Needs:  A Federal, State or Local declared Emergency or Crisis.

C.       ROLE OF CITIZENS

Citizen involvement is vital to assure that neighborhood improvement policies, procedures,
programs and activities are well suited to local needs. Individual neighborhoods possess unique
qualities that are more fully understood at the community level among those who reside, own
property,  or work within these areas.    This knowledge is invaluable to the successful

revitalization of communities.

Residents' concerns and ideas may be articulated to the City' s Planning and Environment
Commission ( PEC). The PEC is an advisory body to the City Council regarding community



development improvement issues. The PEC addresses itself to the development, review, and

adoption of the following ideas:

The City' s Consolidated Plan and Action Plan ( includes all Federal Grant Applications);

The submission of the City' s Performance Report ( CAPER);

Community development strategies, programs, policies, and procedures;

The Citizen Participation Plan

Regular meetings of the PEC are conducted on a monthly basis, and special meetings may also
be held during any month at the order the Commission Chairperson, should the need arise.  A
current schedule of PEC meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk' s office located at City
Hall, 5050 North Clark Avenue, Lakewood, California 90712, or by calling ( 562) 866- 9771.

All meetings take place in the Council Chambers at the Civic Center, 5000 Clark Avenue,
Lakewood, California 90712 unless another location is publicized in advance.  In the event of

Urgency Needs,  specific procedural changes such as conducting virtual meetings or via
tele/ video conferencing may be implemented.  The agenda for each PEC meeting is posted at

the Council Chambers and on the City' s website at www. lakewoodcity. org at least 72 hours

prior to the meeting.   Public hearing notices for PEC meetings are posted at the following
locations at least 72 hours prior to any hearing:

Lakewood City Hall

City Clerk' s Office

5050 Clark Avenue

Lakewood, CA 90712

Bloomfield Park

21420 Pioneer Blvd.

Lakewood, CA 90715

Mayfair Park

5720 N. Clark Avenue

Lakewood, CA 90712

D.       GUIDELINES FOR CITIZEN PARTICIPATION

The Citizen Participation Plan process provides residents of the City the formal opportunity to
take part in the development of community development programs and amendments to
adopted plans, at the community wide- level in a public forum, before the PEC.  The specific

guidelines governing information access,  public notices,  and technical assistance,  among

others, that the City will follow to encourage citizen participation in the preparation of the
Consolidated Plan and submission of the Performance Report are listed below:



Consolidated Plan and Action Plan:

Following the preparation of the Consolidated Plan/ Action Plan, the following steps will be
taken to afford the public an adequate opportunity to review and comment on the document:

1.  Summary describing the contents of the purpose of the proposed Consolidated

Plan/ Action Plan will be public in at least one local City newspaper of general circulation.

The summary will also include a list of locations where a complete draft of the
Consolidated Plan/ Action Plan can be obtained.

2.  The publication of the summary will commence a 30- day public review period during
which citizens will have the opportunity to examine the proposed Consolidated

Plan/ Action Plan and submit comments regarding the draft document. Complete copies

of the draft Consolidated Plan/ Action Plan will be available for review at the City' s
website at www. lakewoodcity. org and at the following locations:

Lakewood City Hall

Community Development Department

5050 Clark Avenue

Lakewood, CA 90712

Lakewood City Hall

City Clerk' s Office

5050 Clark Avenue

Lakewood, CA 90712

lacoboni Library

4990 N. Clark Avenue

Lakewood, CA 90712

3.  A public hearing before the PEC will be held to further provide citizens an opportunity to
comment on the draft Consolidated Plan/ Action Plan.  All guidelines set forth under the
Public Hearing section of this document will be followed to ensure and encourage

citizen participation.

Consolidated Plan Amendments

The City shall complete a substantial amendment to the Consolidated Plan when a Priority
Need is added or removed from the Consolidated Plan.

Action Plan Amendments

The City shall follow the following procedure to complete substantial and minor amendments
to the Action Plan, as needed.



The City shall substantially amend the Action Plan if a substantial change is proposed by City
staff or the City Council. For the purpose of the Action Plan, a " substantial change" is defined
as:

Addition of a new activity not previously identified in the Action Plan, without regard to

funding source;
Cancellation of an existing activity identified in the Action Plan, without regard to
funding source;

A change in the purpose, scope, location or beneficiaries of an activity; or
Changes in the use of CDBG funds from one eligible activity to another eligible activity

meeting the following thresholds:

Net Increase or Decrease Trigger of_Substantial Minor Amendment*

Amendment*

Net Increase 30% of the most recent      < 30% of the most recent grant

grant allocation allocation

Net Decrease 30% of the most recent      < 30% of the most recent grant

grant allocation allocation

Amended amounts will not be cumulative, that is, each amendment will stand on its own for

purposes of determining the 30 percent threshold.)

The City may make minor changes to the Action Plan, including any changes not included in the

definition of a " substantial change" above, as needed, so long as the changes do not constitute
a substantial amendment as described above. Such minor changes to the Action Plan do not

require a public review and comment period or a public hearing.  However,  City Council
approval of activity funding changes may be required based on the amount and City policy.

Urgency Needs:

Upon the Declaration of a Federal, State, or Local Emergency, the public participation process
may be modified as determined by the HUD.

Performance Report

Upon completion of the Performance Report, and prior to its submission to HUD, a public

notice will be published in at least one local newspaper servicing the residents of Lakewood

announcing the availability of the report for review and comment.  Publication of this notice

will commence a 15- day period during which citizens will have the opportunity to examine the
Performance Report and submit comments regarding the document.



Analysis of Impediments or Assessment of Fair Housing (Al or AFH)

The Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice ( AI) or Assessment of Fair Housing (AFH) is
a five- year plan completed by the City individually or as part of a local consortium of other HUD
grantees pursuant to HUD guidance for the evaluation of local housing conditions, economics,
policies and practices and the extent to which these factors impact the range of housing choices
and opportunities available to all residents in an environment free from discrimination. As of

April 2019, HUD has suspended the AFH planning framework.  HUD currently requires the
submission of an Al for grantees submitting Consolidated Plans for FY 2020- 2024.   If HUD

renews the AFH planning framework,  the AFH will replace the Al in the context and

implementation of this section.

Public Hearings:

Public hearings shall provide the major source of citizen input on the proposed community
development program, activities, policies, and procedures. At a minimum, the City will conduct

two separate public hearings— one for the purpose of reviewing the draft Consolidated Plan
and the second for the purpose of reviewing program performance and progress through the
submission of the Performance Report.  All public hearings will be made accessible to persons
with disabilities upon request.

To ensure that all City residents have ample opportunity to take notice of all scheduled public
hearings, all notices regarding such hearings, including the date, time, and location shall be
published in at least one local City newspaper of general circulation a minimum of 14 days prior
to the date of the public hearing.

Information Access

Included in the Consolidated Plan will be the estimated amount of federal funding available to

the City, and the range of eligible activities, programs, and projects designed to utilize these
available funds.  Copies of the Consolidated Plan, Action Plan, Citizen Participation Plan, CAPER,

and documents regarding other important program requirements,  including contracting

procedures,  environmental policies,  fair housing/ equal opportunity requirements,  and

relocation provisions will be available to the public at the City' s website at

www. lakewoodcity. org and during the regular business hours of 7: 30 a. m. to 5: 30 p. m.,
Monday through Thursday and alternative Fridays from 7: 30 a. m. to 5: 00 p. m.   City Hall is

closed every other Friday.

The City' s Community Development Department is located at 5050 N. Clark Avenue, Lakewood,
CA 90712. Additional information and assistance may be obtained by calling 562- 866- 9771.

Non- English Speaking Residents

It is the intent of the City to also allow for input by all non- English speaking persons, as well as
English speaking residents,  in the public hearing process.   The City will provide bilingual

assistance whenever it has been determined necessary to adequately allow persons to express



their views regarding the planning, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation of community
development improvement activities.   All advertisement for public hearing will note that
arrangements for an interpreter can be made by contacting the City' s Community Development
Department.

E.       CITIZEN SERVICES REQUESTS AND GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Citizens should be aware that any questions or grievances,  regarding any facet of City

operations, can be submitted to the Community Development Department located at 5050 N.
Clark Ave., Lakewood, CA 90712.  During the development of the Consolidated Plan submission,
written concerns or complaints regarding the Plan shall initiate a written response indicating

assessment of the complaint and/ or proposals and actions taken to address the complaints
and/ or proposals before the final submission of the Consolidated Plan to HUD.  The City shall
ensure that reasonable attempts are made to respond to questions or complaints in a timely

manner, usually within 15 working days after receipt of the inquiry.   If the content of the

complaint is based on a probable misunderstanding ( i. e., scope of block grant activities), the

response communication will so state and give the complaining party the opportunity of
alternative forms of redress.

Although HUD will consider objections submitted at any time, such objections should be
submitted within 30 days of the submission of the Consolidated Plan, Action Plan, or CAPER to

HUD. Any written inquiries submitted to HUD should be addressed as follows:

US DEPT. OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT

Los Angeles Area Office

Community Planning and Development Division

300 North Los Angeles Street, Suite 4045

Los Angeles, CA 90012

Objections submitted to HUD must meet one or more of the following criteria:

The description of the needs and objectives are plainly inconsistent with available facts
and data.

The activities to be undertaken are plainly inappropriate to meeting the needs and
objectives defined by jurisdiction.
The submission does not comply with specific requirements or law.
The submission proposed the undertaking of ineligible activities.



RESIDENTIAL ANTI- DISPLACEMENT AND RELOCATION ASSISTANCE PLAN — CITY OF

LAKEWOOD FISCAL YEAR 2016- 2017

1. INTRODUCTION

Section 509 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1987 amended Section 104 of
the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 by adding a new subsection.

The new Section 104( d) of the Act became effective October 1, 1988, and provides that a grant
under Section 106, Community Development Block Grant ( CDBG) Programs may be made only if
the grantee certifies that it is following a residential anti- displacement and relocation assistance
plan.  The residential anti- displacement and relocation assistance plan under Section 104( d)
must contain two components: ( 1) A requirement to replace all low and moderate income

dwelling units that are demolished or converted to a use other than low and moderate income

housing as a direct result of the use of CDBG assistance and,  ( 2) a relocation assistance

component.

A certification and plan is required even if the grant will not result in demolition or in the
conversion of a low and moderate income unit to use other than low and moderate income

housing.

The document serves as the residential anti- displacement and relocation assistance plan for the
2016-2017 fiscal year.   In implementation of the relocation activities related to this plan,

Section 104( d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended and the
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisitions Policies Act of 1970 as amended
will be followed. The following details the City of Lakewood' s Plan.

IL RESIDENTIAL ANTI DISPLACEMENT AND RELOCATION ASSISTANCE PLAN UNDER

SECTION 104( d) OF THE HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ACT OF 1974, AS

AMENDED.

A.       The City of Lakewood will replace all occupied and vacant unoccupied low and

moderate income dwelling units demolished or converted to a use other than as
low and moderate income housing as a direct result of activities assisted with
funds provided under the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as
amended, as described in 24 CFR, 570. 606 ( b)( 1).

B.       All replacement housing will be provided within three  ( 3)  years of the

commencement of the demolition or rehabilitation relating to conversion.

Before obligating or expending funding that will directly result in such demolition

or conversion, the City of Lakewood will make public and submit to the HUD

Field Office the following information in writing.

1.  A description of the proposed assisted activity;

2.  The general location on a map and approximate number of dwelling units by
size ( number of bedrooms) that will be demolished or converted to a use



other than low and moderate income dwelling units as a result of the

assisted activity;

I A time schedule for the commencement and completion of the demolition or

conversion;

4.  The general location on a map and approximate number of dwelling units by
size ( number of bedrooms) that will be provided as replacement dwelling
units;

5.  The source of funding and a time schedule for the provision of replacement
dwelling units, and

6.  The basis for concluding that each replacement dwelling unit will remain a

low and moderate income dwelling unit for at least ten ( 10) years from the
date of initial occupancy.

C.       The City of Lakewood will provide relocation assistance, as described in 24 CFR
570. 606 ( b)( 2), to each low and moderate income household displaced by the
demolition of housing or by the conversion of a low and moderate income
dwelling unit to another use as a direct result to assisted activities.

D.       Consistent with the goals and objectives of activities assisted under the Act, the
City of Lakewood will take the following steps to minimize the displacement of

persons from their homes:

1.  Provide replacement housing as described in 24 CFR 570. 606 ( b)( 1) and

outlined as follows:

One for One replacement units — all occupied and vacant low and moderate

income dwelling units ( units that could be occupied) that are demolished or
converted to a use other than low and moderate income dwelling units as a

direct result of CDBG activities will be replaced by the City by private

developers with low and moderate income dwelling units.

The replacement of low and moderate income dwelling units may include

public housing or existing housing receiving Section 8 project- based
assistance.

The replacement of low and moderate income dwelling units will be provided

within three years of the commencement of the demolition or rehabilitation
related to the conversion and will meet the following requirements;

a.  The unit will be located within the City' s jurisdiction.

b.  The units will be sufficient in number and size to house the number of

occupants that could have been housed in the units that are demolished

or converted.  The number of occupants that may be housed shall be

determined in accordance with local housing occupancy codes.



c.   The units will be provided in standard condition and may include units
which have been raised from substandard to standard.

111.      RELOCATION ADVISORYASSISTANCE

A.       The City will administer its relocation program, including providing relocation
assistance and the preparation of claims for processing by the Community
Development Department, City of Lakewood.

B.       The Relocation Program will provide maximum assistance to minimize the

hardship of displacement to all persons displaced from their dwellings and to

displaced businesses to assure their re- establishment with a minimum of delay.

C.       Personal and continuing contact will be maintained with those to be displaced

until they are satisfactorily relocated, and where hardship is evident, a follow- up
call will be made to ease the transition of the move.

1.  The following specific services will be provided;

a.   Each person or business required to move will be personally interviewed,
and a detailed and clear explanation of benefits will be made.   The

interview will be conducted in the language most easily understood by
the displaced person.

b.  The U. S. Department of Housing Development informational brochures
will be delivered to residential and commercial owners and tenants in a

timely manner.

c.   A member of the staff will continuously make field surveys to locate
housing resources and business vacancies for referrals.  Referrals will be

made to standard housing comparable to the occupied housing and in

close proximity to employment, medical, shopping, transportation and

eating facilities.  Additionally, real estate brokers will be informed of the
displacement, and their cooperation will be solicited in making referrals.
Referrals to commercial sites will be made relative to commercial

operators' needs in location, square footage requirements, trade area,

and other business location criteria.  Inspection of housing resources will

be undertaken prior to referral and after the move of the displaced
person.

d.  If transportation is needed to field check referrals, the staff member or

consultant will provide such transportation.

e.  Assistance will be given by explaining procedures to purchase a home,

including the purpose of and charges made through escrow.

f.   If social service agencies in the community could provide a needed
service, referrals will be made and follow- up programs will be instituted.

The referral services could be Social Security Administration, Department



of Public Social Services, Veteran' s Administration, Lakewood Housing
Authority, and other local service agencies.

g.  Where necessary, efforts will be made to trace self- relocatees.

h.  Assistance will be given in filing relocation claims, and these claims will be
submitted to the Community Development Department,   City of
Lakewood.

i.   Delivery of benefit check will be made promptly and follow- up claims will
be made.

IV.      RELOCATION ASSISTANCE

Each low and moderate income household that is displaced as a direct result of CDBG assisted

activities shall be provided with relocation assistance.    The low and moderate income

household may elect to receive assistance described in 24 CFR Part 49 ( HUD' s regulations
implementing the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of
1970)  or assistance as described under Section 104  ( d)  of the Housing and Community

Development Act of 1974, as amended by Section 509 of the 1987 HCD Act provisions.

Displaced low and moderate income households will receive relocation assistance provided to

displaced persons required under 24 CFR 49, Subpart C ( General Relocation Requirements) and
Subpart D  ( Payment for Moving and Related Expenses)  whether the households receive

assistance under the CFR or Section 104 ( d) of the Act.  Briefly, those benefits are as follows:

Residential Benefits:

1.  Actual moving and related expenses, as the Agency determines to be reasonable and
necessary, including expenses outlined in 49 CFR 24. 301.

2.  Fixed payment for moving expenses as described in 49 CFR 24. 302.

Non Residential Benefits:

1.  Payment for actual reasonable moving and related expenses as described in 49 CFR
24. 303.

2.  Reestablishment expense as described in 49 CFR 24. 304.

3.  Ineligible moving and related expenses as described in 49 CFR 24. 304 ( b) and 49 CFR
24. 305 will not be provided.

4.   Fixed payments for moving expenses as described in 49 CFR. 306.

V.       COST ESTIMATE OF RELOCATION BENEFITS

Since no relocation activity is contemplated, it is not possible to provide a cost estimate of
relocating payment at this time.   However, should it become necessary to make relocation

payments, these payments will be funded with CDBG funds.



Vl.      PLAN FOR DISBURSEMENTS OF RELOCATION BENEFITS

The disbursement of relocation benefits will be made in an orderly and readily available
manner.

All claims for relocation payments must be submitted within 18 months after the displacement

of the claimant.  Relocation claim forms will be prepared by the relocation staff; the forms will
be explained in detail to the claimant.  Once the signature of the displacee has been obtained,

the prepared forms, accompanied by a memorandum explaining the particular need, etc., of

the claimant will be promptly delivered to the Community Development Department, City of
Lakewood, for review, approval and preparation of warrants.  Upon verification of vacating the
acquired property, the relocation benefits will be delivered.

Advanced payments will be processed when it is evident that there is a hardship.   These

payments will be delivered in a timely way to assure ease in securing relocated housing
commitments.

A claim must be supported by the necessary documentation which may include itemized
receipted moving bills, income tax returns, opening/ closing escrow statements, verification of
rental data and any other information deemed appropriate and necessary to support the claim.

Payments will be processed in All claim papers and related evidence will become permanent
records of the Community Development Department,  City of Lakewood,  as part of the

individual files maintained for each displaced person or business.

If a business does not file a claim for any of the above benefits, it may file for In- Lieu of Moving
and Related Expenses Payment.  No payment of this kind shall be made unless the Community

Development Department, City of Lakewood, is satisfied that the business cannot be relocated

without substantial loss of patronage and is not part of a commercial enterprise having at least

one other establishment not being acquired, which is engaged in the same or similar business.

This payment represents the average annual net income for the two years prior to

displacement, except that the payment may not be less than $ 1, 000 or more than $ 20, 000 ( 49

FR 24. 306 { a}).

Payments will be processed in a timely manner to minimize hardship.

VIL LAST RESORT HOUSING

Last resort housing is not contemplated as it has been determined comparable replacement

housing will be available for project residents within a reasonable period prior to displacement.

However, if it is necessary, procedures as referenced in the Uniform Act will be followed.



 

Consolidated Plan Lakewood  140 
 
OMB Control No:  2506-0117 (exp.06/30/2018) 

 

Public Notices 







 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments to 

Fair Housing Choice 
 

 

 

 

April 28, 2020 

 

 

 

City of Lakewood 
5050 Clark Avenue 

Lakewood, California 90712 
 
 
 



 

 
 

City of Lakewood 2020-2024 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 

Executive Summary   1 
 
1. Introduction   7 
 1.1 Purpose of Report   7 
 1.2 Organization of Report   8 
 1.3 Preparers of Report and Data Sources   8 
 1.4 Public Participation   9 
 
2. Community Profile  10 
 2.1 Demographic Profile  10 
 2.2 Household Characteristics  18 
 2.3 Income Profile  21 
 2.4 Housing Profile  24 
 2.5 Public and Assisted Housing  30 
 2.6 Licensed Community Care Facilities  31 
 2.7 Accessibility of Public Transit  31 
 
3. Mortgage Lending Practices  37 
 3.1 Disposition of Conventional Home Loan Applications by Race and Income  38 
 3.2 Disposition of Government-Backed Home Loan Applications  41 
 3.3 Lending by Census Tract and Tract Income by Minority Concentration  41 
 3.4 Mortgage Refinancing  42 
 3.5 Predatory Lending and Housing Fraud  43 
 
4. Public Policies  46 
 4.1 Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions  46 
 4.2 Public Policies and Programs Affecting Housing Development  46 
 
5. Assessment of Fair Housing Practices  54 
 5.1 Fair Housing Practices of Realtors and Other Housing Associations  54 
 5.2 Fair Housing Services  58 
 5.3 Hate Crimes  60 
 
6. Indentification of Impediments and Actions 61 
 6.1 Findings  61 
 6.2 Actions to Further Fair Housing Choice in Lakewood  63 
 
7. Signature Page 68 
 
 
  



 

 
 

List of Tables 
 
Table Page 
 
2-1:   Population Trends  12 
2-2:   Age Distributions  13 
2-3:   Race and Ethnicity  13 
2-4:   Household Type Distribution  18 
2-5:   Income by Household Type  21 
2-6:   Household Income Distribution by Race/Ethnicity  22 
2-7:   Housing Stock Growth  24 
2-8:   Housing Stock  25 
2-9:   Overcrowded Housing  26 
2-10: 2018 Rental Rates  27 
2-11: 2019 Affordable Housing Prices and Rents by Income Group  28 
2-12: Age of Housing Stock 2016 29 
2-13: Major Employers  34 
3-1:   Disposition of Conventional Home Purchase Loan Applications by Race, 2017  39 
3-2:   Approval Rates for Conventional Home Purchase Loans, 2017  40 
3-3:   Comparison of Conventional and Government-Backed Home Purchase Loan Applications, 

2017  41 
3-4:   Comparison of Conventional Home Purchase Loans by Census Tract, 2017  42 
3-5:   Trends of Conventional Mortgage Refinancing Applications by Race, 2017  43 
4-1:   Residential Zone Districts  47 
5-9:   Landlord/Tenant Services FY 18-19  59 
5-2:   Hate Crimes 2001-2017  60 
 
  



 

 
 

List of Figures 
 
Figure Page 
 
2.1:   Lakewood and Adjacent Cities  11 
2.2:   Location and Concentration of African American Households  15 
2.3:   Location and Concentration of Hispanic Households  16 
2.4:   Location and Concentration of Asian Households  17 
2.5:   Low and Moderate Income Concentrations  23 
2.6:   Transit Accessibility to Employment Centers  35 
2.7:   Transit Accessibility to Community Facilities and Assisted Housing  36 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 1 

Executive Summary 
 

Background 
 
The Analysis of Impediments (AI) to Fair Housing Choice provides an overview of laws, 
regulations, conditions or other possible obstacles that may affect an individual or a household’s 
access to housing in the City of Lakewood (City).  The AI presents a demographic profile of the 
community.  It assesses the extent of housing needs among specific income groups, and evaluates 
the availability of a range of housing choices for residents.  This report also contains an analysis 
of the conditions in the private market and the public sector that may limit the range of housing 
choices or impede a person’s access to housing. 
 
Incorporated in 1954, Lakewood experienced most of its population growth during the 1950s and 
1960s.  By 1970, Lakewood had approximately 83,000 residents.  In 1990, the population had 
declined to approximately 73,500.  In 2000, the population increased to 79,345 residents and in 
2019, Lakewood’s population was estimated to be 81,352. 
 
The decrease in population during the 1970s was not accompanied by a decrease in housing units 
(single-family homes, apartments, condominiums, and mobile homes).  The number of housing 
units has been slowly and consistently increasing over several decades due to new construction.  
The reduction in population was due to instead to decreases in household size.  Many of the young 
couples who moved to Lakewood in the 1940s, 50s, and 60s to raise their families became one or 
two person households again as their children moved out of the home.  This demographic transition 
is reflected in the changes in the City’s average household size, which declined from 3.77 in 1960 
to 3.03 in 2000 and subsequently rose to 3.1 in 2010 and has remained at 3.1 in 2018.  The 
subsequent population increase over the past two decades has come from an increase in the number 
of persons per household as younger families again move into the City.  The increase in the 
residential population is also due in part to the conversion of single-family properties located in 
the Multi-Family Residential (M-F-R) zone being redeveloped into multi-family residences. 
 
Along with this new growth, the ethnic and racial composition of the community has changed.  
Over the past decade. The percentage of White residents has decreased while the proportion of 
Hispanic, Asian, and African American residents has increased. 
 
The City has been approaching build-out for several years.  As a result, housing growth has been 
minimal compared to other jurisdictions with surplus land.  The housing stock has increased by 
fewer than 4,000 units since 1970, with an increase of 278 units since 2000.  Ownership housing 
in the City is affordable only to above moderate income households, while moderate income 
households can afford most rental units throughout the City.   
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 2 

Lending Issues 
 
Though the City has become increasingly diverse since 1990, significant differences are present 
in the loan approval rates among the different racial and ethnic group.  Conventional home 
purchase loan approval rates for African Americans and Hispanic applicants are significantly 
lower than rates for White and Asian applicants.  Similar patterns are also found in the approval 
rates for home improvement loans.  Approval rates of government assisted home purchase loans 
were high for all ethnic and racial backgrounds. 
 
Loan approval rates in Census tracts with high minority concentration were similar to approval 
rates in tracts with low minority concentration.  Therefore, minority concentration does not appear 
to be a factor in the loan approval rates of the Census tracts.  Loan approval correlates most closely 
with Census tract income. 
 

Fair Housing Issues 
 
Lakewood contracts with Fair Housing Consultants Inc. to provide fair housing services to City 
residents.  Fair Housing Consultants Inc. received five housing discrimination complaints during 
FY 2018-2019 pertaining to racial discrimination or based on familial status.  Fair Housing 
Consultants Inc. referred all five cases to the Department of Fair Employment and Housing 
(DFEH) for further investigation after consulting with the clients. 

 
Landlord/Tenant Disputes 
 
During FY 2018-2019, Fair Housing Consultants Inc. responded to 242 complaints regarding 
various tenant/landlord disputes.  The most common complaint dealt with rent increase.  Other 
complaints pertained to repairs, security deposits, and evictions.  Section 5 contains discussion and 
tables on this topic. 
 

Recommendations and Actions 
 
This AI proposes several recommendations and actions for the City of Lakewood, lending 
institutions, and service agencies to address these fair housing concerns.  The actions are identified 
below: 
 

A. Expand Affordable Housing Opportunities 
 
While the availability of affordable housing is not in itself a Fair Housing issue, it becomes an 
issue when Hispanic and African American households are disproportionately impacted by lower 
and moderate incomes and, therefore, have fewer housing options than other racial/ethnic groups.  
The following actions will continue to assist the City in expanding affordable housing 
opportunities for City residents. 
 
 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 3 

1. Homeownership Assistance 
 
Action 1.1: The City will continue to provide and expand home ownership opportunities 

for low and moderate income households.  Specifically, the City will explore 
the use of different funding programs to assist households with income between 
30 and 80 percent of the County Median Income (MFI), as such funding sources 
become available.  This group has the most difficulty in obtaining conventional 
home purchase financing.  The City is currently seeking an affordable housing 
developer for four sites (nine lots) to develop with affordable housing for either 
for sale or for rent or a combination of the two.  The City will continue to refer 
interested residents to California Housing Finance Agency (CalHFA). 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 
 

2. Rehabilitation Assistance 
 
Action 2.1: The City will continue to provide and expand assistance for low income 

households in meeting housing rehabilitation needs.  Specifically, the City will 
explore the use of different funding programs to assist households with income 
between 30 and 80 percent of the County MFI.  This group has the most 
difficulty in obtaining home improvement financing.  Rehabilitation assistance 
is also accomplished using the City’s Home Improvement Loan and Fix-Up, 
Paint-Up Grant programs. 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 
 

3. Section 8 Assistance 
 
Action 3.1: In July 2011, the City voluntarily transferred its budget authority and baseline 

units from the Lakewood Housing Authority (LHA) to the Housing Authority 
of the County of Los Angeles (HACoLA) for administration of the program. 

 
 Time Frame: Completed 
 
Action 3.2: Currently, the City continues to provide contact information for, and refers the 

elderly, large families and low-income families to HACoLA for participation 
in the Section 8 program. 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 4 

4. Affordable Housing Resources 
 

Action 4.1: The City will identify and pursue other funding sources for the development of 
affordable housing.  

 
 Time Frame: At least one year, assess the feasibility of applying to 

different funding programs. 

 
B. Public Policies and Programs Affecting Housing Development 
 
The City has identified several public policies and programs that have the potential to restrict equal 
access to housing.  However, many City programs, including programs contained in the General 
Plan Housing Element, contain actions that actively promote equal access to housing.  As a City 
committed to ensuring Fair Housing Choices for all residents, Lakewood has identified the 
following actions: 
 
5. Incentives for Affordable Housing Development 
 

Action 5.1: The City will continue to provide development incentives to owners or 
developers of multi-family housing to set aside units that are affordable to 
low and moderate income residents as such opportunities become available.  

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
Action 5.2: The City has adopted an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Ordinance 

complying with California State Law to allow the construction and 
occupancy of up to two additional units intended for affordable housing on 
residentially zoned properties.  

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
6. Housing Element 
 

Action 6.1: The City will continue to implement the policies and programs identified in 
the certified Housing Element. 

 
 Time Frame: Lakewood’s Housing Element was adopted on August 13, 

2013 and implementation will be ongoing until the 2021 
update. 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 5 

C. Access to Financing 
 
The analysis of lending data revealed that there are some differences that exist in the approval rates 
of loan by the race of the applicant.  The City will take the following actions to improve access to 
financing for residents. 
 
7. Outreach to Lenders 
 

Action 7.1: The City will work with local lenders and government institutions, such as 
CalHFA to provide information about government-backed financing for 
low and moderate income residents.  The City will encourage local lenders 
to provide information in both English and Spanish. 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
8. Education and Resources 
 

Action 8.1: The City will encourage workshops to be held in Lakewood by local lending 
institutions and Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. regarding the home loan 
process and the resources available to low and moderate income 
homebuyers.  The City will refer homebuyers and realtors to designated 
lenders.  The City will encourage local lenders and Fair Housing 
Consultants Inc. to hold workshops in both English and Spanish. 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
Action 8.2: The City will provide brochures or information on homeownership, rental 

assistance, and rehabilitation assistance programs in English and Spanish. 
 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
9. Unfair Lending Practices 
 

Action 9.1: The City will work with Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. to monitor 
complaints regarding unfair lending and assess lending patterns using the 
Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA) and other data sources. 

 
Action 9.2: Periodically, the City will use Lakewood Living, the City newsletter, or 

other media to alert residents of predatory lending practices, or other unfair 
practices that surface in the City. 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 6 

D. Public Outreach 
 
10. Fair Housing Services 
 

Action 10.1: The City will continue to distribute information regarding the services 
provided by Fair Housing Consultants, Inc.  The City will provide a 
description of the services on the City website. 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
Action 10.2: Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. will continue conducting fair housing 

workshops for residents, real estate professionals, apartment owners, and 
property managers.  Specific efforts should be made to expand community 
participation in these workshops, including a greater awareness among 
property owners and managers. 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
Action 10.3: Fair Housing Consultants, Inc will continue to work with local boards of 

realtors to distribute fair housing information to member agencies in 
Lakewood. 

 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 7 

Chapter 1 
  Introduction 

 
Over the past three decades Lakewood experienced significant changes in its demographic profile, 
evolving, from a primarily White community to one with more than half of its population 
comprised of minority persons.  Along with the demographic shifts have been changes in the 
housing market.  In recent years, the housing market has experienced an upturn, resulting in higher 
housing values.  Generally, limited housing stock and the uncertain housing market, particularly 
in the rental housing market, may rise fair housing concerns. 
 
Federal Fair Housing laws prohibit discrimination in the sale, rental, lease, or negotiation of real 
property based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, familial status, and disability.  
California Fair Housing laws are built upon the federal laws and add marital status, ancestry, and 
“any arbitrary discrimination” as the protected categories under the laws. 
 
To affirmatively promote equal housing opportunity, a community must strive to remove 
impediments in the private and public sectors that may work to impede fair housing choice.  
Impediments to fair housing choice are: 
 

• Any actions, omissions, or decisions taken because of race, color, ancestry, national 
origin, religion, sex, disability, marital status, familial status, or any other arbitrary 
factor which restrict housing choices or the availability of housing choices; or 
 

• Any actions, omissions, or decisions which have the effect of restricting housing 
choices or the availability of housing choices on the basis of race, color, ancestry, 
national origin, religion, sex, disability, marital status, familial status, or any other 
arbitrary factor. 

 

1.1 Purpose of Report 
 
This AI to Fair Housing Choice provides an overview of laws, regulations, conditions or other 
possible obstacles that may affect an individual or a household’s access to housing in Lakewood.  
The AI involves: 

§ A review of Lakewood's laws, regulations, and administrative policies, procedures, and 
practices; 
 

§ An assessment of how those laws affect the location, availability, and accessibility of 
housing; and  

 
§ An assessment of conditions, both public and private, affecting fair housing choice. 

 
The scope of analysis and the format used for the AI adhere to recommendations contained in the 
Fair Housing Planning Guide developed by HUD. 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 8 

 

1.2 Organization of Report 
 
This (AI) is divided into seven chapters. 
 

1. Introduction defines “fair housing” and explains the purpose of the report. 
 

2. Community Profile presents the demographic, housing, and income characteristics in 
Lakewood.  It also presents major employers and identifies transportation access to job 
centers.  Lastly, the relationships among these variables are discussed. 
 

3. Mortgage Lending Practices analyzes private lending activities that may impede fair 
housing in Lakewood. 
 

4. Public Policies evaluate City policies to determine if they impede Fair Housing Choice in 
Lakewood. 
 

5. Assessment of Fair Housing Practices evaluates the fair housing services available to 
residents and identifies fair housing complaints and violations in the City. 
 

6. Findings, Recommendations, and Actions provides conclusions and recommendations 
about fair housing in Lakewood. 
 

7. Signature Page which includes the signature of the Chief Elected Official and a statement 
certifying that the AI represents Lakewood’s official conclusions regarding impediments 
to Fair Housing Choice and the actions necessary to address identified impediments. 
 

1.3 Preparers of Report and Data Sources 
 
This report was prepared by City of Lakewood Community Development staff and is funded by 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) administration funds. 
 
The following data sources were used to complete this Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing 
Choice.  Sources of specific information are identified in the text, tables and figures. 

• 1990, 2000, 2010, and 2015 U.S. Census 
• Local Profiles Report 2019, Profile of the City of Lakewood, Southern California 

Association of Governments (SCAG) 
• 2011-2015, 2012-2016 and 2017 American Community Survey 
• City of Lakewood Comprehensive General Plan, including the 2013-2021 Housing 

Element 
• City of Lakewood Municipal Code 
• Housing Authority of Los Angeles County, Section 8 data 
• Home Mortgage Disclosure (HMDA) data regarding lending patterns 
• Dataquick housing sales activity data 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 9 

• Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA), Orange County Transportation Authority 
(OCTA), Long Beach Transit (LBT) and Cerritos on Wheels (COW) routes and schedules 

• Interviews with Fair Housing service providers and other agencies 
• Lakewood 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan 
• 2011-2015 and 2012-2016 Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) 

Databook 
 

1.4 Public Participation 
 
The preparation if this AI involved public outreach, participation, and incorporation of comments 
relative to meeting the fair housing needs of Lakewood.  On January 27, 2020, a consultation 
workshop on the AI was conducted in the Executive Board Room located at the Centre in 
Lakewood.  Public Notice of the meeting was published in the Press Telegram, was posted in three 
public locations, and was published on the City’s website (www.lakewoodcity.org).  The meeting 
was attended by City staff and Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. 
 
On March 5, 2020, the City held a community forum in conjunction with the Planning and 
Environment Commission to solicit input from service providers and residents.  Public notice was 
published in the Press Telegram, was posted in three public locations, and was published on the 
City’s website (www.lakewoodcity.org).  The meeting was attended by members of the City of 
Lakewood Planning and Environment Commission, City staff and Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. 
 
The Draft AI was made available for public review from January 27, 2020 through April 28, 2020.  
A public hearing was held before the City Council on April 28, 2020.  Public notice was published 
in the Press Telegram, was posted in three public locations, and was published on the City’s 
website (www.lakewoodcity.org).  The meeting was attended by members of the City of 
Lakewood City Council, City staff and Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 10 

Chapter 2 
 Community Profile 

 
This chapter analyzes the demographic profile, income distribution, housing stock characteristics, 
and access to public transportation in Lakewood.  The location of community facilities, such as 
group homes, in relation to low and moderate income areas is also analyzed.  By assessing this 
information, the development of housing patterns within the City in relation to race, ethnicity, 
income, and other characteristics can be determined.  This chapter discusses the various 
characteristics that may affect the availability of households with similar income in the same 
housing market to have a like range of housing choice. 
 

2.1 Demographic Profile 
 
Examination of demographic characteristics provides insight into the extent of equal access to 
housing in a community.  Factors such as population growth and changes in age characteristics 
and racial/ethnic composition help determine a community’s housing needs and assist in 
identifying potential impediments to Fair Housing Choice. 
 
Population Growth 
 
Lakewood is an older, developed community located in southeast Los Angeles County (see Figure 
2.1).  Between 1960 and 2018, the population of Lakewood increased from approximately 67,000 
to 81,179 persons, representing an increase of 18.4 percent.  Over this 60-year period, the 
population of the City had risen to 83,000 in 1970 and declined to 73,500 in 1990, and rebounded 
to an estimated 81,179 persons in 2018 (see table 2-1).



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 11 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 12 

Table 2.1:  Population Trends 

Source:  U.S. Census 1960-2010, 2010-2018 ACS and Local Profiles Report 2019, Profile of the City of Lakewood, 
Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) 

 
Household Size 
 
Household size is the average number of persons occupying a dwelling unit.  As a result of the 

changing demographics and the shift in the ethnic composition of the City and the County as a 
whole, household size has been increasing.  

The decrease in population between 1970 and 1990 was attributed to a decrease in household size.  
Lakewood has been a relatively stable community where residents have essentially “aged in 
place”; families that moved to Lakewood in the 1950s and 1960s remained in the City.  As the 
children in these families became adults and left home, the population of the City decreased.  This 
is evidenced by the decrease in household size from 3.77 persons per household in 1960 to 2.75 
persons per household in 1990.  Since 1990, the household size increased from 2.75 in 1990 to 3.1 
in 2018, which is still below the 1960 level.  The increase in household size starting in 1990 is 
attributed to new families with children moving into the community, but some of those children 
became adults and left home. 
 
Age Characteristics 
 
The age characteristics of the population are important indicators of the type of housing needed in 
the community.  For example, a younger population may indicate a high proportion of families 
with young children and, therefore, the need for larger homes. In contrast, a large elderly 
population may indicate a need for an increased number of senior housing units. 
 
Table 2-2 shows the age characteristics for Lakewood residents.  The table shows that the age 
characteristics changed only slightly between 1990 and 2018 but has had an increasing trend.  
Persons age 10 to 19, 20 to 44, and 45-64 account for a larger share of the total population.  In the 
meantime, the proportion of persons age 20-44 and persons 9 and under decreased while the overall 
population slightly increased in 2010 then slightly decreased in 2018.  This may be due to young 
child-less couples and individuals moving into Lakewood, an increase in households lacking a 
family relationship, or a combination of these factors. 
  

Year Population Percent Change 
1960 67,126 - 
1970 82,973 23.6% 
1980 74,654 -10.0% 
1990 73,557 -1.5% 
2000 79,345 7.9% 
2010 80,048 0.9% 
2018 81,179 1.4% 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 13 

Table 2-2:  Age Distribution 
Age Groups 1990 2000 2010 2017 
65 and over 8,879 9,414 9,086 11,982 

45 to 64 14,379 17,003 21,776 21,312 
20 to 44 30,250 29,007 27,297 27,930 
10 to 19 9,317 11,766 12,045 10,752 

9 and under 10,732 12,155 9,844 8,995 
Total Persons: 73,557 79,345 80,048 80,971 

Source: U.S. Census 1990, 2000, and 2010 and 2017 

Race and Ethnic Characteristics 
 
The race and ethnic composition of a population influence fair housing issues to the extent that 
certain racial and ethnic groups may experience discrimination. These influences are due to factors 
such as race, ethnicity, language spoken, or other cultural factors.  
 
Table 2-3, presents the racial and ethnic characteristics of Lakewood residents.  As shown, the 
City has undergone significant changes in racial and ethnic composition since 2000.  The 
proportion of White residents decreased from 62% in 2000, to 51% in 2017.  During these same 
reporting periods, the proportion of Hispanic residents increased from 22% to 30%.  In addition, 
the proportion of Asian residents increased from 13% to 16%, while the proportion of African 
American residents increased from 7% to 8%. 
 
Table 2-3:  Race and Ethnicity 

Race and Ethnicity 2000 2010 2017 
2010-2017 % 

Change 
Non-Hispanic White 62.7% 56% 51.1% -8.7% 
African American 7.3% 8.7% 7.6% -12.6% 
American Indian or Alaska 
Native 

0.6% 0.7% 0.5% -28.5% 

Asian 13.5% 16.4% 18.3% 11.5% 
Native Hawaiian or Pacific 
Islander 

0.6% 0.9% 1.5% 66.6% 

Other* 15.3% 17.3% 21.0% 21.3% 
Hispanic/Latino (any race) 22.8% 30.1% 33.3% 10.6 
Total: 100% 100% 100%  

U.S. Census Bureau American Fact Finder 2000, 2010 and 2017 
 *Starting in 2000, includes persons identifying as two or more races. 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 14 

 
Racial and Ethnic Concentrations 
 
Figures 2.2, 2.3, and 2.4 below illustrate the concentration of African American, Hispanic, and 
Asian households by U.S Census Tracts and Block Groups in the City.  A concentration is defined 
as a greater proportion of total household than the County average, while a high concentration is 
defined as a proportion of more than twice the County average.  The County averages for the racial 
ethnic groups are as follows: 
 

• African American:  19.7% 
• Hispanic:  71.1% 
• Asian:  27.4% 

 
As Figure 2.2 illustrates concentrations African American residents are located toward the easterly 
and westerly portions of the City.  The easterly portion of the City is adjacent to Cerritos, Hawaiian 
Gardens and Long Beach.  There are more high concentrations of African Americans in east 
Lakewood.  West Lakewood is home to the Lakewood Country Club, Lakewood Center Mall and 
Long Beach.  Concentrations of African Americans can be found in Lakewood Country Club and 
surrounding areas while high concentrations of African Americans can be found in Census Tracts 
where near Lakewood Center Mall and Long Beach.  The high concentration areas tend to be areas 
where apartment units are located. 
 
Figure 2.3 shows the distribution of Hispanic households as mainly being located in the eastern 
portion of the City near Cerritos and Hawaiian Gardens.  No high concentrations in of Hispanics 
households exist in the City. 
 
As shown in figure 2.4, several blocks have concentrations and high concentrations of Asian 
households throughout the western and eastern portions of the City.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 15 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 16 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 17 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 18 

2.2 Household Characteristics 
 
Household type and size, income level, the presence of persons with special needs, along with 
other household characteristics may affect a household’s access to housing.  This section details 
the various household characteristics that may affect equal access to housing. 
 
Household Composition and Size 
 
According to Table 2-4 below, in 2017 there were 25,957 households in the City of Lakewood.  In 
2000, there were 26,853 households which decreased slightly to 25,765 households in 2010.  
According to the 2019 Local Profile, households decreased to 25,436 in 2017. 
 
Table 2-4:  Household Type Distribution 

Household 
Type 

2000 2010 2017 

Number 
Percent of 

Total 
Number 

Percent of 
Total 

Number 
Percent of 

Total 
Families 20,550 76.5% 19,916 77.3% 19,584 75.5% 
Single 

Persons 
4,950 18.4% 4,664 18.1% 5,220 20.1% 

Other 1,353 5.0% 1,185 4.6% 1,153 4.4% 
Total 26,853 100% 25,765 100% 25,957 100% 

Source:  2000, 2010 and 2017 U.S. Census Bureau American Fact Finder 

 
Specific characteristics may affect individual household access to housing in the community.  The 
following discussion highlights the characteristics that may affect access to housing in Lakewood. 
 
Large Households 
 
Large households are defined as households with five of more members.  These households are 
usually families with two or more children, and/or with extended family members.  Large families 
are a special needs group because the availability of adequately sized, affordable housing units is 
often limited.  In order to save for basic necessities such as food, clothing, and medical care, low 
and moderated income large households typically reside in smaller units, resulting in 
overcrowding.  Furthermore, families with children especially those families who are renters, may 
face discrimination or differential treatment in the housing market.  For example, landlords may 
charge such families higher rent or security deposit than they normally would, limit the number of 
children in a complex, confine families to a specific location, or choose not to rent to families with 
children. 
 
According to 2012-2016 CHAS Databook, there were 3,310 large households in the City, which 
equated to approximately 13% of all households.  Of these large households, 28.2% are occupied 
by renters, while 71.8% were owner occupied.  Many renter households may not be able to find 
adequately sized housing due to the limited number of larger rental units, and may be more likely 
to experience discrimination when trying to rent a smaller unit. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 19 

Single-Parent Households 
 
The 2017 ACS estimates report a slight increase in the number of single-parent households 
between 2011 (2,020 or 7.9% of all households) and 2016 (2,254 or 8.8% of all households).  The 
minor increase in single-parent households is a reflection of the City’s slow population growth in 
the last decade.  Single-income households pose a threat to single-parent households as many of 
these households are renters and may not be able to afford adequately sized housing.  Further, 
adults and children in single-parent households are at a higher risk for adverse health effects, such 
as emotional and behavioral problems, compared to their peers.  Children in such households are 
more likely to develop depression, smoke and abuse alcohol and other substances.  Consequently, 
these children experience increased risk of morbidity and mortality of all causes.  Similarly, single 
parents suffer from lower perceived health and higher risk of mortality. 
 
Persons with Disabilities 
 
Lakewood is home to a number of people with disabilities that prevent employment, restrict 
mobility, or make self-care difficult.  Disabilities are defined as mental, physical, or health 
conditions that last over six months.  Persons with disabilities may face discrimination in the 
housing market because of the need for wheelchairs, home modifications to improve accessibility, 
or other forms of assistance.  More common examples of discrimination against persons with a 
physical and/or other limitation include refusal to rent to a person in a wheelchair for fear a unit 
might be damaged.  Discrimination may also occur by prohibiting service/guide animals of 
disabled applicants because of a no-pet policy.  The 2017 ACS five-year estimates documented 
the following: 
 

• 236 disabled persons aged 5-17, representing 2.5% of the total population between five and 
17 

• 2,053 disabled persons aged 18 to 64, representing 8.1% of the total population between 
18 and 64 

• 4,377 disabled persons aged 65 and over, representing 33.2% of the total population over 
65 

 
The City offers many services to assist persons with disabilities, especially elderly persons.  The 
City coordinates with Pathways Volunteer Hospice to provide in-home non-medical services to 
seniors with disabilities and Human Services Association, a non-profit that offers congregate meals 
and home-delivered meals to Lakewood’s senior and disabled residents.  The City also operates a 
Meals on Wheels Program, which provides home delivered meals to disabled persons of any age, 
as well as homebound seniors.  In addition, the City’s DASH transportation system is free to 
persons with disabilities, and Long Beach Transit offers a Dial-A-Ride service for elderly persons 
and persons with disabilities. 
 
Persons with HIV/AIDS 

Persons with HIV/AIDS sometimes face bias and misunderstanding about their illness that affect 
their access to housing.  Such persons may also be targets for hate crimes.  According to Los 
Angeles County Public Health Department, at the end of 2015, over 61,000 persons were estimated 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 20 

to be living with HIV in Los Angeles County, of which approximately 8,943 were unaware of their 
HIV infection.  Among the 50,771 persons diagnosed and living with HIV in Los Angeles County, 
the majority were male (89%), Latino (42%) or White (32%) and over 40 years of age (74%).  
Most reported being exposed to HIV through male-to-male sexual contact (MSM) (78% MSM; 
6% MSM/IDU) and an increasing percentage reported heterosexual contact (10%). 

The City of Lakewood also contracts with Pathways Volunteer Hospice to provide in-home non-
medical services to terminally ill AIDS patients.  Pathways Volunteer Hospice was originally a 
community outreach program established in 1985 by the Lakewood Regional Medical Center and 
has operated independently as a State agency since 1987.  Services include physical, 
psychological, social and spiritual support to patients and family members. 
 
The County of Los Angeles Department of Health Services funds AIDS services through Title I 
of the Comprehensive AIDS Resources Emergency (CARE) Act of 1990.  Services include 
primary health care, mental health counseling, in-home care and treatment services, dental, case 
management, recreation/social, outreach and education, and transportation services. 
 
Homeless Persons 
 
Homeless persons often have a difficult time finding housing once they have gone through a 
transitional housing or other assistance program.  Aside from the limited availability of affordable 
housing, some landlords may be unwilling to rent to someone who was formerly homeless.  The 
difficulties may be even greater for homeless families and single-parent families who need larger 
affordable units to accommodate children. 
 
According to the 2019 Homeless Count conducted by Los Angeles Homeless Services Authority 
(LAHSA), there are 120 persons experiencing homelessness in Lakewood.  The 2020 Homeless 
Count was conducted on January 22, 2020 and the estimated total of persons experiencing 
homelessness in Lakewood is 1355, however, the official numbers have not been released. The 
City does not directly provide supportive services to the homeless population through formal 
programs, however the City contracts with the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department, People 
Assisting The Homeless (PATH) and LAHSA to provide services ranging from outreach to 
permanent housing.  The City also offers assistance when specific needs arise.  The City does 
provide assistance when specific needs arise.  For example, the City’s Recreation and Community 
Services Department provides its park staff with instructions to direct persons experiencing 
homelessness to Burns Community Center for assistance.  The Burns Community Center is the 
headquarters for homeless assistance in the City.  Homeless persons receive information and 
access to referral services to address their immediate needs (food, shelter, etc.), as well as long-
term guidance (health services, employment, etc.).  The Burns Community Center estimates that 
the Center assists approximately 15 homeless persons a year.  The City will continue to support its 
existing services as well as those provided by the County and other jurisdictions.  In February 
2012, the City amended its zoning ordinance to permit emergency shelters by right in the Heavy 
Manufacturing (M-2) Zone.  This ordinance complies with State Law (SB2) which requires that a 
zone be identified to permit emergency shelters by right.  This was also identified as a program in 
the Certified Housing Element.    
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 21 

2.3 Income Profile 
 
Household income is the most important factor affecting housing opportunity and determining a 
household’s ability to balance housing costs with basic necessities.  While economic factors 
limiting housing choice are not fair housing issues, the relationship between household income, 
household type, race/ethnicity, and other factors often create misconceptions and biases that raise 
fair housing concerns. 
 
According to the 2019 Local Profile, Lakewood residents earned a median household income of 
$84,055 in 2018, which is significantly higher than the median family income in Los Angeles 
County, which was $61,015.  Historically, the median family income in Lakewood has been 
consistently higher than that of the County as whole.  Using updated income guidelines, current 
housing affordability in terms of homeownership can be estimated for the various income groups.  
HUD requires reporting on three income categories for the Consolidated Plan, based on the 2019 
County Median Family Income (MFI) for a family of four persons, which is $73,100: 
 

• Extremely Low Income: 0-30% MFI (less than $31,300) 
• Very Low Income:  31%-50% MFI ($31,301-$52,200) 
• Low Income 51%-80% MFI ($52,201-$83,500) 

 
The extremely low to low income groups are collectively referred to as lower income groups.  Most 
federal programs provide assistance to only those households in the lower income categories.  As 
reported in the 2012-2016 CHAS Databook, prepared by HUD, approximately 62% of households 
in the City of Lakewood fall in the middle and upper income categories (earning 81% to 95% of 
the MFI), while 38% of households fall in the extremely low, very low and low income categories.  
Within the lower income groups about 80% are elderly households.  (See Table 2-5).  Figure 2.5 
below shows the concentration of low and moderate-income households. 
 
Table 2.5:  Income by Household Type 

Household Type 

Income Group (% of MFI) 
Extremely 

Low 
(0-30%) 

Very Low 
(31-50%) 

Low 
(51-80%) 

Moderate (81-
100% and 

 High (101%+) 
Elderly (62 and over) 44% 36% 34% 14% 
Small Related (2 to 4) 28% 44% 46% 58% 

Large Related (5+) 10% 11% 12% 14% 
Other 18% 9% 8% 14% 
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 

% of Total Households 10% 12% 16% 62% 
Source 2012-2016 CHAS Databook, Tables 7 and 16 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 22 

Income by Race/Ethnicity 
 
Table 2-6 shows the income distribution of households by race and ethnicity as a percentage of the 
County MFI.  As the table shows, the income distribution is similar among all racial groups.  
However, the category defined as Other or Multi-Race were represented the most in the middle 
and upper (100+% MFI) group.  Nearly 80% of all groups fall into the middle or upper categories.  
The proportions for the lower income groups were similar across all races. 
 
Table 2-6:  Household Income Distribution by Race/Ethnicity 

Race/Ethnicity 

Income Group (% of MFI) 
Extremely 

Low 
(0-30%) 

Very Low 
(31-50%) 

Low 
(51-80%) 

Moderate 
(81-100%) 

High 
(101%+) 

Total 

Asian 12.8% 15.0% 12.5% 12.0% 47.7% 100% 
African American 13.1% 16.7% 17.0% 3.8% 49.4% 100% 
American Indian 

of Alaskan 
Native 

26.6% N/A 47.9% N/A 25.5% 100% 

Native Hawaiian 
or Pacific 
Islander 

5.8% 7.7% 30.9% 38.6% 17.0% 100% 

White 8.1% 11.2% 15.1% 12.1% 53.5% 100% 
Hispanic (any 

race) 
9.7% 9.7% 20.3% 10.1% 50.2% 100% 

Other (Including 
Multi-Races, 

non-Hispanic) 
1.7% 11.8% 12.6% 7.5% 66.4% 100% 

Total 9.5% 11.8% 16.4% 11.0% 51.3% 100% 
Source 2012-2016 CHAS Databook, Table 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 23 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 24 

2.4 Housing Profile 
 
An assessment of the housing market in question must precede any discussion of Fair Housing 
Choice.  This section provides an overview of the characteristics of the local and regional housing 
markets. 
 
Housing Growth 
 
During the 28-year period from 1990 to 2018, the increase in housing units was minimal in 
Lakewood, with an increase of approximately 694 dwelling units.  As shown in Table 2-7, a 
majority of the housing growth in Lakewood occurred in the 1960s.  The City has been essentially 
built out since 1970, therefore, creating limited opportunities for future growth.  As the table 
shows, the number of housing units increased by less than two percent during the 1990-2000 
period, about 0.3% during the 2000-2010 period and about 0.3% during the 2010-2018 period.  
The ratio between single-family units remained fairly constant during these periods.  In 2000, 84% 
of the units were single-family residences and 16% were multi-family residential.  In 2018 100% 
of the units were single-family residences.  These figures do not include mobile homes and trailers, 
which has remained at 88 units over the past 20 years. 
 
Table 2-7:  Housing Stock Growth 

Year Number of Units Percent Change 
1960 18,301 -- 
1970 24,208 32.3% 
1980 26,250 8.4% 
1990 26,795 2.1% 
2000 27,310 1.9% 
2010 27,407 0.3% 
2018 27,489 0.3% 

Source:  1960 through 2010 U.S. Census; California Department of Finance, E-5, 2018.  Mobile Home data from City 
of Lakewood 2013-2021 Housing Element 

 
Table 2-8 provides a summary of the housing stock by type within Lakewood in 2018.  Because 
of Lakewood’s slow growth, its housing type has remained fairly consistent.  Of the housing units 
added to the housing stock from 2013 to 2018, nearly all (93%) were the result of the development 
of single-family attached units.  The remaining increase was from single-family detached and 
multi-family developments of less than five units.   
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 25 

Table 2.8:  Housing Stock 

Source:   California Department of Finance, E-5, 2013 and 2018. 
Mobile Home data from City of Lakewood 2013-2021 Housing Element. 

 
Tenure 
 
Housing tenure refers to whether the inhabitant of a unit owns or rents the occupied unit.  Housing 
tenure is important because it reflects the income levels of residents, the relative cost of various 
housing opportunities and also the ability to afford housing.  The majority of Lakewood’s 
households live in owner-occupied units.  According the 2013-2017 American Community 
Survey, 72% of the households were owners and 28% were renters.  The owner to renter ration is 
higher than Los Angeles County’s 46% owner to 54% renter ratio.  Lakewood’s tenure distribution 
has remained relatively the same since 1990. 
 
Overcrowding 
 
Overcrowding can be caused by a number of factors: however, it is also an indicator of a lack of 
affordable housing.  Generally, unit overcrowding results form a combination of low earnings and 
high housing costs in the community.  This is a reflection of the inability of households to buy or 
rent housing, which forces families to have extended family members or non-family members rent 
space from the primary family.  The Census defines overcrowded households as units with greater 
than 1.01 persons per room, excluding bathrooms, hallways and porches.  Severely overcrowded 
households have greater than 1.5 persons per room. 
 
As shown in Table 2-9, from 2000 to 2010, overcrowded housing in Lakewood decreased from 
12.2% in 2000 to 5.7% in 2010.  Conditions of overcrowding in the City continued to decrease 
slightly from 2010 to 2017 with 5.3%.  The decrease of overcrowding may be the result of the 
steadily growing economy and job growth, the same trend applies to severe overcrowding for the 
same time period. 
  

Housing Type 
Number of Units 

2013 
Number of Units 

2018 
Percent 
Change 

Single-Family Detached 22,705 22,708 0.01% 
Single-Family Attached 968 1,051 9.7% 
Multi-Family (2-4 Units) 375 378 0.8% 

Multi-Family (5 or more Units) 3,264 3,264 0.0% 
Mobile Homes 88 88 0.0% 

Total 27,400 27,489 0.3% 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 26 

Table 2.9:  Overcrowded Housing 

Overcrowded 
Conditions 

2000 2010 2016 

Over-
crowded 
Housing 

% of  
Over-

crowded 
Housing 

Over-
crowded 
Housing 

% of 
Over-

crowded 
Housing 

Over-
crowded 
Housing 

% of 
Over-

crowded 
Housing 

Overcrowded (1.01 – 
1.5 persons per room) 

1,659 6.2% 956 3.7% 1,080 4.1% 

Severely 
Overcrowded 
(Greater than  1.5 
persons per room) 

1,619 6.0% 539 2.1% 360 1.4% 

Total 3,278 12.2% 1,495 5.8% 1,440 5.5% 
Source:  2000 Census: Profile of Selected Housing Characteristics, 2006-2010 ACS and 2012-2016 CHAS Data Set 
Table 3 

 
Housing Cost and Affordability 
 
Many housing problems are directly related to the cost of housing in a community.  If housing 
costs are relatively high in comparison to household income, a correspondingly high prevalence 
of housing cost burden and overcrowding occurs.  This section evaluates the affordability of the 
housing stock in Lakewood to lower income households. 
 
Owner-Occupied Housing 
 
The value of homes varies substantially with the City of Lakewood, depending on the age, size 
and location of the home.  In 2000, Lakewood’s homes had an estimated overall median value of 
$210,000 and increased to $550,000 in 2006.  By 2010, the median home price for single-family 
homes had fallen to $390,000 and bottomed out at $352,000 in 2011.  In 2014, the median asking 
sales price for a single-family home in Lakewood had increased to $438,500.  By 2018, the median 
price had risen to $575,000.  For the same time period, the median home value for surrounding 
jurisdictions was $560,000 and the average was $558,571.  The median home price in Lakewood 
is slightly above the median and the average for the surrounding area: 
 
 Paramount $355,000 
 Bellflower $510,000 
 Long Beach $545,000 
 Downey $560,000 
 Lakewood $575,000 
 Cypress $650,000 
 Cerritos $715,000 
 
Renter-Occupied Housing 
 
The rental housing market in Lakewood is comprised primarily of apartments and single-family 
homes.  As shown in Table 2-10, apartment rents range from $1,697 for a one bedroom apartment 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 27 

to $1,907 for a two bedroom unit.  Single-family home rates range from $2,495 to $3,500 for three-
bedroom units. 
 
In 2014 the median price for a home in Lakewood was $438,500 but by the end of 2018, it had 
risen to $575,000 as noted above.  In 2018, the median home price in Los Angeles County was 
$597,500.  This indicates that, with respect to home prices, Lakewood fared similar to the County 
as a whole and demonstrates that Lakewood is a stable community as further reflected by a 
homeownership rate 74%, according to Local Profiles Report 2019, Profile of the City of 
Lakewood, Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG). 
 
Table 2-10 presents a summary of rental rates and median home prices for both Lakewood and the 
County for 2018. 
 
Table 2-10:  2018 Rental Rates 

Rental 
Unit Types 

Lakewood 
(2018) 

Los Angeles County 
(2018) 

One Bedroom $1,697 $2,437 
Two Bedrooms $1,907 $3,309 
Median Rent $1,735 $1,358 

Median Home Prices Lakewood (2018) Los Angeles County (2018) 
Single-Family $524,600 $677,600 

Source:  Average Rent:  Town Charts; California Housing https://www.towncharts.com and Rent Jungle; Rent Trend 
https://www.rentjungle.com 
Note:  Rent figures are for average rent; they do not apply to detached, single-family homes that are rented. 

 
Housing Affordability 
 
Based on Federal and State guidelines that households should not spend more than 30% of their 
gross income on housing, the following table estimates the maximum housing costs affordable to 
extremely low, very low income and low income households in Lakewood.  The affordability 
threshold is adjusted based upon size of the household. 
 
Using updated income guidelines and current housing trends, affordability in terms of home 
ownership can be estimated for the various income groups. 
 
HUD requires reporting on three income categories for the Consolidated Plan, based on the 2019 
County Median Family income for a family of four persons, which is $73,100: 
 

• Extremely Low Income: 0-30% MFI (less than $31,300) 
• Very Low Income:  31%-50% MFI ($31,301-$52,200) 
• Low Income 51%-80% MFI ($52,201-$83,500) 

 
Assuming that the potential homebuyer for each income group has sufficient down payment, 
credit, and maintains housing expenses no greater than 30% of their income, the maximum 
affordable home prices can be calculated.  As shown in Table 2-11, comparing the affordability 
with current market data on rents and mortgages indicates that: 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 28 

 
• It is difficult for extremely low households to find affordable housing of adequate size in 

the City of Lakewood.  In particular, homeownership. 
• Very low and low income households are able to rent one to bedroom apartments.  

Homeownership is typically unaffordable to these income groups. 
 
Table 2-11:  2019 Affordable Housing Prices and Rents by Income Group 

Income Category 
Maximum Home 
Purchase Price 

Maximum Home 
Rental Rate 

Extremely Low Income (0-30% MFI) 
Less than $31,300 

$160,000 $775/month 

Very Low Income (31%-50% MFI) 
$31,301-$52,200 

$285,000 $1,305/month 

Low Income (51%-80% MFI) 
$52,201-$83,500 

$465,00 $2,087/month 

Moderate Income (101-120% MFI) 
Less than $125,300 

$705,000 $3,132/month 

*Based on County Median Family Income of $73,100.  Calculation of affordable rent is based on 30% of gross 
household income.  Calculation of affordable home purchase is based on down payment of 20%, annual interest rate 
of 3.75%, 30-year mortgage and monthly payment of 30% of gross income.   

 
Housing Cost Burden 
 
According to HUD, 490 (2%) of Lakewood households were units with physical defects, 9,375 
(36%) had overpayment issues, and 1,540 (6%) households had overcrowded conditions.  The 
housing assistance needs of renters were greater than owners, despite the 72% to 28% ratio of 
homeowners to renters.  Among the household types, an average 45% of the lower income 
households experienced some type of housing issue.  The biggest impact was housing cost burden 
of those with extremely low income for both renters and homeowners (75%). 
 
According to 2012-2016 CHAS Databook, 9,335 households or approximately 36% of 
Lakewood’s total households overpaid for housing.  Nearly two-thirds (60%) of the overpaying 
households were homeowners.  One-third of the renter households who overpaid for rent were 
very low income as compared to one-fifth of owner households that were very low income.  
Providing for this need involves making affordable units available to extremely low and very low 
income households or providing government subsidies to lower income households.  The 
distinction between renter and owner overpayment is important, because while homeowners may 
overextend themselves financially to purchase a home, they retain the option of selling, the benefit 
of growing equity and a stable cost of living.  Renters, however, are limited to the rental market 
and are generally required to pay the rent established in that market. 
 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 29 

Housing Condition 
 
Accurate assessment of housing conditions can provide the basis for developing appropriate 
programs to maintain the quality of living in Lakewood.  Housing units like any other tangible 
asset is susceptible to deterioration over time.  Declining housing conditions can lower property 
values and discourage reinvestment as well as increase crime and promote slum and blight.  
Common repairs needed include new roofs, wall plaster and stucco.  Homes 30 years and or older 
with deferred maintenance require more substantial repairs, such as new siding, plumbing or 
multiple repairs to the roof, walls, etc.  According to recent estimates, approximately 95% of the 
City’s housing stock or units are older than 30 years. 
 
Table 2-12:  Age of Housing Stock 2016 

Year Built New Units Built Percent Share 
2014 and later 55 0.2% 
2010 - 2013 74 0.3% 
2000 - 2009 325 1.2% 
1980 - 1999 1,584 6.1% 
1960 - 1979 6,711 26.2% 
1940 - 1959 16,806 65.5% 
1939 and earlier 402 1.5% 
Total 25,957 100% 

Source:  2017 American Community Survey 

 
Code Enforcement 
 
The City has a complaint-based code enforcement program known as the Community 
Conservation Program.  The program divides the City into three areas, each with a Community 
Conservation Representative who responds to citizen service requests regarding building, planning 
and zoning, and other property maintenance issues.  Approximately 150 service requests are 
handled per month.  The Community Conservation representatives work closely with the Housing 
Section of the Community Development Department to direct eligible property owners to City 
sponsored rehabilitation programs to correct certain code violations. 
 
A primary concern of the Community Conservation Program is unsightly property.  The property 
owners and/or tenants are notified by the City of accumulated refuse or debris, inoperative 
vehicles, overgrown vegetation, graffiti, building and/or zoning violations.  In a move against 
graffiti, the City provides the labor and a choice of three colors of paint to remove any markings.  
If a color other than the three available colors is requested, the City will use the property owners 
paint for coverage. 
 
A second concern is substandard properties, often the result of the illegal conversion of garages to 
unpermitted units.  Unpermitted units may pose health and safety problems as the units may not 
be constructed or converted according to minimum health and safety standards. 
 
The City also employs a Public Nuisance and Property Abatement Team, which consists of an 
assigned Sheriff’s deputy, three Community Conservation Program Representatives and a City 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 30 

Prosecutor.  Since 1999, the Team has worked to identify and “clean-up” residential and 
commercial properties that created a nuisance or provided a haven for crime, or otherwise 
disturbed the peace and safety to Lakewood residents.  The program representatives handle notices 
for code violations, which are generally simple for property owners to correct.  When there is 
criminal activity taking place on the property, the Los Angeles County Sheriff may become 
involved and the City Prosecutor may prosecute the person(s) responsible.  Examples of cases 
include illegal marijuana dispensaries and other illegal businesses, elder abuse, and hoarding. 
 

2.5 Public and Assisted Housing 
 
The availability and location of public housing is a fair housing concern if such housing is 
concentrated in one area of a city and, therefore, a household’s access to housing may be limited 
to that area.  In addition, public/assisted housing, including Section 8 rental assistance, should be 
accessible to lower income households regardless of race/ethnicity, disability or other special 
needs population. 
 
Section 8 Tenant Based Vouchers 
 
The Los Angeles Housing Authority administers the Section 8 Rental Assistance Program for the 
City.  The Section 8 Program is a federally funded rental assistance program for families who are 
low income, elderly and disabled.  Under this program, housing choice vouchers are provided to 
allow extremely low to low income families to choose and lease safe, decent, and affordable 
privately-owned rental housing.  A housing subsidy is paid to the landlord directly by the Housing 
Authority on behalf of the participating family.  The family then pays the difference between the 
actual rent charged by the landlord and the amount subsidized by the program. 
 
Eligibility for a housing voucher is determined by the Housing Authority based on the total annual 
gross income and family size and is limited to US citizens and specified categories on non-citizens 
who have eligible immigration status.  In general, the family’s income may not exceed 50% of the 
median income for the county or metropolitan area in which the family chooses to live. 
 
Affordable Housing Projects 
 
Apartment projects can receive housing assistance from a variety of sources in order to ensure that 
rents are affordable to lower income households.  In exchange for public assistance, project owners 
are required to reserve a portion or all of the units for lower income households, with the length of 
use restrictions dependent upon the funding program.  The City currently has six housing projects 
that provide 327 units of affordable housing: 
 

• Candlewood Park – 81 units 
• Whispering Fountains – 161 units 
• Seasons – 85 units 

 
The also has two low-income housing apartment projects totaling five apartment units plus 13 
Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs). 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 31 

2.6 Licensed Community Care Facilities 
 
Persons with special needs, such as the elderly and those with disabilities, must have access to 
housing in a community.  Community care facilities provide a supportive housing environment to 
persons with special needs in a group situation.  Restrictions that prevent this type of housing 
represent a fair housing concern since lack of such housing impedes special needs groups from 
access to adequate housing.  There are currently 23 community care facilities in the City of 
Lakewood, including 20 adult residential facilities, and three adult day care programs.  Figure 2.7 
shows the location of these facilities. 
 

2.7 Accessibility of Public Transit 
 
Public transit is often the only travel option for lower income households.  Public transit should 
link lower income households to major employment centers.  A lack of relationships between 
public transit, job centers, and affordable housing may impede Fair Housing Choice because 
persons who depend on public transit will be limited in the choice of where they can live. 
 
Elderly persons and persons with disabilities are more likely than other groups to be transit 
dependent.  Many rely on public transit to visit doctors, go shopping, or attend activities offered 
at community centers.  Housing for the elderly and persons with disabilities should be located near 
transit routes, or alternative transit should be made available for persons with special needs.  This 
section discusses the accessibility of public transit to major employers, medical facilities, and other 
community facilities from lower income areas and housing for persons with special needs. 
 
Public Transit 
 
The Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA), Long Beach Transit 
(LBT), Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA), Lakewood DASH, and Cerritos on 
Wheels (COW) provide transit services within the City.  The combination of these agencies 
provides access within Lakewood and to other communities throughout the region.  For passengers 
unable to use the regular bus service, the MTA-sponsored Access Paratransit service and the Long 
Beach Transit Dial-A-Ride provide services throughout the City.  Lakewood Center mall serves 
as the transit hub for the City, with several different bus lines providing service to and from the 
mall. 
 
Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA) 
 
MTA supports the needs of the disabled community by ensuring that all bus lines are accessible 
through wheelchair lifts and that rail systems are ADA-compliant for passengers with hearing, 
mobility and visual impairments.  Also, MTA offers reduced fares to disabled passengers.  To 
assist riders, with visual impairments, MTA provides Braille-encoded and large type “Metro Flash 
Books” for signaling the correct bus. 
 
Five MTA bus routes provide service to Lakewood residents. 
 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 32 

Line 130 provides service along Artesia Boulevard north of the City.  This bus route has 
connections to the Fullerton Park and Ride lot, the Metro Blue Line light rail, the Artesia Transit 
Center and Los Cerritos Mall. 
 
Line 265 originates at Lakewood Center mall and continues to the City of Pico Rivera.  The route 
provides a connection to the Metro Green Line light rail, which provides service to Los Angeles 
International Airport (LAX). 
 
Line 266 provides service from Lakewood Center mall to the City of Pasadena.  En route to 
Pasadena, the bus route serves the communities of Bellflower, Downey, Pico Rivera, South El 
Monte, and Temple City.  The route also provides a connection to the Metro Green Line light rail. 
 
Line 62 runs from the City of Hawaiian Gardens to downtown Los Angeles. The route also 
provides service to the communities of Cerritos, Norwalk, Santa Fe Springs, Pico Rivera, and 
Commerce.  MTA also provides funding to Access Services Incorporated, a paratransit service 
offered to individuals whose disabilities prevent them from using regular buses or rail service.  
Access Para-transit operates seven days a week, 24 hours a day, in most areas of Los Angeles 
County.  It is a shared ride service that operates curb-to-curb and utilizes a fleet of small buses, 
mini-vans, and taxis.  Trip reservations can be made from 45 minutes to 14 days prior to the desired 
pick-up time. 
 
Long Beach Transit (LBT)  
 
LBT operates several bus lines throughout Lakewood and the surrounding communities, with 
connections to MTA bus and rail service and OCTA bus service.  LBT offers both fixed-route and 
Dial-A-Ride services in Lakewood. 
 
Fifteen LBT bus routes provide service within the City of Lakewood: 
 
Routes 21 and 22 originate at Alondra Boulevard in the City of Bellflower and run through 
Lakewood to the Long Beach Transit Mall, where a connection to the Metro Blue Line and several 
Long Beach Transit lines is provided. 
 
Route 23 originates at Carson Street in Lakewood. 
 
Routes 91, 92, and 93 provide service from the City of Bellflower to the Long Beach Transit Mall, 
where a connection with the Metro Blue Line light rail and several Long Beach Transit lines is 
provided. Stops within Lakewood include Lakewood Center mall, the Lakewood Civic Center, 
and Lakewood High School. 
 
Route 101 runs from Santa Fe Avenue to the Long Beach Towne Center.  The route provides a 
connection to the Metro Blue Line light rail and makes stops at Long Beach City College, and 
multiple stops along Carson Street as it approaches the Long Beach Towne Center. 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 33 

Route 102 provides service along Willow Street in Long Beach from Santa Fe Avenue to the Long 
Beach Towne Center.  The route provides a connection to the Metro Blue Line light rail, which 
provides service to downtown Los Angeles. 
 
Route 103 provides service along Willow Street in Long Beach from Santa Fe Avenue to 
Lakewood Civic Center and Lakewood Center mall. 
 
Routes 111 and 112 connect Lakewood Center mall to the Long Beach Transit Mall. Stops include 
Lakewood Medical Center, Long Beach City College, and Long Beach Airport. 
 
Route 172 provides service from the Long Beach Transit Mall to the Norwalk Green Line Station.  
The buses also make stops at Long Beach City College, CSU Long Beach, Long Beach Towne 
Center, and Cerritos College. 
 
Route 173 provides service from the Long Beach Transit Mall to Los Cerritos Mall in the City of 
Cerritos.  The buses also make various stops in Lakewood along Carson Street and Norwalk 
Boulevard. 
 
Route 191 runs from the Long Beach Transit Mall to Artesia High School.  The bus makes stops 
at the Del Amo Blue Line Station and the Lakewood Center mall. 
 
Route 192 provides service from the Long Beach Transit Mall to the Los Cerritos Center in the 
City of Cerritos.  The bus also makes stops at the Del Amo Blue Line Station and the Lakewood 
Regional Medical Center. 
 
Cerritos on Wheels (COW) 
 
Route 1 and 2 provides service to and from Del Amo Boulevard, Pioneer Boulevard and Palo 
Verde Avenue in Lakewood to Cerritos College, ABC Adult School, Cerritos Senior Center, 
Cerritos Post Office, Cerritos Civic Center and various park facilities in Cerritos. 
 
Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA)  
 
OCTA supports the needs of the disabled community by providing wheelchair lifts on buses and 
by offering reduced fares for elderly passengers and passengers with disabilities.  In addition, 
OCTA offers the ACCESS service, which provides door-to-door service for passengers who are 
unable to board regular fixed-route buses. 
 
One OCTA line serves Lakewood: 
 
Route 38 runs from Del Amo Boulevard and Pioneer Boulevard in Lakewood to the Anaheim 
Hills area.  The bus stops at the Buena Park Mall and the Anaheim Hills Metrolink station. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 34 

Major Employers 
 
Table 2-13 shows the top ten employers in the City of Lakewood.  Overall, 27 businesses have 
100 or more employees, and nine have more than 200 employees.  Figure 2.6 shows the location 
of these employers in relation to the City’s employment centers.  As the figure shows, most of the 
major employers are located near Lakewood Center mall, which serves as the City’s transit hub.  
All other employers are located in close proximity to bus routes traversing the City. 
 
Table 2-13:  Major Employers 

Business Number of Employees 
Long Beach Unified School District 909 
Lakewood Regional Medical Center 791 
City of Lakewood 594 
Dept. of Children and Family Services 435 
Bellflower Unified School District 402 
Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department 321 
ABC Unified School District 320 
Home Depot 302 
Albertson’s 287 

Source:  Lakewood Community Development Department 

 
Community Facilities 
 
Many lower income households, elderly, and persons with disabilities depend on public transit to 
reach community facilities, such as hospitals/clinics, community centers, public libraries, parks, 
and schools.  Figure 2.7 shows the location of community facilities, along with the location of 
transit routes and the assisted housing complex.  As the figure shows, most of the community 
facilities are located immediately adjacent to public transportation routes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 35 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 36 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 37 

Chapter 3 
 Mortgage Lending Practices 

 
An essential aspect of Fair Housing Choice is equal access to credit for the purchase or 
improvement of a home.  In the past, fair lending practices were not always employed by financial 
institutions.  Credit market distortions and other activities such as redlining prevented some groups 
from equal access to credit.  Redlining refers to the practice whereby a lender provides unequal 
access to credit or unequal credit terms to a person because of their race, creed, color, or national 
origin or other characteristic of the resident of the area where the applicant resides or will reside.  
The passage of the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) in 1977 and the Home Mortgage 
Disclosure (HMDA) Act in 1979 was designed to improve access for all members of the 
community.  This section reviews the lending practices of financial institutions and the access 
minorities and all income groups have to home loans. 
 
Community Reinvestment Act 
 
The Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) is intended to encourage regulated financial institutions 
to help meet the credit needs of entire communities, including low and moderate income 
neighborhoods.  Depending on the type of institution and total assets, a lender may be examined 
by different supervising agencies for its CRA performance.  A search in the Federal Reserve Board 
(FRB), Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC), Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC), Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC), and Office of Thrift 
Supervision (OTS) databases was performed. 
 
Home Mortgage Disclosure Act 
 
In tandem with the CRA, the HMDA requires lending institutions to make annual public 
disclosures of their mortgage lending activity.  Under HMDA, lender are required to disclose 
information on the disposition of home loan applications and on the race or national origin, gender, 
and annual income of loan applicants. 
 
Detailed HMDA data for conventional and government-backed home purchase and home 
improvement loans in Lakewood were examined.  HMDA data provides some insight into the 
lending practices that exist in a community.  However, the HMDA data is used only to indicate 
the potential for unfair lending practices; the data cannot be used to reach definite conclusions on 
discriminatory practices. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 38 

3.1 Disposition of Conventional Home Loan Applications by Race and 
Income of Applicant 
 
Conventional Home Purchase Loans 
 
Approximately 671 conventional home purchase loans were processed for home in Lakewood in 
2017 (Table 3-1).  White applicants accounted for the largest portion, with 48% of the total loans 
processed.  Of all loans processed 13% did not provide race information and 9.6% of the loans 
were marked as not applicable (such as institutions, not for profit groups, REOs, etc.). 
 
Overall, 428 (63.7%) of conventional loan applications were approved, 7.1% were denied, 6.8% 
were withdrawn, 22.2% were either not used, were closed or were REO.  Approval rates for 
conventional home purchase loans varied by applicant race.  A review of the data found that White 
applicants were the largest group whose loan was originated (55.7%) followed by Asian applicants 
(23.2%).  African American applicants had an approval rate of 4.5%.  However, the loan denial 
rate was more equally balanced among Asian, African American and White applicants (22.9%, 
8.3% and 43.8%, respectively).  This reveals that White applicants had more equity, income, or 
other assets to obtain a conventional loan than other races, but the proportion of White applicants 
who had their loan denied was not significantly disproportionate from Asian, African American 
and Hispanic applicants. 
 
Approval rates for Hispanic or Latino loan applicants were 19.9% and for Non-Hispanic applicants 
the rate was 67.9%.  The difference is nearly 50% points, which is a significant difference between 
these two ethnic groups. 
 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 39 

Table 3-1:  Disposition of Conventional Home Purchase Loan Applications by Race, 2017 
 Total Approved Denied Withdrawn Not 

Used/Closed/REO 
Race # % # % # # # % # % 

American 
Indian or 
Alaska 
Native 

2 0.3% 2 0.5% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 

Asian 149 22.2% 99 23.2% 18 22.9% 18 39.1% 21 14.1% 
African 
American 

29 4.3% 19 4.5% 3 8.3% 3 6.5% 3 2.0% 

Native 
Hawaiian/ 
Pacific 
Islander 

14 1.9% 10 2.1% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 3 2.0% 

White 326 48.7% 238 55.7% 21 43.8% 15 32.6% 52 34.9% 
Information 
Not 
Provided 

87 13.0% 53 12.4% 10 20.8% 9 19.6% 15 10.1% 

Not 
Applicable 

64 9.6% 7 1.6% 1 2.1% 1 2.2% 55 36.9% 

Total 671 100% 428 100% 48 100% 46 100% 149 100% 
Ethnicity  
Hispanic or 
Latino 

112 16.7% 85 19.9% 9 18.8% 2 4.2% 16 10.9% 

Not 
Hispanic or 
Latino 

412 61.4% 291 67.9% 27 56.2% 34 70.8% 60 40.8% 

Information 
Not 
Provided 

84 12.5% 45 10.5% 11 22.9% 11 22.9% 17 11.6% 

Not 
Applicable 

63 9.4% 7 1.7% 1 2.1% 1 21.% 54 36.7% 

Total 671 100% 428 100% 48 100% 46 100% 149 100% 
Sources:  Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  http://www.consumerfinance.gov/hmda/explore 
Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council http://www.ffiec.gov/hmda/hmdaproducts.htm#LAR_TS 

 
While Table 3-1 provides an overall illustration of the loan disposition among different races for 
conventional loans, Table 3-2 below provides more detailed analysis of loan approval rate by race 
and income of the applicant.  As shown in Table 3-2, approval rates do not vary significantly by 
income among racial groups of the same income level.  As can be expected, approval rates are 
relatively low for applicants earning less than 80% of the MFI and somewhat higher approval rates 
among those applicants earning between 100% to 120% of the MFI and significantly higher among 
those earning more than 120% of the MFI. 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 40 

Among the racial groups Asian and Whites tend to have higher approval rates while African 
Americans, American Indians or Alaska Native and Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander had the 
lowest in the lower three income categories.  Among applicants earning more than 120% of the 
MFI, the approval rates ranged between 63% and 100% across the races. 
 
In examining the approval rates among the races, all races combined had a 5% approval rate for 
income less than 80% of the MFI.  There were seven approved loans in the Not Applicable 
category, however, applicant income was not recorded for any of the approved loans. 
 
Table 3-2:  Approval Rates for Conventional Home Purchase Loans, 2017 

Loan Approval Rate by Income Level 
Race < 50% 50%-80% 80%-100% 100%-120% >120% 
American 
Indian or 
Alaska 
Native 

0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 

Asian 2%  16% 13% 63% 
African 
American 

0% 6% 0% 0% 100% 

Native 
Hawaiian/ 
Pacific 
Islander 

0% 10% 0% 10% 80% 

White 1% 2% 5% 12% 80% 
Information 
Not Provided 

0% 4% 4% 16% 76% 

Not 
Applicable 

- - - - - 

All 
Applicants 

1% 4% 8% 8% 79% 

Sources:  Consumer Financial Protection Bureau  http://www.consumerfinance.gov/hmda/explore 
Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council http://www.ffiec.gov/hmda/hmdaproducts.htm#LAR_TS 

 
Home Buyer Assistance Program 
 
A common obstacle for first-time homebuyers in achieving homeownership is inadequate savings 
to make a down payment.  Also, it is difficult for some buyers to obtain financing, especially when 
they have little or no funds towards a down payment.  For this reason, many lenders offer first-
time home buyer programs.  These programs vary from lender to lender, and can change from year 
to year.  It is prudent for first-time home buyers to spend extra time researching and comparing 
the programs and rates that each lender has to offer. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 41 

3.2 Disposition of Government-Backed Home Loan Applications 
 
Government-backed financing presents an alternative to conventional financing.  Sources of 
government-backed financing include loans insured by the Federal Housing Administration 
(FHA), the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), and the Rural Housing Services/Farm Service 
Agency (RHS/FSA). 
 
Table 3-3 compares the total applications, approvals and denials for conventional and government-
backed loans.  Relative to conventional loans, no government-backed loans were denied in 2017.  
Overall, government-backed applications accounted for 56.5% of all home purchase applications 
in Lakewood.   
 

Table 3.3:  Comparison of Conventional and Government-Backed Home Purchase Loan 
Applications, 2017 

Disposition 

Loan Type 
Conventional Government-Backed 

# of 
Applications 

% of Total 
# of 

Applications 
% of Total 

Loans Approved 428 68.5% 525 100% 
Loans Denied 48 7.7% 0 0% 
Loans Closed 149 23.8% 0 0% 
Total 625 100% 525 100% 

Sources:  Consumer Financial Protection Bureau http://www.consumerfinance.gov/hmda/explore 
Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council http://www.ffiec.gov/hmda/hmdaproducts.htm#LAR_TS 

 

3.3 Lending by Census Tract and Tract Income by Minority Concentration 
 
To identify potential geographic differences in mortgage lending activities, an analysis of the 
HMDA date was conducted by Census Tract and tract income levels.  Based on the 2010 Census, 
HMDA defines a tract based on the following income levels: 
 

• Very Low and Low Income Tract – Tract Income < 50% County MFI 
• Moderate Income Tract – Tract Income Between 51% and 80% County MFI 
• Middle Income Tract – Tract Income Between 81% and 120% County MFI 
• Upper Income Tract – Tract Income > 120% County MFI 

 
Table 3-4 shows the total number of applications, the origination rate, and the denial rate by Census 
Tract for conventional home purchase loans in 2017.  As shown, the origination rates varied widely 
among Census Tracts from 2.3% to 7.9%.  The median origination rate is 5.5%. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 42 

Table 3-4:  Comparison of Conventional Home Purchase Loans by Census Tract, 2017 

Census 
Tract 

Loan Applications by Census Tract 
Total Originated Denied Withdrawn Closed 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

5550.01 53 5.8% 28 4.8% 6 9.7% 8 11.9% 11 5.4% 
5550.02 23 2.5% 17 2.9% 1 1.6% 1 1.5% 4 2.0% 
5551.02 49 5.4% 32 5.5% 4 6.5% 5 7.5% 8 3.9% 
5551.03 21 2.3% 12 2.1% 2 3.2% 0 0% 7 3.4% 
5551.04 38 4.2% 24 4.1% 6 9.7% 1 1.5% 7 3.4% 
5700.01 29 3.2% 19 3.3% 1 1.6% 3 4.5% 6 3.0% 
5700.02 39 4.3% 24 4.1% 4 6.5% 3 4.5% 8 4.0% 
5700.03 42 4.6% 31 5.4% 2 3.2% 1 1.5% 8 4.0% 
5707.01 62 6.8% 41 7.1% 3 4.8% 3 4.5% 15 7.5% 
5707.02 42 4.6% 27 4.7% 2 3.2% 2 3.0% 11 5.4% 
5708.00 69 7.6% 40 6.9% 5 8.1% 7 10.4% 17 8.4% 
5709.01 63 6.9% 41 7.1% 6 9.7% 2 3.0% 14 7.0% 
5709.02 30 3.3% 18 3.1% 4 6.5% 1 1.5% 7 3.4% 
5710.00 72 7.9% 48 8.3% 3 4.8% 7 10.4% 14 7.0% 
5711.01 61 6.7% 38 6.6% 0 0% 8 11.9% 15 7.5% 
5711.02 69 7.6% 43 7.4% 3 4.8% 4 6.0% 19 9.4% 
5713.00 55 6.0% 37 6.4% 3 4.8% 3 4.5% 12 5.9% 
5714.00 54 5.9% 37 6.4% 3 4.8% 1 1.5% 13 6.0% 
5715.03 40 4.4% 22 3.8% 4 6.5% 7 10.4% 7 3.4% 
Total 911 100% 579 100% 62 100% 67 100% 203 100% 

Sources:  Consumer Financial Protection Bureau http://www.consumerfinance.gov/hmda/explore 
Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council http://www.ffiec.gov/hmda/hmdaproducts.htm#LAR_TS 

 

3.4 Mortgage Refinancing 
 
In recent years, the real estate market has undergone a major shake-up.  Although prices declined 
precipitously ten years ago, the median home price has risen significantly since then.  Purchasing 
and financing a home has become more difficult following the national housing crisis.  Lending 
institutions have become more stringent compared to the standard of the mid-2000’s and before. 
 
Relative to home purchase applications, approval rates for mortgage refinancing applications are 
fairly low for all groups, with only 52.0% of all refinancing applications being approved in 2017.  
As Table 3-5 shows, White applicants had the highest approval rate (59.9%), while American 
Indians or Alaska Native applicants had the lowest (0.7%).  The loan approval rates for Asian 
(13.1%), African American (6.8%) and Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander (2.0%) were 
significantly lower than White applicants.  Applicants of Hispanic origin (22.5%) were 
significantly lower than applicants of Non-Hispanic origin (62.1%) in obtaining approval of a 
refinancing loan.  Since several factors influence the approval of refinance applications, it is 
difficult to determine the reasons for the disparity between White applicants and applicants of 
other races.    



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 43 

Table 3-5:  Trends of Conventional Mortgage Refinancing Applications by Race, 2017 
 Total Approved Denied Withdrawn Closed 

Race 
# of 

Loans 
% of 
Total 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

# of 
Loans 

% of 
Total 

American 
Indian or 
Alaska 
Native 

19 0.9% 9 0.7% 4 1.4% 16 4.8% 3 1.8% 

Asian 297 13.4% 150 13.1% 36 13.0% 43 12.8% 37 22.2% 
African 
American 

125 5.6% 78 6.8% 22 7.9% 20 6.0% 5 3.0% 

Native 
Hawaiian/ 
Pacific 
Islander 

41 1.9% 23 2.0% 7 2.5% 6 1.8% 2 1.2% 

White 1,158 53.7% 685 59.9% 131 47.3% 181 54.0% 90 53.9% 
Information 
Not 
Provided 

399 18.0% 201 17.5% 77 27.9% 69 20.6% 30 17.9% 

Not 
Applicable 

144 6.5% 4 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 

Total 2,213 100% 1,150 100% 277 100% 335 100% 167 100% 
Ethnicity  
Hispanic or 
Latino 

444 20.1% 259 22.5% 54 19.9% 69 20.6% 31 18.6% 

Not 
Hispanic or 
Latino 

1,291 58.4% 714 62.1% 155 55.6% 209 62.4% 110 65.9% 

Information 
Not 
Provided 

331 15.0% 177 15.4% 68 24.5% 57 17.0% 26 15.5% 

Not 
Applicable 

147 6.5% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 

Total 2,213 100% 1,150 100% 277 100% 335 100% 167 100% 
Sources:  Consumer Financial Protection Bureau http://www.consumerfinance.gov/hmda/explore 
Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council http://www.ffiec.gov/hmda/hmdaproducts.htm#LAR_TS 

 

3.5 Predatory Lending and Housing Fraud 
 
With an active housing market, potential predatory lending practices by financial institutions may 
arise.  Predatory lending involves abusive loan practices usually targeting minority homeowners 
or those with compromised credit histories.  The predatory practices typically include high fees, 
hidden costs, unnecessary insurance, and larger repayments due in later years.  One of the most 
common predatory lending practices is placing borrowers in to a higher interest rate loan than 
called for by their credit status.  Although the borrowers may be eligible for a loan in the prime 
market, they are directed in to more expensive and higher fee loans in the subprime market.  In 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 44 

other cases, fraudulent appraisal data were used to mislead homebuyers in to purchasing over-
valued homes, or fraudulent or misrepresented financial data is used to encourage homebuyers in 
to assuming a larger loan than be afforded.  Both cases almost inevitable result in foreclosure or 
undesired sale of the property. 
 
Predatory lending has also penetrated the home improvement financing market.  Seniors and 
minority homeowners are the usual targets.  In general, home improvement financing is more 
difficult to obtain than home purchase financing.  Many homeowners have too high a debt-to-
income ratio to qualify for home improvement loans in the prime market and become targets of 
predatory lending in the subprime market.  Seniors are often swindled in to installing unnecessary 
devices or making unnecessary improvements that are bundled with unreasonable financing terms. 
 
Predatory lending is a growing fair housing issue.  Predatory lenders who discriminate get some 
scrutiny under the Fair Housing Act of 1968, which requires equal treatment in terms and 
conditions of housing opportunities and credit regardless of race, religion, color, national origin, 
family status, or disability.  This applies to loan originators as well as the secondary market.  The 
Equal Credit Opportunity Act of 1972 requires equal treatment in loan terms and availability of 
credit for all of the above categories, as well as age, sex, and marital status.  Lenders that engage 
in predatory lending would violate these acts, if they target African American, Hispanic or elderly 
households to buy higher-priced and unequal loan products; treat loans for protected classes 
differently than those of comparable credit-worthy Whites; or have policies or practices that have 
a disproportionate effect on the protected classes.  Examples of fair lending violations include 
giving an African American borrower a higher-cost loan than a White borrower with a comparable 
credit rating, or buying such a loan in the secondary market. 
 
In 1988, HUD began an initiative to address fraud in programs administered by the federal agency.  
The “Housing Fraud Initiative” investigation involved the Federal Bureau of Investigation, 
Internal Revenue Service, and U.S. Attorney’s Office, and uncovered $110 million in fraud 
involving three types of schemes: 
 

• Originating fraudulent loans that allowed unqualified borrowers to obtain mortgages 
insured by the Federal Housing Administration 

• A scam in which real estate professionals obtain mortgages in the names of fictitious 
borrowers: and 

• Equity skimming, in which an owner sells a property to a so-called “straw buyer” at an 
inflated price.  The straw buyer then defaults, but the seller has already profited. 

 
An example of equity skimming is when a person buys a $100,000 HUD foreclosed home and 
resells it for $200,000 to a buyer who does not exist, but is made “real” through false or forged 
documents.  This person makes $100,000 profit from the fraudulent loan, money that should have 
been awarded to deserving HUD applicants. 
 
HUD targeted Southern California first under the program to a large extent because the default 
rate in seven Southern California counties was 50% higher than the national rate.  In particular, 
Los Angeles, Riverside, and San Bernardino counties are known to have the highest concentration 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 45 

of FHA foreclosures.  In Lakewood, no FHA foreclosed property is currently listed on HUD’s web 
page. 
 
In addition, HUD in conjunction with the U.S. Department of Treasury, formed the Joint Task 
Force on Predatory Lending in 2000.  The Task Force conducted an in-depth investigation of the 
problem and issued recommendations to Congress regarding improving consumer literacy and 
disclosure, reforming sales practices, improving market structure, and restricting abusive terms 
and conditions. 
 
The State of California has also enacted additional measures designed to stem the tide of predatory 
lending practices.  Senate Bill 357 provides a funding mechanism for local District Attorney’s 
offices to establish special units to investigate and prosecute real estate fraud cases.  Furthermore, 
former Governor, Gray Davis signed Assemble Bill 489, a predatory lending reform bill that 
prevents a lender from basing a loan strictly on the borrower’s home equity as opposed to the 
ability to repay the loan.  The bill also outlaws some balloon payments and prevents refinancing 
unless it results in an identifiable benefit to the borrower. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 46 

Chapter 4 
 Public Policies 

 
Public policies, particularly land use controls, zoning regulations, and housing policies have the 
potential to impact the location and availability of housing choices.  This chapter of the AI reviews 
the public policies of Lakewood in relation to fair housing choices. 
 

4.1 Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions 
 
In the past, Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (CC&Rs) were used to exclude certain groups 
such as minorities from equal access to housing in a community.  Today, the California Department 
of Real Estate reviews CC&Rs for all subdivisions of five or more lots, condominiums of five or 
more units.  The review is authorized by the Subdivision of Land Act and mandated by the 
Business Professions Codes, Section 11000.  The review includes a wide range of issues, including 
compliance with fair housing laws. 
 
The review must be completed and approved before the Department of Real Estate will issue a 
final subdivision public report.  The report is required before the real estate broker can sell the 
units, and each prospective buyer must be issued a copy of the report.  If the CC&Rs are not 
approved, the Department of Real Estate will issue a “deficiency notice”, requiring the real estate 
broker to revise the CC&Rs. 
 

4.2 Public Policies and Programs Affecting Housing Development 
 
The City’s Housing Element, General Plan, Planning and Zoning Code, Consolidated Plan and 
other documents have been reviewed to evaluate the following potential impediments to fair 
housing choice and affordable housing development: 
 

• Local zoning, building, occupancy, health and safety codes 
• Public policies and building approvals that add to the cost of housing development 
• Moratoriums or growth management plans 
• Residential development fees 
• Administrative policies affecting housing activities 
• Policies that restrict housing or community development resources for areas of minority 

concentration, or policies that inhibit employment of minorities or individuals with 
disabilities 

• Interdepartmental coordination between agencies that provide housing or community 
development resources to areas of minority concentration or to individuals with disabilities 

• Availability of public transportation and social services for persons with disabilities 
• Community representation on planning and zoning boards and commissions 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 47 

Local Zoning, Building, Occupancy, Health and Safety Codes 
 
Zoning Ordinance 
 
Higher density housing reduces land costs on a per-unit acre basis and thus facilitates the 
development of affordable housing.  Restrictive zoning that requires unusually large lot and 
building size can increase housing costs and can impeded housing production.  Zoning Code 
regulations accommodate a wide range of housing types including mobile homes, second units, 
group care facilities, and senior housing.  Development standards such as density, height, setbacks, 
and parking are also specified in the Zoning Code.  Table 4-1 identifies residential zone districts 
and development standards. 
 
Table 4-1:  Residential Zone Districts 

Zone 
Maximum 

Density 
Maximum 

Height 
Minimum 
Lot Size 

Typical Residential Type 

R-A 8.7 du/acre 35 feet 6,000 sf 
Low-Density single-family 
dwellings and accessory 
buildings; limited agriculture 

R-1 8.7 du/acre 35 feet 6,000 sf 
Low-Density single-family 
dwellings and accessory buildings 

M-F-R 

1) 22 du/acre for 
parcels less than 
12,500 sf 
2) 24 du/acre for 
parcels 12,500 sf 
to 25,00 sf 
3) 30 du/acre for 
parcels greater 
than 25,000 sf 

25 feet 15,000 sf 

Multi-family dwelling units and 
accessory buildings 

MHP 10 du/acre N/A 4 acres Mobile Homes 
 
Definition of a Family 
 
A community’s zoning ordinance can restrict access to housing for relations failing to qualify as a 
“family” by the definition specified in the zoning ordinance.  Even if the code provides a broad 
definition, deciding what constitutes a “family” should be avoided by cities to prevent confusion 
or give the impression of restrictiveness. 
 
California court cases, for example City of Santa Barbara v. Adamson (1980) and the City of Chula 
Vista v. Pagard (1981), have ruled that an ordinance that defines “family” as (a) an individual, (b) 
two or more persons related by blood, marriage, adoption, or (c) a group of not more than a certain 
number of unrelated persons as a single housekeeping unit is invalid.  Court rulings stated that 
defining a family does not serve any legitimate or useful objective or purpose recognized under 
the zoning and land planning powers of the city, and therefore violates rights of privacy under the 
California Constitution.  A zoning ordinance also cannot regulate residency by discrimination 
between biologically related and unrelated persons. 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 48 

The Lakewood Zoning Code defines a family as follows: 
 

“One or more persons living as a single housekeeping unit as distinguished from a group 
occupying a boarding, rooming, or lodging, hotel, or club.  A family may include domestic 
servants.”  (Lakewood Municipal Code, Section 9302.23) 

 
Though the use of “family in the Lakewood Zoning Code does not appear to be restrictive, the 
mere presence of the definition can be confusing and could lead to the perception of restrictiveness. 
 
Community Care Facilities 
 
The Lanterman Developmental Disabilities Act of the California Welfare and Institutions Code 
(Sections 5115 and 5116) declares that mentally and physically disabled persons are entitled to 
live in normal residential surroundings.  The use of property for the care of six or fewer disabled 
persons is residential use for the purpose of zoning.  A state-authorized, certified or licensed family 
care home, foster home, or group home, or a group home serving six or fewer disabled persons or 
dependent and neglected children on a 24-hour-a day basis is considered a residential use that is 
permitted in all residential zones for single-family dwellings.  No local agency can impose more 
restrictive zoning or building and safety standards on these homes.  There are 23 community 
facilities in the City of Lakewood.  All but two of the facilities are located within residential zones.  
The City approved one facility to be located in the Intermediate Residential (C-3) zone and the 
second in the Heavy Industrial (M-2) zone.   
 
Accessory Dwelling Units 
 
Accessory dwelling units are attached or detached dwelling units that provide complete 
independent living facilities for one or more persons and that are secondary to the primary dwelling 
unit on a lot.  The units must include permanent provisions for living, sleeping, cooking, laundry 
and sanitation.  Second units may be an alternative source of affordable housing for low income 
households, particularly for seniors.  In September 2018, the City amended the Zoning Ordinance 
to permit accessory dwelling units by right in residential zones, subject to certain development 
standards.  State law requires local jurisdictions to ordinances that establish the conditions under 
which accessory dwelling units will be permitted or to adopt the State law provisions governing 
second units (Government Code, Section 65852.2). 
 
Mobile Homes/Manufactured Housing 
 
State legislation mandates the inclusion of mobile home/manufactured housing in a jurisdiction’s 
land use policy.  The City permits mobile homes or manufactured housing on single-family zoned 
lots.  In addition, the City has a Mobile Home Park zone, which allows for the establishment of 
mobile home parks. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 49 

Density Bonuses 
 
In October 2014, the City amended its municipal code to comply with State Density Bonus law.  
The amendment repealed old density bonus language and replaced it with a section that references 
the State law and any amendments thereto.  The City will continue to promote density bonus 
provisions for residential development projects. 
 
Parking Requirements 
 
The Lakewood Zoning Code requires two covered parking spaces for each single-family unit.  In 
the Multi-Family Residential (M-F-R) zone, dwelling units with two or fewer bedrooms require 
two parking spaces, and units with three bedrooms require two and one-half parking spaces, and 
units with four or more bedrooms require three spaces.  In addition, the zoning code requires that 
guest parking be provided in the M-F-R zone at a ratio of 10% of the spaces required for the units. 
 
For senior housing or housing for persons with disabilities, parking requirements can be reduced 
to one parking space per three units plus one parking space for every three employees.  The 10% 
additional guest parking is also required for these units. 
 
Senior/Affordable Housing 
 
Lakewood has three senior assisted-housing projects totaling 367 units.  The City provides flexible 
development standards, including reduced parking standards and smaller unit sizes in order to 
encourage the development of senior and affordable housing projects.  The City also encourages 
preservation of these units as affordable housing, as conversion to a market-rate use requires 
additional on-site parking, development of larger units, and other standards to comply with the 
Zoning code. 
 
Building Codes 
 
The City has adopted the State Uniform Building and Housing Codes.  These codes are considered 
to be the minimum necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare.  No local amendment 
has either been initiated or approved that directly affects housing standards or processes. 
 
Public and Administrative Policies Concerning Community Development and Housing 
Activities 
 
Important criteria of the State Department of Housing and Community Development’s (HCD) 
approval of any housing element includes a determination that the local jurisdiction’s policies do 
not unduly constrain the maintenance, improvement, and development of a variety of housing 
choices for all income levels.  The City’s 2013-2021 Housing Element was approved by the City 
in August 2013.  The 2013-2021 Housing Element identifies the following goals: 
 
1.1 Preserve and improve the existing affordable housing stock. 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 50 

1.2 Preserve and improve the residential neighborhood environments that provide a high 
quality of life for all Lakewood residents. 
 

2.1 Develop housing to meet the identified local housing needs of the community while 
maintaining and providing a high quality of life for all Lakewood residents. 

 
2.2 Develop the maximum number of new housing units possible to meet Lakewood’s fair 

share of regional housing needs as identified in the SCAG Regional Housing Needs 
Assessment. 

 
2.3 Achieve compliance with energy conservation measures to be included in new housing 

developments 
 
2.4 Provide suitable sites for housing development. 
 
3.1 Provide housing assistance needs to Lakewood residents. 
 
3.2 Preserve and increase the number of assisted housing units. 
 
4.1 Promote housing opportunities for all persons regardless of race, color, ethnicity, national 

origin, religion, sex or marital status. 
 
The following are summaries of key programs contained in the 2013-2021 Housing Element that 
facilitate the provision of quality housing and a range of housing choices: 
 

• Code Enforcement and Community Conservation – The City has an Active code 
enforcement program dedicated to preserving and improving the environmental quality of 
the City.  Community Conservation Officers receive approximately 150 service requests 
each month.  Community Conservation Program staff will continue to work closely with 
the Housing Section to refer eligible property owners to the rehabilitation loan programs 
offered through the City. 

 
• Home Rehabilitation Loan and Grant Programs – The City offers home rehabilitation 

loans and grants for low income household and senior household properties.  The 
maximum loan amount for single-family homes is $18,000.  This program helps provide 
quality housing for seniors and lower income households.  The City also offers a Fix-Up, 
Paint-Up Program whereby households can receive minor home repairs up to $3,000.  In 
addition, Teens in Lakewood Care (TLC) program provides general landscape maintenance 
and light housekeeping services to qualified low income property owners through a 
cooperative program between the City of Lakewood, the Lakewood Jaycees, and area high 
school students. 

 
• Condominium Conversion Regulations – The Lakewood Municipal Code contains a 

Condominium Conversion Ordinance that restricts the conversion of rental units to owner-
occupied units when the vacancy rate for the City is below 5%.  By restricting the 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 51 

conversion of rental units, the City ensures that a variety of housing choices exist for 
residents. 

 
• Density Bonus – Pursuant to State law, the City allows density bonuses for residential 

developmental projects.  The City provides information regarding density bonuses and 
other housing incentives on the City website. 

 
• Section 8 Rental Assistance – In July 2011 the City voluntarily transferred its budget 

authority and baseline units from the Lakewood Housing Authority to the Housing 
Authority of Los Angeles County (HACoLA) for administration of the program.  The City 
continues to provide information and refers the elderly, large families and lower-income 
families to this program. 

 
• Lakewood Housing Strategy – The Lakewood Housing Strategy has been designed to 

develop a comprehensive housing program for the portion of Lakewood east of the San 
Gabriel River.  The formulation of a housing strategy for this portion of Lakewood entailed 
surveying each parcel within the area and determining the condition, occupancy, ownership 
patterns, housing types, available parking, condition of public improvements, traffic 
counts, population density, student generation, code enforcement history, fire and public 
safety concerns and other factors which help the quality and state of the housing.  This data 
is being utilized in conjunction with economic statistics on property re-sales and leasing in 
the area to describe the current state of Lakewood’s housing stock.  From the data collected, 
a housing strategy is formulated for the sub-areas of greatest need. 

 
• Homebuyer Assistance Programs – The California Housing Finance Agency’s Mortgage 

Credit Certificate (MCC) tax credit program functions as a federal income tax credit that 
reduces the borrower’s potential federal income tax liability.  The credit may be used by 
first-time home buyers to convert a portion of the annual mortgage interest into a direct 
income tax credit, and therefore lower the amount of federal taxes the holder of the MCC 
would have to pay for the duration of the loan.  The credit is subtracted dollar-for dollar 
from the homebuyer’s federal income taxes.  Qualified buyers are awarded a tax credit of 
up to 15% and the remaining 85% may be taken as a deduction from the income in the 
usual manner. 

 
This program encourages more owner-occupied housing and provides greater home 
ownership opportunities for families in Lakewood, particularly those that are low and 
moderate income.  Interested residents go through the normal process of choosing a realtor 
and arranging financing through a program participating lender.  If the home selected is 
eligible for the program, the lender applies for the MCC on behalf of the buyer.  Home 
prices, location and other participant restrictions apply. 
 

• Fair Housing Program – The City contracts with a fair housing consultant to provide a 
variety of fair housing services, including education, counseling, dispute investigation and 
resolution, case referrals, and training.  The City reviews the Fair Housing Program 
quarterly to identify specific areas of need in the City and to focus programs toward 
meeting these needs. 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 52 

Moratoriums/Growth Management 
 
Lakewood does not have building moratoriums or growth management plans that limit housing 
construction. 
 
Development Fees/Assessments 
 
Development fees and taxes charged by local governments also contribute to the cost of housing.  
In Lakewood, the fees charged for residential developments are designed to offset the cost of 
permit processing.  Examples of fees include Site Plan Review, Special Use Permit application, 
Environmental Assessment, and Design Review among others.  In addition, school impact fees are 
assessed by the State. Fees charged by the City are lower than most of the surrounding 
communities and thus do not unduly restrict the provision of a range of housing choices. 
 
Community Representation 
 
An important strategy for expanding housing choices for all residents is to ensure that residents’ 
concerns are heard.  A jurisdiction must create avenues in from which residents can voice concerns.  
Lakewood’s commissions and committees are populated by member from the community.  The 
role of these commissions and committees is discussed below.  Overall, the City provides for 
sufficient community representation in the decision-making process of housing-related matters. 
 
Planning and Environment Commission 
 
The Planning and Environment Commission (PEC) reviews and makes decisions on a variety of 
land use matters such as subdivisions, conditional use permits, community plans, design reviews, 
and variances.  The PEC also reviews and makes recommendations to the City Council on issues 
pertaining to the General Plan, Specific Plans, zone changes, annexations, and other policy issues 
regarding development.  The PEC consists of five members appointed by the City Council to serve 
two-year terms. 
 
Development Review Board 
 
The Development Review Board (DRB) is composed of an architect, a landscape architect and the 
Director or Community Development or her/his designee.  The DRB serves as both an advisory 
and approval body that reviews aspects of project design.  The primary goal of the DRB is to 
ensure that physical property improvement projects are designed and constructed in accordance 
with the City’s high standards of quality.  The DRB conducts the review process and applies 
conditions of approval in a judicious manner so as not to cause undo burden on any development.  
DRB meeting are informal and open to the public. 
 
Recreation and Community Services Commission 
 
The Recreation and Community Services Commission (Commission) studies issues related to 
Lakewood’s recreational programs and social services.  The Commission consists of five members 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 53 

appointed by the City Council to serve two-year terms.  All meeting are open to the public in order 
to give residents adequate opportunity to voice opinions. 
 
Community Safety Commission 
 
The Community Safety Commission has the responsibility of studying, planning and 
recommending appropriate action to the City Council on matters pertaining to traffic, public safety, 
fire prevention, law enforcement services, public health, animal control, civil defense, and disaster 
planning and control.  All meetings are open to the public in order to give residents adequate 
opportunity to voice opinions. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 54 

Chapter 5 
 Assessment of Fair Housing Practices 

 
This chapter provides an overview of current fair housing practices in Lakewood.  Recent fair 
housing complaints, violations, and suits are evaluated to determine trends or patterns of 
impediments to fair housing in the City. 
 

5.1 Fair Housing Practices of Realtors and Other Housing Associations 
 
A number of professional organizations for housing services are engaged in the maintenance and 
furthering of fair housing choices.  These include real estate associations and apartment 
associations.  This section provides an overview of the fair housing commitments of these 
organizations and the services they provide to promote the awareness of fair housing among its 
membership. 
 
Real Estate Associations 
 
On December 6, 1996, HUD and the National Association of Realtors (NAR) entered in to a Fair 
Housing Partnership.  The partnership requires HUD and NAR to develop a Model of Affirmative 
Fair Housing Action Plan for use by members of NAR to satisfy HUD’s Affirmative Fair Housing 
Marketing regulations.  The NAR has developed a Fair Housing Program to provide resources and 
guidance to Realtors in ensuring equal professional services for all people. 
 
Fair Housing Declaration 
 
The term “realtor” identifies a licensed professional in real estate who is a member of the NAR.  
Not all licensed real estate brokers and salespersons are members of the NAR.  However, realtors 
who are members of NAR must pledge to conduct business in keeping with the spirit and letter of 
the Code of Ethics.  Specifically, Article 10 of the Code of Ethics obligates realtors to affirmatively 
further fair housing as follows: 
 

Realtors shall not deny equal professional services to any person for reasons of race, color, 
religion, sex, handicap, familial status, national origin, sexual orientation or gender 
identity.  Realtors shall not be parties to any plan or agreement to discriminate against a 
person or persons on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, 
national origin, sexual orientation, or gender identity.  (Amended 1/14). 
 
Realtors, in their real estate employment practices shall not discriminate against any 
person or persons on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, 
national origin, sexual orientation, or gender identity.  (Amended 1/14). 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 55 

Standard of Practice 10-1 
 
When involved in the sale or lease of a residence, Realtors shall not volunteer information 
regarding the racial, religious or ethnic composition of any neighborhood nor shall they 
engage in any activity which may result in panic selling, however, Realtors may provide 
demographic information.  (Adopted 1/94, Amended 1/06). 
 
Standard of Practice 10-2 
 
When not involved in the sale or lease of a residence, Realtors may provide demographic 
information related to a property, transaction or professional assignment to a party if such 
demographic information is (a) deemed by the Realtor to be needed to assist with or 
complete, in a manner consistent with Article 10, real estate transaction of professional 
assignment and (b) is obtained or derived from a recognized, reliable, independent and 
impartial source.  The source of such information and any additions, deletions, 
modifications, interpretations, or other changes \shall be disclosed in reasonable detail.  
(Adopted 1/05, Renumbered 1/06). 
 
Standard of Practice 10-3 
 
Realtors shall not print, display or circulate any statement or advertisement with respect 
to selling or renting of a property that indicates any preference, limitations or 
discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, national 
origin, sexual orientation, or gender identity.  (Adopted 1/94, Renumbered 1/05 and 1/06, 
Amended 1/14). 
 
Standard of Practice 10-4 
 
As used in Article 10 “real estate employment practices” relates to employees and 
independent contractors providing real estate-related services and the administrative and 
clerical staff directly supporting those individuals.  (Adopted 1/00, Renumbered 1/05 and 
1/06). 
 

Diversity Certification 
 
The NAR has created a diversity certification, “At Home with Diversity:  One America” to be 
granted to licensed real estate professionals who meet eligibility requirements and complete the 
NAR “At Home with Diversity” course.  The certification will signal to customers that the real 
estate professional has been trained on working with diversity in today’s real estate markets.  The 
coursework provides valuable business planning tools to assist real estate professionals in reaching 
out and marketing to a diverse housing market.  The NAR course focuses on diversity awareness, 
building cross-cultural skills, and developing a business diversity plan.  In July 1999, the NAR 
Diversity Program received the HUD “Best Practices” award. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 56 

California Association of Realtors 
 
The California Association of Realtors (CAR) includes more than 110 local member Associations 
and more than 155,000 REALTORS®, REALTORS®-Associates, and affiliate members.  As 
members of organized real estate realtor subscribe to a strict code of ethics and have access to 
numerous services and programs to enhance their professionalism.  Preventative legal programs 
provide members with the latest in legal information to give them the competitive edge.  CAR’s 
extensive legislative advocacy program means members are well-represented on local, State, and 
federal issues.  Educational programs and year-round seminars help members gain new skills and 
professional designations like the prestigious Graduate Realtor Institute. 
 
The CAR created the Equal Opportunity/Cultural Diversity Coordinator position.  In addition, the 
CAR conducted a survey of realtors regarding cultural diversity issues and concerns.  CAR has 
three meeting per year, which include sessions on fair housing issues.  CAR directs outreach efforts 
in Southern California areas to underserved communities, State licensed brokers, and sales persons 
who are not CAR members. 
 
Pacific West Association of Realtors 
 
The Pacific West Association of Realtors serves realtors in Lakewood and surrounding 
communities, including Long Beach, La Mirada, and several communities in Northern Orange 
County.  The Pacific West Association of Realtors provides many continuing education 
opportunities to members, including courses on the topics of ethics and professional conduct, trust 
funds, fair housing, and real estate agency.  The Association also has trained mediators on staff 
that provide extensive mediation services for unresolved issues relating to financial disputes and 
fair housing issues.  Realtors with fair housing questions, or who are in need of additional 
information, are usually referred to California Association of Realtors.  The Pacific West 
Association of Realtors also provides resource information on ethics and standards of practice. 
 
California Department of Real Estate 
 
The California Department of Real Estate (DRE) is the licensing authority of real estate brokers 
and salespersons.  As noted earlier, not all licensed brokers and salespersons are members of the 
National or California Association of Realtors. 
 
The DRE has adopted education requirements that include courses in ethics and in fair housing.  
In order to renew a real estate license, each licensee is required to complete 45 hours of continuing 
education courses, including three hours in each of the four mandated areas:  Agency, Ethics, Trust 
Fund, and Fair Housing. The fair housing course contains information that will enable an agent to 
identify and avoid any discriminatory practices when providing real estate services to clients. 
 
California Department of Consumer Affairs 
 
The Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA) exists to promote and protect the interests of 
California consumers.  The DCA helps consumers learn how to protect themselves from 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 57 

unscrupulous and unqualified individuals.  The DCA also protects professional from unfair 
competition by unlicensed practitioners. 
 
The DCA is dedicated to enhancing individual consumer access to services and resources. To help 
fulfill its mission of promoting and protecting the interests of consumers, DCA will continue to 
build and maintain effective relationships with: 
 

• consumer and public interest groups 
• the business and professional community 
• law enforcement agencies 
• other government agencies 

 
The DCA assists renters by publishing A Guide to Residential Tenants’ and Landlords’ Rights and 
Responsibilities.  The booklet focuses on California laws that govern the landlord-tenant 
relationship and suggests things that both the landlord and tenant can do to make the relationship 
a good one.  Although the booklet is written from the tenant’s point of view, landlords can also 
benefit from its information. 
 
Apartment Associations 
 
The California Apartment Association (CAA) is the country’s largest statewide trade association 
for rental property owners and managers.  The CAA incorporated in 1941 to serve rental property 
owners and managers throughout California.  CAA represents rental housing owners and 
professionals who manage more than 800,000 rental units.  Under the CAA umbrella, numerous 
other apartment associations cover specific geographic areas throughout the State, including 
Lakewood. 
 
The CAA supports the spirit and intent of all local, State, and federal fair housing laws for all 
residents without regard to color, race, religion, sex, marital status, mental or physical disability, 
age, familial status, sexual orientation, or national origin.  Members of the CAA agree to abide by 
the following provisions of their Code for Equal Housing Opportunity: 
 

• We agree that in the rental, lease, sale, purchase, or exchange of real property, owners 
and their employees have the responsibility to offer housing accommodations to all persons 
on an equal basis: 

 
• We agree to set and implement fair and reasonable rental housing rules and guidelines 

and will provide equal and consistent services throughout our resident’s tenancy; 
 

• We agree that we have no right or responsibility to volunteer information regarding the 
racial, creed, or ethnic composition of any neighborhood, and we do not engage in aby 
behavior or action that would result in steering; and 

 
• We agree not to print, display, or circulate any statement or advertisement that indicates 

any preference, limitations, or discrimination in the rental or sale of housing. 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 58 

The Apartment Association of Greater Los Angeles (AAGLA) serves all of Southern California 
and had approximately 14,000 members.  The AAGLA publishes a monthly magazine, Apartment 
Age, and provides information packets to owners and managers interested in joining the 
organization.  The magazine periodically features articles that aim at educating its members 
regarding fair housing laws.  Through a variety of seminars, workshops, and educational courses, 
AAGLA provides members with information and training on such topics as ethics, credit checks, 
addressing code enforcement violations, property management and pre-inspection training, etc.  
AAGLA has a fair housing representative who conducts a fair housing workshop and provides 
information on fair housing.  In addition to workshops and seminars, AAGLA offers its Registered 
Residential Manager Course.  The course is a California Apartment Association- approved 
program that offers a series of classes on landlord/tenant issues, ethics, marketing, property 
management, fair housing, and other issues. 
 
Apartment Association – California Southern Cities 
 
The Apartment Association – California Southern Cities serves the City of Long Beach and the 
surrounding communities, including Lakewood.  Similar to the other apartment associations 
throughout the region, the Apartment Association – California Southern Cities provides seminars, 
workshops, information, and training to members on a variety of topics, including fair housing. 
 

5.2 Fair Housing Services 
 
This section provides an overview of the fair housing services available to Lakewood residents, as 
well as an analysis of recent fair housing complaints, violations, and suits to determine trends or 
patterns in the City.  Typically, fair housing services include the investigation and resolution of 
housing discrimination complaints, discrimination auditing/testing, and education and outreach, 
including the dissemination of fair housing information such as written material, workshops, and 
seminars.  Landlord/tenant counseling services involves informing landlords and tenants of their 
rights and responsibilities under the California Civil Code and mediating conflicts between tenants 
and landlords. 
 
Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. 
 
The City contracts with Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. to provide fair housing services to residents.  
Fair Housing Consultants Inc. is highly dedicated to promoting equal housing opportunity, has 
provided fair housing services to the City since 1999.  Services include education and outreach 
materials, fair housing training, complaint services, complaint processing, tenant/landlord 
mediation, and case referral.  This section includes a detailed description of the services provided 
by Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. 
 
Training, Education and Outreach 
 
During FY 2018-2019, Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. conducted several trainings, outreach, and 
education activities throughout the City, including speaking engagements, training sessions, and 
distribution of fair housing materials.  Speaking engagements included the Apartment Association 
meetings and seminars, bi-weekly Southwest Board of Realtors meetings, a fair housing summit, 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 59 

NAHRO Fair Housing trainings, and SPA 7 Monthly meetings.  Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. 
also conducted a training session for realtors at the annual Laws and Litigation Conference. 
 
Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. distributed the following informational materials during FY 2018-
2019: 
 

• 1,520 fair housing flyers.  The flyers were mailed to consumer groups, realtors, banks, 
placed in the City libraries and at City Hall.  Tenants requesting fair housing 
information and tenants who filed complaints also received the flyer. 

• 93 California tenants’ rights booklets 
• 183 fair housing brochures 
• 37 predatory lending brochures 
• 5 Homebuyer brochures 

 
Fair Housing Complaints, Violations, and Suits 
 
Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. received three housing discrimination complaints during FY 2018-
2019, with four pertaining to racial discrimination and one based on familial status.  Fair Housing 
Consultants referred all four cases to Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) for 
further investigation after consulting with the clients. 
 
Landlord/Tenant Services 
 
In addition to fair housing complaints, Lakewood residents sought assistance from Fair Housing 
Consultants, Inc., for landlord/tenant resolution services.  During FY 2018-2019, Fair Housing 
Consultants, Inc. responded to 389 complaints from 242 households regarding various 
tenant/landlord disputes.  The most common complaint dealt with was rent increases, accounting 
for 14.3 percent of all complaints.  Complaints regarding repairs were also common, representing 
12.8 percent of all complaints.  Among the complainants, 83 were White, 67 were African 
American, and five were Asian.  There were 86 persons of Hispanic origin that were complainants.  
Table 5-1 categorizes all of the landlord/tenant complaints received during FY 2018-2019. 
 
Table 5-1:  Landlord/Tenant Services FY 18-19 

Type of Complaint Number 
Eviction 46 
Security Deposit 40 
Rent Increase 56 
Repairs 50 
Harassment 7 
Rental Terms 5 
Mail Landlord/Tenant Handbook 75 
Referral to Section 8 110 
Code Enforcement 17 
Total 389 

Source:  Fair Housing Consultants, Inc. October 2019 
 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 60 

5.3 Hate Crimes 
 
Hate crimes are crimes that are committed because of bias against race, religion, sexual orientation, 
ethnicity, disability, gender, or gender identity.  In an attempt to determine the scope and nature of 
hate crimes, the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s (FBI) Uniform Crime Reporting Program 
collects statistics on these incidents.  According to the FBI there were 71 reported hate crimes in 
Lakewood from 2001 to 2017, with an average of five hate crimes per year during that 17 year 
period. 
 
Table 5-2:  Hate Crimes in Lakewood 2001-2017 

Year Race Religion 
Sexual 

Orientation 
Ethnicity Disability Gender 

Gender 
Identity 

Total 

2001 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 6 
2002 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 
2003 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 
2004 6 0 1 1 0 0 0 8 
2005 6 1 1 0 0 0 0 8 
2006 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 
2007 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 
2008 2 0 0 3 0 0 0 5 
2009 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 
2010 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 4 
2011 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 
2012 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 
2013 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 
2014 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2015 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 
2016 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 
2017 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 
Total 58 4 5 4 0 0 0 71 

Source: Federal Bureau of Investigation website (http://www.fbi.gov/stats-services/crimestats) 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 61 

Chapter 6 
 Identification of Impediments and Actions 

 
The City of Lakewood is committed to ensuring equal access to housing for all residents.  Based 
on the analysis described in this report, the City has made several finding regarding issues that 
influence equal access to housing.  This section presents the findings, and contains 
recommendations and actions designed to address the findings. 
 

6.1 Findings 
 
Demographic Characteristics 
 
Changes in the demographics of a community can influence equal access to housing.  The City has 
become more racially and ethnically diverse since 1990, with the proportion of Asian, African 
American, and Hispanic residents increasing, while the proportion of White residents has 
decreased.  Changing racial and ethnic characteristics may influence fair housing issues to the 
extent that certain racial and ethnic groups may experience discrimination in the housing market 
due to factors such as color, language spoken, or other cultural factors. 
 
Household Characteristics 
 
Household type and size, income level, the presence of persons with special needs, housing price, 
and household characteristics may affect a household’s access to housing.  The following 
household and housing characteristics are prominent in the City. 
 

• Household size increased from 2.81 persons per household to 2.95 persons per household 
during the 1990s.  In 2012 the estimated household size had increased to 3.06.  Since then, 
the average household size has increased to 3.10 persons.  This indicates an increase in 
families with children in the community.  An increase in household size can contribute to 
fair housing issues in the sense that large households and the presence of children may 
make landlords wary of renting to certain households. 

 
• As shown in Table 2-6, African American and American Indian or Alaskan Native 

households have a large proportion of lower income households than White or Asian 
households; therefore, housing affordability issues disproportionately affect these groups. 

 
• The number of housing units in the City has remained relatively stable, increasing by less 

than 3% since 1990.  The limited increase in housing units coupled with the population 
increase led to a tight housing market, which may result in increased fair housing issues as 
some landlords could potentially afford to be discriminatory in selecting tenants. 

 
• Overcrowding is relatively low in the City but is prominent among large households (five 

or more members).  Not only does overcrowding create problems for those families living 
in inadequately sized units, overcrowding also results in greater and more rapid 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 62 

deterioration of homes than would otherwise occur.  As a result, some landlords or 
apartment managers may be more hesitant about renting to larger families, thus making 
access to adequate housing even more difficult. 

 
• As of December 2018, the median price for homes in the City was approximately $575,000 

which is affordable only to above-moderate income households.  Lower and moderate 
income households are essentially priced out of the homeownership market.  A majority of 
rental units are affordable to low and moderate income households.   

 
• A majority of housing units in the City are more than 50 years of age.  Most residential 

structures over 30 years of age typically require minor repairs and modernization 
improvements.  Though the housing stock is generally in good condition, an increase in the 
number of units requiring rehabilitation is likely given the age of the structures. 

 
• Housing cost burden is prevalent among extremely low and very low income households.  

More often than not, housing cost is disproportionately burdening the most vulnerable 
members of the community.  Therefore, maintaining a reasonable level of housing cost 
burden is an important goal of Lakewood. 

 
• A majority of community facilities and employment centers in the City are easily accessible 

using public transportation.  MTA, Long Beach Transit, COW, and OCTA all provide bus 
service in the City.  The City’s DASH system and Long Beach Transit’s Dial-A-Ride 
provide transportation options to disabled and elderly persons.  The relationship between 
public transit, job centers, and affordable housing does not impede Fair Housing Choice in 
Lakewood because persons who depend on public transit are not limited as to where they 
can live due to the access provided in the City. 

 
Access to Home Purchase and Home Improvement Financing 
 
An essential aspect of fair housing choice is equal access to credit for the purchase or improvement 
of a home.  The analysis of lending patterns in the City reveals the following issues: 
 

• The number of conventional home purchase loan applications varied by race.  A review of 
the data found that White applicants were the largest group to apply (326 or 48.7%), the 
largest group to be approved (55.7%), but also the largest group to be denied (43.8%).  
Asians were the next largest group to apply with 149 applications.  They were also the 
second largest group to be approved (23.2%) and also denied (22.9%).  American Indians 
or Alaskan Natives were the smallest group to submit applications (2).  American Indians 
or Alaskan Natives were the smallest group to be approved (0.5%) and 0% denied.  A total 
of 29 (4.3%) applications were submitted by African Americans.  The approval rate for 
African Americans was 4.5% while the denial rate was 8.3%.  This reveals that not only is 
there a larger population Whites but also that White applicants had more equity, income, 
or other assets to obtain a conventional loan than other races. 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 63 

• Approval rates for Hispanic or Latino loan applicants were 19.9% and for Non-Hispanic 
or Latino applicants the rate was 67.9%.  The difference is nearly 50%, which is a 
significant difference between these two ethnic groups. 

 
• Relative to conventional loans, government-assisted loans had a 100% approval rate. 

Overall, government-assisted applications account for 78.2% of all home purchase 
applications in Lakewood. 

 
Public Policies and Programs 
 
Public policies and programs can affect the availability of housing choice.  To ensure that City 
policies and programs promote equal housing opportunities, the City has reviewed all housing 
policies and programs and has identified the following potential fair housing issues: 
 

• Definition of a family - The Zoning Code contains a definition of a family.  While the 
definition does not appear to be restrictive, the City may consider removing this definition 
to avoid the impression of restrictiveness. 

 
• Density Bonus – The City currently allows density bonuses when requested by developers.  

The City continues to promote density bonus provisions for residential development 
projects.  In conjunction with implementation of the Housing Element, the City has 
amended the Municipal Code to conform to State law allowing density bonuses for 
residential development projects. 

 

6.2 Actions to Further Fair Housing Choice in Lakewood 
 
The preceding sections of the AI have reviewed background information, analyzed lending data, 
assessed the fair housing services, and provided findings of potential impediments in the City.  The 
paragraphs below set forth the City’s actions to further access to fair housing for all Lakewood 
residents. 
 
Expanding Affordable Housing Opportunities 
 
Housing affordability alone is not a fair housing issue.  Fair housing concerns arise only when 
affordability interacts with any issues covered under Fair Housing Law.  Furthermore, Hispanic 
and African American households are disproportionately impacted by lower and moderate 
incomes, and therefore have fewer housing options than other racial/ethnic groups.  The following 
actions will assist the City in expanding affordable housing opportunities for City residents. 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 64 

1. Homeownership Assistance 
 

Action 1.1: The City will continue to provide and expand home ownership opportunities 
for low and moderate income households.  Specifically, the City will explore 
the use of different funding programs to assist households with income between 
80 and 100 percent of County MFI.  This group has the most difficulty in 
obtaining conventional home purchase financing.  The City is currently seeking 
an affordable housing developer for four sites (nine lots) to develop with 
affordable housing for either for sale or for rent or a combination of the two.  
The City will continue to refer interested residents to California Housing 
Finance Agency (CalHFA). 

 
 

Time Frame: Ongoing 
 

2. Rehabilitation Assistance 
 
Action 2.1: The City will continue to provide and expand assistance for low income 

households in meeting the housing rehabilitation needs.  Specifically, the City 
will explore the use of different funding programs to assist households with 
income between 80 and 100 percent of County MFI.  This group has the most 
difficulty in obtaining conventional home improvement financing.  
Rehabilitation assistance is also accomplished using the City’s Home 
Improvement Loan and Fix-Up, Paint-Up Grant programs. 

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
3. Section 8 Rental Assistance 

 
Action 3.1: The City will continue to provide information and refer the elderly, large 

families, and lower-income families to Housing Authority of Los Angeles 
County (HACoLA) for assistance with the Section 8 program.  

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
4. Affordable Housing Resources 

 
Action 4.1: The City will identify and pursue other funding sources for the development of 

affordable housing.   
 

Time Frame: At least once a year, assess the feasibility of applying to different 
funding programs. 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 65 

Public Policies and Programs Affecting Housing Development 
 
The City has identified several public policies and programs that have the potential to restrict equal 
access to housing.  However, many City programs, including programs contained in the General 
Plan Housing Element, contain actions that actively promote equal access to housing.  As a City 
committed to ensuring Fair Housing Choice for all residents, the City has identified the following 
actions: 
 

5. Incentives for Affordable Housing Development 
 

Action 5.1: The City will continue to provide financial and development incentives to 
owners or developers of multi-family housing to set aside units that are 
affordable to low and moderate income residents. 

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
Action 5.2: The City has adopted an Accessory Dwelling Unit Ordinance complying with 

California State Law to allow the construction and occupancy of up to two 
additional units intended for affordable housing on residentially zoned 
properties. 

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
6. Housing Element Update 

 
Action 6.1: The City will continue to implement the policies and program identified in the 

certified Housing Element.   
 

Time Frame: Ongoing through 2021 
 
Access to Financing 
 
The analysis of lending data revealed that significant differences exist in the approval rates of loans 
by the race of the applicant.  The City will take the following actions to improve access to financing 
for residents.  
 

7. Outreach to Lenders 
 

Action 7.1: The City will contact local lenders with homebuyer assistance programs to 
explore ways to expand participation by potential homebuyers.  

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 66 

Action 7.2: The City will work with local lenders and government institutions, such as 
Fannie Mae, to provide information about government-backed financing for 
low and moderate income residents.  The City will encourage local lenders to 
provide information in both English and Spanish. 

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 

8.   Education and Resources 
 
Action 8.1: The City will encourage workshops to be held in Lakewood by local lending 

institutions and Fair Housing Consultants regarding the home loan process and 
the resources available to low and moderate income homebuyers.  The City will 
encourage local lenders and Fair Housing Consultants to hold workshops in 
both English and Spanish. 

 
Time Frame: Conduct a homebuyer workshop at least once a year. 

 
Action 8.2: The City will provide brochures or information on homeownership, rental 

assistance, and rehabilitation assistance programs in English and Spanish. 
 

Time Frame: Ongoing 
 

9. Unfair Lending Practices 
 
Action 9.1: The City will work with Fair Housing Consultants to monitor complaints 

regarding unfair lending, and assess lending patterns using the Home Mortgage 
Disclosure Act Data (HMDA) and other data sources. 

 
Time Frame: Monitor HMDA and other data at least once a year to identify 
potential issues with unfair lending practices. 

 
Action 9.2: The City and Fair Housing Consultants will participate with HUD and other 

efforts in investigating predatory lending in the home purchase, home 
improvement, and mortgage refinancing markets. 

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
Action 9.3: Periodically, the City will use Lakewood Living, the City newsletter, or other 

media to alert residents of predatory lending practices, or other unfair lending 
practices that surface in the City. 

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 67 

Public Outreach 
 

10. Fair Housing Services 
 

Action 10.1: The City will continue to distribute information regarding the services provided 
by Fair Housing Consultants.  The City will provide a description of the services 
on the City website. 

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
Action 10.2: Fair Housing Consultants will continue conducting fair housing workshops for 

residents, real estate professionals, apartment owners, and property managers.  
Specific efforts should be made to expand community participation and 
increase a greater awareness among property owners and managers. 

 
Time Frame: Ongoing 

 
Action 10.3: Fair Housing Consultants will continue to work with the local boards of realtors 

to distribute fair housing information to member agencies in Lakewood. 
 
 Time Frame: Ongoing 
  



 

City of Lakewood 
Analysis of Impediments  

Page 68 

Chapter 7 
 Signature Page 

 
 
I,                 , hereby certify that this Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice for the City 
of Lakewood represents the City’s conclusions about impediments to fair housing choice, as well 
as actions necessary to address any identified impediments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  April 28, 2020  
               , Mayor  Date 
City of Lakewood 

































































































































 







 








































































	28 April 2020 CC Agenda
	ADJ-1, PEC Appeal
	RI-1, Minutes
	RI-2, Personnel Transactions
	RI-3, Register of Demands
	RI-4, Monthly Investments
	1.1, 5-year Consolidated Plan
	1.2, Coronavirus Aid, CDBG-V
	2.1, Commissions
	3.1, Organizational Appointments
	3.2, Quarterly Budget Report of Major Funds
	3.3, Quarterly Schedule of Investments



